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Preface

A significant number of state and local governments maintain their accounting records 
and prepare their annual financial statements using an alternative accounting and financial 
reporting framework other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAP). Most of these governments have elected or are required to use 
a special purpose framework, such as the cash or regulatory basis of accounting.

In contrast to the amount of guidance available for preparing governmental financial state-
ments in accordance with GAAP, there is little direct authoritative guidance for prepar-
ing special purpose financial statements of state and local governments, with the possible 
exception of guidance from regulatory agencies with respect to defining their unique reg-
ulatory financial reporting requirements and certain international guidance from the In-
ternational Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB). The Auditing Standards 
Board of the AICPA recognizes certain bodies, including the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB), the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), the Federal 
Accounting Standards Advisory Board, and the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), as the designated accounting standard setters for establishing GAAP. However, 
with the exception of the IPSASB’s standard, Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of 
Accounting, these designated accounting standard setters have not established accounting 
and financial reporting standards for special purpose financial statements.

With the relative complexity of the state and local government financial reporting model, 
questions are often faced by financial statement preparers and auditors regarding the ap-
plicability of GASB accounting principles and financial reporting requirements to spe-
cial purpose financial statements. Also, there are differing professional opinions about 
the proper application of certain GAAP requirements to special purpose financial state-
ments, such as the manner of financial statement presentation and the extent of appro-
priate disclosures. 

This practice aid is intended to provide accounting and auditing professionals with guide-
lines and best practices to promote consistency and for resolving the difficult questions 
of special purpose framework application, specifically for the financial statements of state 
and local governments. Although this practice aid is the best source for such guidance, it 
is nonauthoritative and should not be used as a substitute for the preparer’s professional 
judgment. This publication is not intended for use by governments that are required by 
law, regulation, contract, or policy to prepare financial statements in accordance with 
GAAP. This practice aid is an other auditing publication, as defined in AU-C section 200, 
Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance 
With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (AICPA, Professional Standards). Other au-
diting publications are defined as publications, other than interpretive publications, that 
may be used to assist the auditor in the conduct of an engagement in accordance with 
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professional standards. Although other auditing publications have no authoritative status, 
they may help the auditor understand and apply applicable professional standards. Prac-
titioners should use professional judgment and assess the relevance and appropriateness 
of guidance in other auditing publications to the circumstances of the engagement when 
applying such guidance. The term should is used in this practice aid in the context of rec-
ommended best practice and is not intended to necessarily indicate a requirement. When 
guidance is derived from an audit standard, then “should” would be a presumptively man-
datory requirement.

Although this practice aid is focused primarily on providing accounting and financial 
reporting guidance for the preparation of financial statements for state and local gov-
ernments, in accordance with a special purpose framework, it also contains guidance for 
auditor reporting on such financial statements. This practice aid does not provide any 
other guidance with respect to procedures for auditing, reviewing, or compiling special 
purpose financial statements. Practitioners engaged to audit such special purpose financial 
statements should refer to Statements on Auditing Standards, including AU-C section 
800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With 
Special Purpose Frameworks (AICPA, Professional Standards), and chapter 16, “Financial 
Statements Prepared in Accordance With a Special-Purpose Framework,” of the AICPA 
Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments. Practitioners engaged to review 
or perform a compilation engagement for such financial statements should refer to State-
ments on Standards for Accounting and Review Services.

This practice aid was originally published in 2003 and was titled, Applying OCBOA in 
State and Local Governmental Financial Statements. In 2012, this practice aid was updated 
to reflect the clarified auditing standards and was enhanced to include additional practice 
points and guidance. This edition, retitled to Applying Special Purpose Frameworks in State 
and Local Governmental Financial Statements, uses the 2012 edition as its basis. However, 
it has been enhanced for developments since the 2012 edition and includes the following:

	 Clarified and additional guidance and practice points related to the treatment of 
defined benefit pension plan and OPEB benefit costs

	 Additional practice points on accounting and reporting issues related to the timing 
or payroll payments and the impact of the use of special purpose frameworks on 
single audit low risk auditee status

	 Refinements to illustrative auditor reports and an added illustrative auditor report 
dealing with financial statements presented using both GAAP and special purpose 
frameworks

This publication presents the views of the author and others who helped in its develop-
ment. The publication has not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted upon by 
any technical committee of the AICPA.
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Chapter 1

Background and Overview

Introduction

In measuring the complete financial health of a state or local governmental entity in the 
United States, there is no replacement for accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAP) as established by GASB. However, for a variety of rea-
sons, a significant number of state and local governments maintain their internal account-
ing records and prepare their annual financial statements using an alternative financial 
reporting framework other than GAAP. Most of these governments have elected or may 
be required to use a financial reporting framework, such as a cash basis or regulatory basis 
framework, as an alternative to applying GAAP. 

Of the approximately 90,000 units of state and local government in the United States (ac-
cording to the 2010 United States Census of Governments), the large majority represent 
small governments. In fact, a 2008 GASB research report, State and Local Government Use 
of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for General Purpose External Financial Report-
ing, estimates that the largest one-third of these governments account for 98 percent of 
all state and local government revenue in the United States. For a variety of reasons, as 
discussed later in this chapter, many of the other smaller units of government that report 
the remaining 2 percent of all state and local government revenue, use special purpose 
frameworks in the preparation of their internal and external financial statements.

Despite the use of special purpose frameworks by a significant number of government en-
tities, little authoritative guidance and reference materials are available for preparing and 
reporting on special purpose financial statements, particularly in a state and local govern-
ment environment.

Because the use of special purpose financial statements is prevalent in smaller state and 
local governments, the AICPA developed this practice aid to close the gap between the 
use of special purpose frameworks and the unavailability of reference materials and guid-
ance and to provide some consistency over the preparation of special purpose financial 
statements for state and local governments. This publication begins with a general discus-
sion of special purpose frameworks, and the remainder of the practice aid addresses the 
specific application of special purpose frameworks most commonly used by state and local 
governments.
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Overview of Special Purpose Frameworks

All financial statements are prepared in accordance with a financial reporting framework. 
A financial reporting framework is defined as a set of criteria used to determine measure-
ment, recognition, presentation, and disclosure of all material items appearing in the fi-
nancial statements; for example, U.S. GAAP, International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board, or a special pur-
pose framework.

Financial reporting frameworks determine both the form and content of financial state-
ments and are generally classified in professional standards as either general purpose frame-
works or special purpose frameworks.

Simply stated, financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP and IFRSs are 
considered financial statements prepared in accordance with a general purpose framework 
and are referred to as general purpose financial statements. Financial statements prepared 
in accordance with a special purpose framework are referred to as special purpose financial 
statements.

For purposes of this practice aid, reference to OCBOA frameworks is limited to the cash 
basis (including modifications) and regulatory basis of accounting.

Paragraph .07 of AU-C section 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial State-
ments Prepared in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks, identifies special purpose 
framework as a financial reporting framework other than GAAP that an entity uses for the 
following bases of accounting:

a.	 Cash basis. Used to record cash receipts and disbursements and modifications of 
the cash basis having substantial support (for example, recording depreciation on 
fixed assets).

b.	 Tax basis. Used to file a tax return for the period covered by the financial  
statements.

c.	 Regulatory basis. Used to comply with the requirements or financial reporting 
provisions of a regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject (for 
example, a basis of accounting that insurance companies use pursuant to the ac-
counting practices prescribed or permitted by a state insurance commission).

d.	 Contractual basis. Used to comply with an agreement between the entity and one 
or more third parties other than the auditor.
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e.	 Other basis. Uses a definite set of logical, reasonable criteria that is applies to all 
material items appearing in financial statements.

For purposes of this practice aid, discussion of special purpose frameworks is limited to the 
cash (including modifications of the cash basis) and regulatory bases of accounting.

Practice Pointer: Defining Financial Statements and Applicable Finan-
cial Reporting Frameworks. For the purposes of this practice aid, the term 
financial statements means a complete set of financial statements, including 
the related notes. A complete set of financial statements is intended to present 
both financial position and changes in financial position and should be distin-
guished from a presentation of a single financial statement or financial state-
ment element. The form and content of special purpose financial statements 
and what constitutes a complete set of financial statements is determined by 
the applicable financial reporting framework. For special purpose financial 
statements of state or local governments, the most commonly used financial 
reporting framework is either the cash basis (including modifications as cho-
sen and applied by management or those charged with governance that are 
acceptable in view of the nature of the entity and the objective of the financial 
statements) or a regulatory basis financial reporting framework an entity is 
required or permitted to use to comply with the requirements or financial 
reporting provisions of a regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is 
subject.

Practice Pointer: General Use of Special Purpose Financial Statements. 
Financial statements prepared in accordance with a special purpose frame-
work, such as the cash basis or regulatory basis of accounting, may be the only 
financial statements the entity prepares and may be available for general use 
by users other than those for whom the special purpose framework is primar-
ily intended. Despite this broad or general distribution and use, in an effort 
to ensure that users fully understand that the financial statements are not 
prepared in accordance with GAAP, these financial statements are still con-
sidered special purpose financial statements for purposes of applying generally 
accepted auditing standards.

Chapter 2, “Recognition and Measurement Issues in Special Purpose Financial Statements 
of State and Local Governments” and chapter 3, “Presentation and Disclosure Issues in 
Special Purpose Financial Statements of State and Local Governments,” of this practice 
aid provide guidance for determining the accounting and financial reporting requirements 
of special purpose frameworks with respect to the following:
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	 Basis of recognition and measurement. Criteria for what information should be re-
ported in financial statements, when transactions or events are recognized, and 
how transactions or events are recorded and at what amounts.

	 Basis of presentation and disclosure. Criteria for the form and content of the financial 
statements or, in other words, which financial statements should be presented and 
what the financial statements should include and disclose.

Comparing Special Purpose Frameworks and GAAP

Special purpose frameworks are alternative financial reporting frameworks other than 
GAAP. Although there are obvious differences between special purpose frameworks and 
GAAP, there are also similarities between them. The discussion of these differences and 
similarities gives rise to disagreements of professional opinion about the proper applica-
tion of special purpose frameworks. The recognized accounting standard setters (that is, 
GASB, FASB, the FASAB, and the IASB) establish GAAP and do not establish special 
purpose frameworks. However, certain aspects of GAAP may be applicable to special pur-
pose financial statements. As a result, interpreting the general authoritative guidance avail-
able requires the application of a good deal of professional judgment.

Practice Pointer: Disclosures in Special Purpose Financial Statements. 
Although special purpose financial statements may provide a less complex 
and more understandable alternative to GAAP financial statements for certain 
financial statement users, it is important for preparers to be knowledgeable of 
GAAP disclosure requirements. When special purpose financial statements 
contain items that are the same as, or similar to, those in financial statements 
prepared in accordance with GAAP, the special purpose financial statements 
should include informative disclosures similar to those required by GAAP. 
For example, in any state and local government special purpose framework 
presentation that includes cash, the financial reporting and disclosure require-
ments of GAAP applicable to cash, such as those contained in section C20, 
Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions, of the GASB Codification of Gov-
ernmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, are appropriate for 
consideration. In addition, certain GAAP standards, such as GASB Statement 
No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures, are essentially disclosure-only type stan-
dards and could have applicability to special purpose financial statements. 
The special purpose financial statements may also require additional disclo-
sures, beyond those required by the framework, related to matters that are not 
specifically identified on the face of the financial statements or disclosures for 
the financial statements to achieve fair presentation.
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Chapters 2 and 3 of this practice aid provide a more in-depth discussion of the applica-
tion of certain GAAP requirements to special purpose framework financial presentations, 
including similarities and differences between the different frameworks.

Reasons for Application of Special Purpose Frameworks 
in the Financial Statements of State and Local 
Governments

Why is the use of special purpose frameworks so prevalent in small state and local gov-
ernmental entities? Special purpose framework accounting and financial statement al-
ternatives, if properly applied, may offer some benefits to certain government financial 
statement preparers and users, including the following:

	 Special purpose framework accounting records may be easier to understand and 
maintain. In many small governments, the accounting and finance personnel re-
sponsible for maintaining the accounting records lack the necessary skills, knowl-
edge, and experience to maintain the records on a GAAP basis. Cash basis or 
regulatory basis accounting records may be easier for them to understand and 
maintain.

	 Special purpose financial statements may be easier to prepare. As with the mainte-
nance of accounting records, special purpose financial statements are often easier to 
prepare than GAAP basis financial statements. The relatively complex reconcilia-
tion in state and local government GAAP-basis statements between the govern-
ment-wide and fund financial statements may not apply as frequently to special 
purpose financial statements.

	 Special purpose framework accounting and financial reporting may be less costly 
than GAAP. Most small governments have significant limitations on resources and 
experience dramatic competition for the allocation of such resources. Therefore, 
resources allocated to accounting, financial reporting, and auditing may not be suf-
ficient to maintain GAAP basis accounting records and to prepare and audit GAAP 
basis financial statements.

	 Special purpose financial statements may be more understandable and usable by 
some government officials. Many governments prepare their annual budgets using 
special purpose frameworks (such as a cash basis modified to report outstanding 
encumbrances). As a result, for these governments, the internal accounting records 
and interim reports focus more on the basis of accounting used for budgetary ac-
counting, reporting, and monitoring than on measuring the complete economic 
financial condition and results of operations. In addition, most elected officials and 
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government managers and administrators might not be sufficiently trained to un-
derstand and effectively use GAAP basis financial statements.

	 Regulatory basis financial statements may better meet the specific needs of certain 
regulatory or oversight agencies. In meeting their oversight responsibilities or pro-
viding guidance for complying with various state laws or regulations, governmental 
agencies often establish specific regulatory requirements for measuring, recogniz-
ing, and reporting financial transactions. The use of a regulatory basis of account-
ing often assists the regulatory agencies in monitoring financial activity and legal 
compliance of the entities subject to their jurisdiction.

Limitations of Special Purpose Financial Statements

Although the use of a special purpose framework may be an acceptable financial reporting 
framework in specific circumstances, may meet the needs of intended financial statement 
users, and may offer some benefits to certain governmental entities compared with the use 
of GAAP, special purpose framework accounting and financial reporting also has its limi-
tations, including the following:

	 Special purpose financial statements are not intended to be a comprehensive mea-
sure of the government’s complete economic financial condition and changes 
therein. Cash basis and regulatory basis financial statements report only certain fi-
nancial statement elements that are applicable to the special purpose framework 
applied. As a result, they are limited to only reporting revenues and expenditures or 
expenses and related assets and liabilities when the transactions meet the timing 
requirements or limitations of that framework. Consequently, special purpose fi-
nancial statements are not intended to be a comprehensive measure of a govern-
ment’s complete economic condition and changes therein.

	 Special purpose financial statements may not meet the needs of all potential users. 
Because special purpose financial statements do not report all assets, deferred out-
flows, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, inflows (such as revenues), and out-
flows (such as expenditures or expenses) of the government, certain potential 
financial statement users, such as investors, creditors, and credit rating agencies, 
may not readily receive the information they need to evaluate the creditworthiness 
of the government (that is, the ability of the government to pay short-term and 
long-term obligations as they become due). As the government competes with 
other governments that provide complete GAAP-basis financial information, the 
availability of only special purpose financial statements could affect the govern-
ment’s ability to borrow or could have a negative impact on debt ratings or interest 
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rates on debt if lenders and rating agencies are unable to obtain their needed infor-
mation through other means.

	 Special purpose financial statements can make financial decision-making problem-
atic. Government officials could inadvertently rely on financial information pre-
pared in accordance with a special purpose framework to make certain management 
or policy decisions that would be better made with GAAP financial information. 
Decision makers who rely on information prepared in accordance with a special 
purpose framework could make inappropriate funding or financing decisions be-
cause this information does not always include timely financial information on the 
complete economic financial condition, including certain long-term obligations of 
the government and complete results of operations. For example, consider decision 
makers making a decision on the adequacy of service charge rates without determi-
nation of the full costs of service in accordance with GAAP or not knowing the 
sufficiency of resources set aside to finance accrued compensated absences because 
they are unaware of the actual amount of those liabilities.

	 Special purpose framework financial condition and results can be more easily ma-
nipulated. Because the cash basis of accounting recognizes financial activity only 
when that activity results from cash receipt and disbursement transactions or 
events, cash basis financial results can be easily manipulated by speeding up or 
slowing down the receipt and disbursement of cash.

Engagement Acceptance Considerations

AU-C section 210, Terms of Engagement (AICPA, Professional Standards), requires an au-
ditor to determine the acceptability of the applicable financial reporting framework when 
making engagement acceptance considerations with regard to a financial statement audit. 
When applied to an audit of special purpose financial statements, AU-C section 800 ex-
pands upon these requirements and requires the auditor to

	 obtain an understanding of the purpose for which the financial statements have 
been prepared, the intended users of the statements, and the steps taken by man-
agement to determine that the applicable special purpose framework is acceptable 
in the circumstances.

	 as a precondition to accepting the audit, obtain an agreement with management 
that it acknowledges and understands its responsibilities to include all informative 
disclosures that are appropriate for the special purpose framework.
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For special purpose financial statements, the needs of the intended users of the financial 
statements should be a factor in determining the acceptability of the applicable special 
purpose framework. For example, in a small local government in which the primary users 
of the financial statements are management and the governing body, and the financial 
statements are primarily used for determining short-term budgetary financial condition 
and compliance, the cash basis of accounting could be considered an acceptable financial 
reporting framework. 

However, consider a local government that has previously been consistently applying 
GAAP and whose intended financial statement users include bond investors and credit 
rating agencies. In determining whether to accept the engagement, paragraph .06a of 
AU-C section 210 requires the auditor to determine the acceptability of the financial re-
porting framework applied in the preparation of the financial statements. If in the year of 
applicability of a new accounting pronouncement, government management elects to pre-
pare cash-basis financial statements to avoid reporting a significant new liability resulting 
from that pronouncement, the auditor may decline to accept an engagement to audit such 
financial statements under the circumstances.

Practice Pointer: Presumed Acceptability of Regulatory Basis Frameworks. 
In absence of indications to the contrary, when determining the acceptability 
of a special purpose framework in the circumstances applicable to the entity, 
it can be presumed that a regulatory basis framework is acceptable because it 
has been prescribed by law or regulation that is applicable to the entity.

Practice Pointer: Special Purpose Frameworks—Effect on Low Risk  
Auditee Determination for Government Entities Subject to Single Audit 
Requirements. Pursuant to the Office of Management and Budget require-
ments found in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements 
for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), auditees subject to the single audit 
requirements in the Uniform Guidance must meet certain conditions con-
tained in 2 CFR 200.520 to be considered low risk auditees for the purpose 
of major program determination (Note: such determination has a direct im-
pact on the scope of the audit work required over federal awards). Under the 
Uniform Guidance, in order to be considered a low-risk auditee, the auditor’s 
opinion on whether the financial statements were prepared in accordance 
with GAAP or a basis of accounting required by state law must be unmodi-
fied for each of the two prior periods.  Therefore, unless required by state law, 
an auditee that prepares its financial statements on a non-GAAP basis of ac-
counting, such as the cash basis or modified cash basis of accounting, does not 
qualify as a low-risk auditee.
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Chapter 2

Recognition and Measurement Issues in 
Special Purpose Financial Statements of 

State and Local Governments

Introduction

As discussed in chapter 1, “Background and Overview,” of this practice aid, AU-C sec-
tion 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance 
With Special Purpose Frameworks (AICPA, Professional Standards), identifies five bases of 
accounting that are considered special purpose frameworks, including those commonly 
referred to as other comprehensive basis of accounting (OCBOA). Two of these special 
purpose frameworks, or bases of accounting, are common to state and local governments:

	 Cash basis, including modifications to the cash basis

	 Regulatory basis

For purposes of this practice aid, the cash basis of accounting will be discussed as two sepa-
rate bases of accounting: pure cash basis and modified cash basis. Therefore, this practice 
aid will focus on three special purpose frameworks, or bases of accounting, commonly ap-
plied to the financial statements of state and local governments: pure cash basis, modified 
cash basis, and regulatory basis.

The determination of what information should be reported in financial statements and 
when to recognize transactions or events (recognition), how to record transactions or 
events and at what amounts (measurement), and the form and content of the financial 
statements or what to present and disclose (presentation and disclosure) varies depending 
on the type of special purpose framework applied. This chapter focuses on the definition 
and application of cash basis, modified cash basis, and regulatory basis frameworks in the 
context of recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure requirements for state 
and local government accounting and financial reporting.
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Cash Basis of Accounting

As previously noted, the cash basis of accounting, although used extensively in many 
smaller governments, is not specifically defined in any U.S. professional accounting stan-
dards. However, the IPSASB’s standard, Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of Ac-
counting (IPSASB cash basis standard), does define cash as cash on hand, demand deposits, 
and cash equivalents and further defines the cash basis of accounting as a basis of accounting 
that recognizes transactions and other events only when cash is received or paid. AU-C 
section 800 defines cash basis as a basis of accounting the entity uses to record cash receipts 
and disbursements and modifications of the cash basis having substantial support. 

A literal or pure interpretation of the phrase cash receipts and disbursements implies that 
only cash and cash equivalents, and changes therein resulting from receipts and disburse-
ments, should be reported in accordance with this cash basis of accounting (hereafter re-
ferred to as either the cash basis or pure cash basis of accounting in this practice aid).

Practice Pointer: Cash Basis Outflows. With the pure cash basis of account-
ing, the use, or outflow, of cash to purchase a capital asset or to loan cash to 
another fund should be reported as a cash disbursement, not an asset.

Past practice by many accounting professionals has resulted in a wide array of financial 
presentations that are referred to as cash basis. For example, cash basis financial statement 
presentations often have included accounts other than cash, such as investment securi-
ties, interfund receivables and payables, and deferred revenue, among other accounts in 
the balance sheet or statement of financial position. This varying practice in defining and 
referencing the cash basis of accounting has resulted in inconsistent application of special 
purpose framework accounting principles and incomparable financial reporting by gov-
ernments purporting to be applying the same basis of accounting. 

To be consistent with the AU-C section 800 definition and the IPSASB cash basis stan-
dard, to provide for a more consistent application of the cash basis of accounting, and to 
clearly distinguish between the pure cash basis and modified cash basis, a strict definition 
of the cash basis of accounting is required. Therefore, for purposes of this practice aid, cash 
basis is defined as follows: the cash basis of accounting involves the recognition, measure-
ment, presentation, and disclosure of cash and cash equivalents and the changes therein 
resulting from cash receipt and disbursement transactions or events.

Essentially, the only assets reported on this pure cash basis presentation in a statement of 
net position—cash basis (or balance sheet—cash basis) would be cash and cash equiva-
lents. (Cash equivalents would include short-term, highly liquid investments, as defined 
by GASB in section 2450.106–.108 of its Codification of Governmental Accounting and 
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Financial Reporting Standards.) There would be no other assets or deferred outflows of 
resources reported nor would there be any liabilities or deferred inflows of resources re-
ported. The statement of activities—cash basis (or cash basis change statement) would 
report receipts and disbursements or the changes in cash and cash equivalents. In addition 
to illustration 2-1 that presents an example cash basis presentation for a single fund or ac-
tivity, see illustration B in appendix B, “Illustrative Special Purpose Financial Statements 
of State and Local Governments,” of this practice aid for an example cash basis financial 
statement presentation. 

Illustration 2-1: Example Cash Basis Presentation—Single Proprietary Fund

Statement of Net Position—Cash Basis

Assets:
  Cash and cash equivalents $246,305
Net Position:
  Restricted for debt service $102,105
  Unrestricted 144,200
    Total Net Position $246,305

Practice Pointer: In-Substance Two-Step Cash Transactions. On occasion, 
a single-step transaction or event may occur that does not directly involve an 
inflow or outflow of an entity’s cash but may nevertheless be reported as an 
in-substance two-step cash transaction or event under the pure cash basis of 
accounting. For example, one government entity might make a payment of 
cash to a third party on behalf of another government entity (for example, 
a state contribution paid directly by the state to a local government’s pen-
sion plan). Questions often arise about whether this transaction or event can 
or should be reported in accordance with the pure cash basis of accounting. 
This single-step transaction may be reported as an in-substance two-step cash 
transaction or event by the benefitting local government as a cash receipt con-
tribution received from the state and a cash disbursement for the contribution 
paid to the pension plan. Also, with regard to equipment purchasing and fi-
nancing, a government entity may acquire some equipment by merely signing 
a note with a financial institution and having the financial institution directly 
pay the vendor for the purchase of the equipment. This single-step transac-
tion or event, although not directly resulting in a cash inflow or outflow to 
the government entity signing the note and purchasing the asset, may be re-
corded as an in-substance two-step cash transaction or event as a cash receipt 
resulting from the note proceeds and a cash disbursement for the purchase of
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the equipment. However, care should be taken in applying this in-substance 
two-step cash transaction or event concept to other noncash transactions or 
events that do not involve an in-substance cash transaction, such as the dona-
tion of noncash assets or the signing of a capital lease agreement when the 
seller and lender are the same party.

Practice Pointer: Unavailable or Constrained Cash Resources. Often, state 
and local governments receive cash that is held for others or not available 
for use until a future period. For example, a municipality may collect taxes 
in a year prior to the year for which they were levied and available for use, a 
county government may receive taxes collected and held on behalf of other 
governments for subsequent disbursement, or a utility authority may collect 
and hold utility deposits that are held for later return to customers. Under the 
pure cash basis of accounting, these cash inflows do not result in the reporting 
of a liability. However, financial statement users would benefit from a disclo-
sure of any such cash received and held that is not available for use by the gov-
ernment in the reporting period. The reporting of these unavailable net cash 
resources in fiduciary funds would provide sufficient disclosure of the limita-
tions on the use of these resources. However, if accounted for in governmen-
tal or proprietary funds, it is recommended that such amounts be reported 
as an appropriate constraint on the cash basis fund balance or net position in 
order to disclose the fact that this cash is held on behalf of others or not avail-
able for use by the government in the reporting period. This reporting of the 
constraint could be either on the face of the financial statements or in a note 
disclosure that communicates the substance of the constraint.

For example, the amount of taxes collected prior to the year for which they 
were levied and, therefore, unavailable for use in the current reporting period, 
pursuant to enabling legislation, would be appropriately reported as cash basis 
net position (or fund balance, as appropriate)—restricted for subsequent fis-
cal year on the face of the financial statements or in a note disclosure that 
communicates the substance of the restriction.

Any departure or deviation from this pure cash basis presentation of cash and cash equiva-
lent balances and changes in such balances, such as the reporting of long-term debt aris-
ing from cash transactions, the capitalization and depreciation of capital assets acquired 
with cash, or the reporting of investments or receivables and payables resulting from cash 
transactions, should be considered a modification to the cash basis of accounting. Such a 
departure or deviation requires evaluation about whether the modification meets the defi-
nition of a modified cash basis of accounting, as subsequently discussed.
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Modified Cash Basis of Accounting

The most difficult special purpose framework to define is the modified cash basis of ac-
counting because professional standards do not technically have a separate definition for 
modified cash basis of accounting. The phrase modified cash basis has merely been used in 
practice for identifying a special purpose framework that represents a modification of the 
pure cash basis of accounting. As previously noted, professional standards define cash basis 
as a basis of accounting the entity uses to record cash receipts and disbursements and mod-
ifications of the cash basis having substantial support (for example, recording depreciation 
on fixed assets). Although this definition does not specifically identify what constitutes 
modifications of the cash basis having substantial support, the modifications have evolved 
through common usage and practice. 

For modifications to be considered to have substantial support, the modifications to the 
pure cash basis of accounting should

	 be made to cash receipt or disbursement transactions or events.

	 have substantial support in GAAP or other accounting literature.

	 be logical.

Practice Pointer: Modified Cash Basis Premise. Modifications to the pure 
cash basis of accounting generally result when cash receipts or cash disburse-
ments are considered to provide a benefit or an obligation that covers mul-
tiple reporting periods, and the reporting of the cash transaction or event 
would be more meaningful to financial statement users if spread out over 
those multiple periods. For example, a modification to report capital assets 
would involve recording and depreciating capital assets that result from cash 
transactions or events and depreciating them as a logical allocation of the cash 
basis asset cost over the assets’ useful lives.

Practice Pointer: Modifications to Cash Transactions or Events. The 
modified cash basis of accounting involves substantial support modifications 
to transactions or events that are derived from cash receipts (cash inflows) or 
cash disbursements (cash outflows). For example, a modification to report 
capital assets would involve recording and depreciating capital assets that re-
sult from cash transactions or events. This modification should generally not 
involve the recording and depreciating of capital assets resulting from capital 
lease transactions or donated capital assets because the acquisition of these 
assets did not involve a cash inflow or outflow at the time of acquisition or
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receipt. Many financial statement preparers and auditors struggle with this 
concept because it seems odd and, at times, inappropriate to exclude such 
significant assets from the financial statements, especially when they are ma-
terial. However, application of the cash basis and modified cash basis of ac-
counting comes with inherent limitations, and such special purpose financial 
statements are not intended to be representative of the complete economic 
financial position of the entity. Many significant assets and liabilities are ex-
cluded from cash basis and modified cash basis financial statements. If man-
agement elects to apply special purpose frameworks in the preparation of their 
external financial statements, they elect to report within those limitations.

Differences in professional opinion have existed about the definition of the modified cash 
basis of accounting. Some aspects of special purpose framework guidance have been in-
terpreted by some as providing substantial support for modifications that involve the ac-
crual of revenues and expenses and the recording of the related receivables and payables. 
However, a fundamental aspect of modifications to the cash basis of accounting is that, 
although the modifications should have substantial support in GAAP or other accounting 
literature, they should be made only to amounts derived from cash transactions or events 
and should not involve accruals or other noncash transactions.

Practice Pointer: Substantial Support Modifications Versus Full GAAP 
Treatment. The definition of cash basis in paragraph .07 of AU-C section 
800 begins by stating that it is “a basis of accounting that the entity uses to re-
cord cash receipts and disbursements.” It then also includes the wording “and 
modifications of the cash basis having substantial support” (commonly re-
ferred to as modified cash basis). This definition language (“modifications of 
the cash basis”) supports the notion that the substantial support modifications 
should be made “only to cash receipt and disbursement transactions or events” 
because the pure cash basis involves the accounting of only cash receipts and 
disbursements. The modified cash basis has often been misinterpreted as a 
mixing of framework principles through the application of cash basis treat-
ment to certain financial statement elements while applying full GAAP-basis 
treatment to other elements. This mixing of different framework principles 
is discouraged; therefore, the modified cash basis is narrowly constructed as 
“logical substantial support modifications to cash receipt and disbursement 
transactions or events.” Simply stated, modifications in the modified cash 
basis of accounting apply “GAAP or other accounting literature treatment 
to cash transactions or events.” For example, investment securities recorded 
as an asset in a modified cash basis framework would be recorded at cost (the 
amount of the cash outflow to acquire the investment), not adjusted to fair 
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value as required in GAAP. Similar to the modified accrual basis of account-
ing in governmental GAAP, which begins with an accrual basis transaction as 
its root and then works back to modify the recognition based on cash inflows 
or outflows, the modified cash basis of accounting begins with a cash transac-
tion or event as its root and works its way forward with a substantial support 
modification “of the cash transaction or event.”

For purposes of this practice aid, the suggested definition of the modified cash basis is as 
follows: the modified cash basis of accounting involves the recognition, measurement, 
presentation, and disclosure of cash and cash equivalents and certain other financial state-
ment elements arising from substantial support modifications to cash receipt and disburse-
ment transactions or events, and the changes therein.

Practice Pointer: No Single Modified Cash Basis of Accounting. It should 
be noted that unlike the pure cash basis of accounting, defined in this practice 
aid as the reporting of cash and cash equivalents and changes therein, there is 
no single modified cash basis of accounting. One entity’s modified cash basis 
of accounting framework might only be the pure cash basis of accounting 
modified for the reporting of only certain assets arising from cash transactions 
or events, but another entity’s modified cash basis of accounting framework 
might modify the pure cash basis of accounting to consistently report all as-
sets, liabilities, and deferred inflows and outflows of resources arising from 
cash transactions or events.

A significant challenge to preparing financial statements in accordance with 
a modified cash basis of accounting is developing the appropriate accounting 
policy that results in financial statements that meet the needs of the primary 
users of the statements and then consistently applying that policy to cash 
transactions and events in order to keep the financial statements from being 
misleading for the purposes for which they are intended. Although there is 
no single modified cash basis of accounting, financial statements prepared 
in accordance with a modified cash basis can be more meaningful if they 
are comparable with similar financial statements. Some preparers have in-
appropriately considered the modified cash basis of accounting as a free for 
all in which they can arbitrarily pick the modifications they will apply. For 
example, a preparer may decide to prepare financial statements in accordance 
with a modified cash basis of accounting that records assets arising from cash 
transactions or events, including investments, inventories, and capital assets, 
but does not record short-term and long-term liabilities and other obligations
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arising from cash transactions or events. Such inconsistent uses of a modified 
cash basis framework should be avoided for general use financial statements 
because the inconsistencies will normally result in financial statements that 
are misleading for general users. However, modified cash basis financial state-
ments prepared for certain special use purposes may be prepared using in-
consistent modifications that meet the needs of the specified intended users, 
provided they are labeled appropriately, and the special purpose is properly 
disclosed in the financial statements or notes thereto.

Practice Pointer: GFOA Small Government Program for Modified Cash 
Basis Reports. The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) has 
developed an award program for eligible small governments for which finan-
cial reporting in accordance with GAAP is not a viable option. The objective 
of the GFOA program is to improve the quality and consistency of small 
government annual financial reports by providing guidelines that standardize 
the format and content of annual reports prepared using a modified cash basis 
of accounting. In conjunction with this program, the GFOA has developed 
and made available a series of financial reporting and disclosures checklists 
that facilitate the preparation of modified cash basis financial statements for 
small governments. Regardless of whether a small government is eligible for 
participation in the GFOA award program, the program’s resource materials 
can be useful for any government interested in preparing modified cash basis 
financial statements. More information about this GFOA program, including 
access to the program’s checklists, is available at www.gfoa.org/cashbasis.

Practice Pointer: Inappropriate Modifications. Although substantially sup-
ported in GAAP and thought by many to be “logical,” the accruals of earned 
but uncollected revenues and incurred but unpaid expenditures or expenses 
do not involve modifications to transactions or events derived from cash re-
ceipts or disbursements and would, therefore, be inappropriate modifications 
to the pure cash basis of accounting. Other inappropriate modifications are 
discussed later in this chapter.

Practice Pointer: Appropriate Modifications. Modifications to the pure 
cash basis of accounting that report capital assets acquired with cash and re-
lated depreciation on such assets, when applicable, in addition to liabilities 
related to long-term debt arising from cash transactions or events in financial 
statements when these items are appropriate (for example, in government-
wide statements and proprietary and fiduciary fund statements), are consid-
ered appropriate substantial support modifications made to transactions or 
events derived from cash receipts and disbursements.
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Modifications to the pure cash basis of accounting that report receivables and 
payables that arise from cash transactions or events are also considered appro-
priate substantial support modifications. For example, a receivable and pay-
able resulting from an interfund loan of cash could be reported in accordance 
with a modified cash basis of accounting because it involves a source and use 
of cash and is substantially supported in GAAP and logical.

With the needs of the primary financial statement users in mind, when preparing fi-
nancial statements in accordance with a modified cash basis of accounting, the preparer 
should consider modifying the following cash transactions or events, among others, when  
material:

	 Recording of receivables resulting from an outflow of cash, such as interfund cash 
loans

	 Recording of investments in marketable securities acquired resulting from an out-
flow of cash

	 Recording of inventories acquired resulting from an outflow of cash

	 Recording of capital assets arising from cash transactions or events and depreciat-
ing the assets when appropriate

	 Recording of deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources resulting from 
cash transactions or events

	 Recording of liabilities resulting from short-term cash borrowings or other cash 
transactions or events

	 Recording of long-term bonds, notes, and other debt arising from cash transactions 
or events

	 Recording of any other material assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses resulting 
from cash transactions or events

If the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a modified cash basis account-
ing policy that records one or more of the preceding but not all, the preparer should be 
prepared to defend how the decision to modify or not modify is a logical and consistent 
application of the accounting policy and does not result in misleading financial statements 
for the purposes for which they are intended.

A number of transactions or events are not appropriate modifications to the cash basis of 
accounting. Generally, these transactions or events should not be recorded in accordance 
with a modified cash basis of accounting because they do not involve cash inflows or 
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outflows, are illogical, or are not substantially supported in GAAP or other accounting 
literature. The following are common transactions or events that should not be recorded 
in financial statements prepared in accordance with a modified cash basis of accounting:

	 Recording of accounts receivable, including billed and unbilled, resulting from 
services provided or goods sold when no cash inflows or outflows are involved

	 Recording of grant and other accrued receivables when cash inflows and outflows 
are not involved

	 Recording interfund receivables and payables resulting from interfund service bill-
ings when no cash inflows or outflows are involved 

	 Recording investments for which cash outflows were not involved

	 Recording of donated capital assets or capital assets acquired through capital lease 
agreements when the seller and lender are the same party and when cash outflows 
were not involved 

	 Not recording depreciation of depreciable capital assets arising from cash transac-
tions or events

	 Recording of accounts payable for goods or services received when no cash outflow 
was involved

	 Recording accrued compensated absences, accrued interest expense, other accrued 
expenses, and related liabilities

	 Recording long-term notes, bonds, and other obligations, including net pension 
and other postemployment benefit (OPEB) liabilities, when no cash outflows were 
involved

	 Adjusting marketable investments acquired with cash to fair value by recording 
adjustments for unrealized gains and losses

	 Recording derivative investments when cash inflows or outflows were not involved, 
and adjusting the derivative for fair value changes

Practice Pointer: Defined Benefit Pension and OPEB Costs and  
Obligations. Questions often arise about the accounting treatment for defined 
benefit pension and other post-employment benefit costs and obligations in 
pure cash basis and modified cash basis financial statements. GAAP treats 
pension and OPEB benefits as a form of deferred compensation earned by the 
employee in return for their employment efforts, not to be paid until after the 
employee’s tenure with the government has concluded and vesting and age
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requirements have been met. The government employer has a present obliga-
tion to pay these deferred benefits in the future (referred to as total pension 
or OPEB liability) once they are earned; and, therefore, in GAAP basis finan-
cial statements, these costs and obligations should be accrued when earned, 
regardless of when paid. However, under the pure cash basis and modified 
cash basis of accounting, pension and OPEB costs, obligations, and deferred 
inflows and outflows of resources, should be recognized in the financial state-
ments only when such costs and obligations arise from cash transactions or 
events. Therefore, pure cash basis or modified cash basis pension and OPEB 
costs are limited to the amounts paid by the government into the plans dur-
ing the financial statement period and net pension or OPEB liability is not 
recognized on the face of the financial statements.

In addition, as noted in chapter 3, required supplementary information (RSI) 
applicable to GAAP financial statements is not applicable to special purpose 
financial statements. As a result, if preparers of cash basis and modified cash 
basis financial statements elect to include pension and OPEB supplementary 
schedules, such schedules would be considered supplementary information or 
other information rather than required supplementary information. 

See the practice pointers and examples in chapter 3 regarding the applicabil-
ity of pension and OPEB disclosure requirements to special purpose financial 
statements.

It should be noted that the impact of GAAP pension and OPEB standards on 
regulatory basis financial statements will depend on the measurement, recog-
nition, presentation and disclosure requirements as established by the regula-
tory authority in defining its regulatory basis framework.

Practice Pointer: Treatment of Payroll Related Liabilities on a Modified 
Cash Basis. With the use of a cash basis of accounting that includes modifica-
tions to report expenses and expenditures and liabilities resulting from cash 
transactions or events related to employee payroll, questions often arise from 
the application of this modified cash basis framework as to which, if any, ex-
penses and expenditures and payroll liabilities resulting from the pay earned 
by employees at period end should be reported. 

For example, assume a pay period ends June 30 and the only cash payments 
made at June 30 are those payments made directly to employees for their net 
pay. Also assume that the other payroll obligations resulting from the June 30 
payroll related to payroll withholdings (such as withheld taxes, employee pen-
sion plan contributions, and employee share of benefit costs) and employer
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associated costs (such as the employer share of social security and Medicare, 
unemployment taxes, employer matching contributions, and employer share 
of benefit costs) are not paid until after June 30. Under the assumptions above, 
the only payroll cash outflows that have occurred for the period ended June 
30 are the payments made to the employees for their net pay. Therefore, these 
net pay amounts are the only expenses/expenditures that should be reported 
at June 30 in a modified cash basis presentation. The other payroll related 
payments that are paid after June 30, including those related to employee 
withholdings and those related to employer payroll costs, are not liabilities di-
rectly resulting from a cash outflow through period end, and therefore should 
not be reported until paid, which is after June 30 in this example.

A common misconception is that the employee withholdings and even certain 
employer payroll costs are expenses/expenditures and liabilities arising from 
cash transactions and should therefore be reported on a modified cash basis at 
period end, even if unpaid. However, these expenses/expenditures and payroll 
liabilities are in reality the result of the accrual of costs incurred resulting from 
the services provided by the employees through period end, and not the direct 
result of cash outflows. 

Another way to look at this concept is to assume that at period end, no pay-
roll payments are made, and all cash outflows or payments for the full gross 
payroll and related payroll costs, including employee net pay amounts, are 
not paid until after period end. In this scenario, under an accrual basis frame-
work, the expenses/expenditures and related liabilities, including amounts 
due employees for net pay and the amounts due to others for withholdings 
and employer share of costs, are accrued and reported in the statements at 
period end because the services have been provided and the obligations in-
curred. However, under a modified cash basis framework, there have been no 
cash outflows at period end and therefore it is inappropriate to accrue any of 
these costs. In other words, in this scenario, the payment of all payroll costs, 
including net pay to the employees, are cash outflows resulting from the ac-
crual of payroll costs and obligations, and are reported when paid under a 
modified cash basis framework. 
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In the example described above where the June 30 payroll results in the net 
check being recognized as expenses/expenditures when paid at June 30 and 
the expenses/expenditures for the related payroll withholdings and employer 
share of payroll costs paid after June 30 being recognized in a subsequent 
period, management might consider adopting an accounting policy of consis-
tently dating the month-end paychecks the first day of the following month, 
and in doing so have all the expense/expenditures related to the month-end 
payroll reported in one reporting period.

Practice Pointer: Modified Cash Basis Versus GAAP Departures. Because 
modified cash basis frameworks do not involve financial statement elements 
resulting from accruals and noncash transactions or events, it is unlikely that 
an acceptable modified cash basis framework would ever be materially equiva-
lent to GAAP. However, it is important for financial statement preparers to 
avoid attempting to make certain modifications to what would otherwise be 
GAAP financial statements and then referring to them as modified cash basis 
financial statements. For example, if the modified cash basis framework ap-
plied involves reporting accruals of revenues and expenses or applies GAAP, 
except for the reporting of net pension or OPEB liabilities, then the frame-
work should not be considered a modified cash basis framework and should 
instead be considered a GAAP framework with departures.

Illustration 2-2 applies a cash basis of accounting modified to record assets, liabilities, and 
deferred inflows and outflows of resources that arose from cash transactions or events. 
Each modification is made to transactions or events derived from cash receipts or disburse-
ments and is considered to have substantial support.

Illustration 2-2: Example Modified Cash Basis Presentation—Single  
Proprietary Fund

Statement of Net Position—Modified Cash Basis
Assets:

  Cash and cash equivalents $   246,305
  Investments 1,400,000
Capital Assets:

  Land and construction in progress 891,000
  Other capital assets—net 5,230,100
    Total Assets 7,767,405

(continued)
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Statement of Net Position—Modified Cash Basis
Liabilities:

Long-Term Liabilities:

  Due in one year 210,000
  Due in more than one year 1,890,000
    Total Liabilities 2,100,000
Deferred Inflows of Resources:

  Deferred service concession  
    arrangement receipts
Net Position: 1,000,000
  Net investment in capital assets 4,021,100
  Restricted for debt service 102,105
  Unrestricted 544,200
    Total Net Position $4,667,405

Practice Pointer: Write-Downs or Write-Offs Under the Modified Cash 
Basis. Questions often arise in the application of a modified cash basis about 
whether reported assets and liabilities derived from cash transactions or events 
should ever be written down or written off once they are recorded at their 
original cash basis value. For example, in applying a modified cash basis 
framework that reports investments resulting from cash outflows, one ques-
tion often asked is whether it would ever be appropriate to write down or 
write off that investment for declines in the fair value of the investment or if 
the investment becomes worthless. The answer is that temporary changes in 
the fair value of an asset or a liability should not be recognized in applying 
the modified cash basis of accounting, and all recognized assets and liabilities 
should be measured and reported at their original cash value (net of any ac-
cumulated depreciation or amortization, when applicable), unless they have 
been permanently impaired and have no future cash value or represent no 
future obligation against cash. If modified cash basis assets or liabilities have 
been permanently impaired and have no future cash value or represent no 
future obligation against cash, then it would be appropriate to write down or 
write off such amounts in modified cash basis financial statements.
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Practice Pointer: Bank Overdrafts. Generally, bank overdrafts may be net-
ted with other cash balances. If the result is an overall negative cash balance, 
in accordance with the pure cash basis of accounting, the bank overdraft 
would simply be shown as negative cash on hand at the end of the period. In 
financial statements prepared in accordance with a modified cash basis of ac-
counting, the bank overdraft should be classified as either a current liability in 
a non-pooled cash environment or, if the entity uses a pooled cash system, an 
interfund loan from a fund with a positive share of the pooled cash.

Practice Pointer: Modifications for Cash Held on Behalf of Others. As 
noted in a previous practice pointer, certain governments may have cash 
inflows that represent cash resources collected and held on behalf of other 
governments, organizations, or individuals. In a pure cash basis of account-
ing, there would be no liabilities reported for these amounts held on behalf 
of others. If these amounts are not reported in fiduciary funds, it is recom-
mended under a modified cash basis of accounting that these cash inflows be 
reported as liabilities to provide sufficient disclosure of the limitations on the 
use of these resources. However, if the modified cash basis framework used 
does not modify cash transactions to report these inflows as liabilities, it is 
recommended that such amounts be reported as a constraint on cash basis net 
position or fund balance in order to disclose the fact that this cash is held on 
behalf of others and is not available for use by the holding government.

See illustrations A, D, and E in appendix B of this practice aid for additional example  
financial presentations on a modified cash basis of accounting.

Regulatory Basis of Accounting

AU-C section 800 defines a regulatory basis of accounting as a basis of accounting the en-
tity uses to comply with the requirements or financial reporting provisions of a regulatory 
agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject. For example, a school district within a 
specific state may be required by law or regulation to prepare its annual financial state-
ments in accordance with a special purpose framework established by the state’s depart-
ment of education to facilitate the state’s gathering of comparable information that meets 
its specific needs.

There can be no single way to describe the recognition, measurement, presentation, and 
disclosure requirements of a regulatory basis special purpose framework because such 
framework criteria are established by, and unique to, each different regulatory author-
ity or agency. Even within a single state, there could exist different regulatory bases of  
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accounting frameworks established for the different types of political subdivisions within 
the state, such as municipalities, counties, school districts, and special districts. For pur-
poses of this practice aid, the regulatory basis of accounting framework is broadly defined 
as follows: the regulatory basis of accounting represents a basis of accounting an entity uses 
in the preparation of its financial statements to comply with the recognition, measure-
ment, presentation, and disclosure requirements established through law or regulation by 
a regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject. 

For the purposes of defining regulatory basis of accounting, regulatory agencies could in-
clude: state legislators; local governing bodies; state government departments; and other 
government agencies, such as a state auditor or an inspector’s office. 

Practice Pointer: Regulatory Basis Financial Statements Based on a 
GAAP Framework. Financial statements prepared under a regulatory basis 
of accounting may actually be based on a general purpose framework (that is, 
GAAP). For example, a state law may provide a requirement or voluntary op-
tion for the state or any of its political subdivisions to prepare financial state-
ments in accordance with GAAP, with the exception of applying a specific 
GAAP pronouncement. In such cases, if the omitted GAAP is material to 
the financial statements, the financial statements should clearly indicate they 
are prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework and not imply 
they are prepared in accordance with a general purpose framework (GAAP) in 
order for them to be reported on by the auditor in accordance with the guid-
ance in AU-C section 800. If the financial statements purport to be prepared 
in accordance with GAAP, and such financial statements are materially mis-
stated because of the omitted GAAP, AU-C section 705, Modifications to the 
Opinion in the Independent Auditor’s Report (AICPA, Professional Standards), 
applies, and a qualified or an adverse opinion regarding GAAP is appropriate.

Practice Pointer: Regulatory Basis Cannot Be Cash or Tax Basis. Para-
graph .A5 of AU-C section 800 indicates that the cash basis and tax basis of 
accounting are not regulatory bases of accounting. In some circumstances, 
a regulatory agency may prescribe requirements or allow entities subject to 
their jurisdiction to follow the cash basis or modified cash basis of accounting 
without any further description of specific recognition, measurement, pre-
sentation, or disclosure requirements. In these cases, the financial statements 
should be considered prepared under the cash basis or modified cash basis of 
accounting, not a regulatory basis of accounting.
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Although there can be no single way to describe the recognition, measurement, presenta-
tion, and disclosure requirements of a regulatory basis special purpose framework, illus-
tration 2-3 demonstrates an example presentation that could be required by a regulatory 
agency that presents, in a single summarized presentation, unencumbered cash balances 
and changes therein for all funds.

Illustration 2-3: Example Regulatory Basis Presentation

Statement of Financial Position and Changes in Financial Position—Regulatory Basis

Fund
Beginning 

Cash Receipts Disbursements
Outstanding 

Encumbrances

Ending  
Unencumbered 

Cash

General Fund $2,753,644 1,222,746 1,371,555 55,640 $2,549,195
Building Fund 988,125 183,941 75,692 25,740 1,070,634
Debt Service Fund 163,527 256,824 245,110 — 175,241
  Total All Funds $3,905,296 1,663,511 1,692,357 81,380 $3,795,070

Illustrations C-1 and C-2 in appendix B of this practice aid provide illustrated examples of 
regulatory basis financial statements for a county government.
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Chapter 3

Presentation and Disclosure Issues in 
Special Purpose Financial Statements of 

State and Local Governments

Introduction

The determination of the form and content of the financial statements or which financial 
statements to present and what to include and disclose (presentation and disclosure) varies 
depending on the type of special purpose framework applied.

One commonly asked question is whether the basic financial statement presentation re-
quirements of GASB, such as those defined in GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial 
Statements—and Management’s Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments, 
are mutually exclusive from presentation requirements for basic financial statements pre-
pared in accordance with a special purpose framework. The answer to this question is 
“No.”

Simply preparing the basic financial statements in accordance with a special purpose 
framework does not mean that the basic financial statement presentation may vary in 
substance from the requirements of the GASB reporting model. This chapter addresses 
financial statement presentation and disclosure issues for special purpose financial state-
ments of state and local government entities, including the presentation requirements for 
government-wide and fund financial statements and related notes, and supplementary 
information (SI).

Special Purpose Financial Statement Presentation Issues

According to paragraphs .A34–.A35 of AU-C section 800, Special Considerations—Audits 
of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks (AICPA, 
Professional Standards), and chapter 16, “Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance 
With a Special Purpose Framework,” of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State 
and Local Governments, if GAAP sets forth requirements that apply to the presentation 
of financial statements, then a complete set of cash basis and modified cash basis finan-
cial statements (not regulatory basis financial statements) may either comply with those 
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requirements or provide information that communicates the substance of those require-
ments. Presentation requirements for financial statements prepared in accordance with a 
regulatory basis of accounting are dictated by the specific laws or regulations applicable to 
the entity and may be different from GAAP presentation requirements.

Practice Pointer: Presentation Requirements for Cash Basis and Modi-
fied Cash Basis Financial Statements. If the presentation is intended to be 
a complete set of financial statements for the governmental reporting entity, 
then cash basis and modified cash basis financial statements should meet the 
presentation requirements of GAAP, including government-wide and fund 
financial statements and related notes. However, nothing prohibits the pre-
sentation of, and auditor reporting on, a single financial statement, such as a 
columnar statement of cash receipts and disbursements and changes in cash 
balances by fund that is presented on the cash basis.

It should be noted that, pursuant to the guidance in paragraphs .A34–.A35 of AU-C 
section 800, the substance of certain GAAP presentation requirements may be communi-
cated in a special purpose presentation using qualitative information and without modify-
ing the special purpose financial statement format. 

Practice Pointer: Cash Flow Statements in Special Purpose Financial 
Statements. Suppose proprietary fund financial statements using the cash 
basis of accounting include a presentation consisting entirely of cash receipts 
and disbursements. Such a presentation need not include a statement of cash 
flows, as would be included in a GAAP basis presentation, because all cash 
flow information is, in substance, already presented in the statement of cash 
receipts and disbursements. However, if the financial statements are pre-
sented in accordance with a modified cash basis of accounting, a cash flow 
statement may be appropriate. When a cash flow statement is presented in 
modified cash basis financial statements, the statement may either conform to 
the requirements for a GAAP presentation or communicate their substance. 
For example, it is appropriate for a statement of cash flows in special purpose 
financial statements to present on the face of the cash flow statement or dis-
close in the notes cash flows by appropriate categories, as defined in GASB 
Statement No. 9, Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable 
Trust Funds and Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting. 
In financial statements prepared in accordance with a regulatory basis of ac-
counting, the specific law or regulations applicable to the entity may dictate 
whether the statement of cash flows should be presented.
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Practice Pointer: Net Position or Fund Balance Presentation in Special 
Purpose Financial Statements. Cash basis and modified cash basis financial 
statements of a state or local government should communicate, in substance, 
net position and fund balance within the GAAP classification categories. 
For example, the amount of net position reported in government-wide and 
proprietary fund statements should be classified as net investment in capi-
tal assets, restricted and unrestricted, to the extent applicable. Fund balance 
of governmental funds should be classified by level of constraint, including 
non-spendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned, to the extent 
applicable. However, in special purpose financial statements, these classifi-
cations and constraints may be communicated in the notes to the financial 
statements rather than on the face of the financial statements. Presentation 
requirements for net position or fund balance in regulatory basis financial 
statements will be dictated by the applicable laws or regulations and may dif-
fer from GAAP presentations.

Practice Pointer: Captions in Special Purpose Financial Statements. 
There is no requirement to modify standard GAAP financial statement cap-
tions in special purpose financial statements. If modifications are desired, 
common examples for special purpose financial statements of state and local 
governments could include “Revenue Collected Over (Under) Expenditures/
Expenses Paid,” “Net Income—Modified Cash Basis,” “Regulatory Basis 
Cash Receipts,” and similar caption modifications appropriate to the special 
purpose framework applied.

An Overview of GASB Financial Reporting Requirements 
for State and Local Governments

The GAAP financial reporting requirements applicable to state and local governments 
were significantly transformed with the issuance of GASB Statement No. 34 and subse-
quent amendments to this statement.

The minimum requirements of GAAP financial reporting for state and local governments, 
to the extent applicable, include the following components:

	 Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A). MD&A is a component of required 
supplementary information (RSI) in GAAP financial statements, an introduction 
to the basic financial statements, and an analytical overview of the government’s 
financial activities.
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	 Basic financial statements. The basic financial statements comprise the following 
three components:

—	 Government-wide financial statements that display financial information for 
the government as a whole, except for fiduciary funds, in separate columns for 
governmental activities and business-type activities of the primary government, 
as well as discretely presented component units. 

—	 Fund financial statements that present financial information of the primary 
government’s governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds. For govern-
mental and enterprise funds, major funds are displayed in separate columns, 
and nonmajor funds are aggregated in a single column. Internal service funds 
are also aggregated in a single column on the appropriate fund financial state-
ments. Fiduciary fund financial statements include financial information for 
fiduciary funds by type and similar component units. 

—	 Notes to the financial statements applicable to the basis of accounting pre-
sented are part of the basic financial statements.

	 RSI other than MD&A. Except for MD&A, RSI generally is included immediately 
following the notes to the GAAP financial statements. RSI generally includes fi-
nancial information such as the required budgetary comparison schedule for the 
general fund and major special revenue funds, defined benefit pension and other 
postemployment benefit (OPEB) plan supplementary information, and other RSI.

The applicability of these various required components of the GAAP financial reporting 
model to state and local governments preparing special purpose financial statements is 
discussed in the following sections of this chapter.

The Applicability to Special Purpose Financial Statements 
of the Basic Financial Statement Requirements of GAAP

The GAAP financial presentation requirements applicable to the basic financial state-
ments of a state or local government are also applicable, in substance, to a complete set of 
cash basis and modified cash basis financial statements. Therefore, it would be inappro-
priate for cash basis or modified cash basis presentations intended to be a complete set of 
financial statements to omit required basic financial statements required by GAAP that are 
relevant to the basis of accounting used. Instead, the preparer may substitute substantially 
similar information for required display within those financial statements.
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Generally, complete cash basis and modified cash basis financial statement presentations 
should include the following, if applicable:

	 Government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities

	 Fund financial statements for governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds

	 Notes to the financial statements

The GASB financial reporting model for state and local governments generally requires 
that basic financial statements present government-wide financial statements separated 
by columns for governmental activities, business-type activities, and discretely presented 
component units; fund financial statements with columnar presentations based on major 
funds and non-major funds in the aggregate; and other specific reporting requirements, 
such as separate identification of special and extraordinary items. A complete set of cash 
basis and modified cash basis financial statements for a state or local government report-
ing entity should include similar government-wide financial statements and columnar 
presentations of major funds, to the extent applicable. In special purpose financial state-
ments, major funds are determined in the same mannter as GAAP financial statements. In 
a cash basis or modified cash basis presentation, certain financial statement presentation 
requirements related to a required display of elements (for example, display requirements 
of special and extraordinary items) could be met by disclosure in a note to the financial 
statements rather than display on the face of the special purpose financial statements. In 
addition, cash basis and modified cash basis government-wide financial statements should 
eliminate internal activity and balances similar to GAAP. 

Practice Pointer: Combining Certain Special Purpose Basic Financial 
Statements. In a cash basis or modified cash basis presentation, required basic 
financial statements may be combined, as long as the substance of the GAAP 
requirements are met. For example, in a simplified cash basis presentation, the 
statement of net position and statement of activities could be combined into 
a single financial statement if all the required display elements are included, 
as illustrated in illustration B-5 in appendix B, “Illustrative Special Purpose 
Financial Statements of State and Local Governments,” of this practice aid. 
Also, a single-program government engaged only in governmental activities 
(such as an emergency services district) could combine the government-wide 
and fund financial statements into a single combined presentation, as illus-
trated in illustrations D-1–D-3 in appendix B of this practice aid.

03-PA-OCB-Chapter 03.indd   31 1/22/16   12:50 PM



32	 © 2016, AICPA

Practice Pointer: Special Purpose Basic Financial Statements for Cer-
tain Special Purpose Governments. For a special purpose government en-
gaged only in business-type activities (such as a utilities authority), the basic 
financial statements prepared in accordance with a modified cash basis of ac-
counting would include the statement of net position; statement of revenues, 
expenses, and changes in net position; statement of cash flows; and related 
notes. See illustrations E-1–E-3 in appendix B of this practice aid for example 
special purpose financial statements for a single-program government entity 
(a solid waste authority) engaged only in business-type activities.

Practice Pointer: Special Purpose Basic Financial Statements for Gov-
ernments Using a Regulatory Basis Framework. The presentation require-
ments for financial statements prepared in accordance with a regulatory basis 
of accounting will generally be dictated by the specific laws or regulations 
applicable to the entity, and such presentation requirements may differ from 
GAAP. See illustrations C-1 and C-2 in appendix B of this practice aid for ex-
ample special purpose financial statements of a county government prepared 
in accordance with a regulatory basis framework.

If a cash basis or modified cash basis presentation is intended to be a complete set of fi-
nancial statements, and some of the applicable basic financial statements are not presented 
(such as the government-wide statements, when applicable) or if information that would 
be provided by applicable display elements (such as the breakdown of net position into 
its applicable elements of net investment in capital assets, restricted and unrestricted) is 
not communicated within the basic financial statements, including the notes, it would be 
appropriate for the auditor to modify the opinion(s) on the cash basis or modified cash 
basis financial statements of the affected opinion units or, potentially, on the financial 
statements as a whole. 

See chapter 4, “Auditor Reporting on Special Purpose Financial Statements of State and 
Local Governments,” of this practice aid for further discussion of auditor reporting issues 
related to special purpose financial statements, and see illustrations 6 and 8 in appendix 
C, “Example Auditor Reports on Special Purpose Financial Statements of State and Local 
Governments,” of this practice aid for example auditor’s reports that express adverse audit 
opinions on certain opinion units or special purpose financial statements as a whole be-
cause of the omission of certain applicable basic financial statements.
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Applicability to Special Purpose Financial Statements of 
MD&A and Other Required Supplementary Information

AU-C section 730, Required Supplementary Information (AICPA, Professional Standards), 
defines RSI as information that a designated accounting standard setter (a body designated 
by the AICPA Council to establish GAAP and limited to FASB, GASB, the FASAB, and 
the IASB) requires to accompany an entity’s basic financial statements. In GAAP financial 
statements, RSI is not part of the basic financial statements; however, a designated GAAP 
accounting standard setter considers the information to be an essential part of financial re-
porting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, 
or historical context. In addition, authoritative guidelines for the methods of measure-
ment and presentation of the information have been established by these bodies.

Because special purpose framework accounting and financial reporting standards appli-
cable to state and local governments have not been established by GASB (that is, the 
designated GAAP standard setter for state and local governments in the United States), 
any such RSI required by GASB in GAAP basis financial statements is not considered 
RSI that must accompany special purpose financial statements. Therefore, in special pur-
pose financial statements for state and local governments, there are no RSI requirements 
because there is no designated standard setter for such special purpose frameworks. How-
ever, state and local government financial statement preparers “may include” such GAAP 
RSI in their special purpose financial statements. In such circumstances, the information 
would be considered supplementary information that is required by law or regulation to 
be presented or supplementary information presented at the election of the preparer. Ex-
amples of such GAAP RSI that may be included in special purpose financial statements 
are MD&A budgetary comparison information (if not presented within the basic financial 
statements), pension and OPEB supplementary information, or information on the modi-
fied approach for reporting infrastructure assets. See chapter 4 for guidance pertaining to 
auditor reporting on supplementary information accompanying basic financial statements 
prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework.

Practice Pointer: Encouraged SI for Special Purpose Financial Statements. 
Although GAAP RSI does not exist in special purpose financial statements, 
the information contained in such RSI would be a valuable addition to special 
purpose basic financial statements when included as SI or OI. For example, 
when a government has a legally adopted budget for its general fund or other 
major special revenue funds, and management has elected not to include such 
information within the basic financial statements, as allowed by footnote 1
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of section 2400.102 of the GASB Codification of Governmental Accounting and 
Financial Reporting Standards, the inclusion of budgetary comparison infor-
mation as an accompaniment to the special purpose basic financial statements 
as SI or OI is appropriate and could enhance the overall financial report. 

In addition, the voluntary inclusion of MD&A that follows the auditor’s re-
port and precedes the basic financial statements is always an added benefit for 
the readers of special purpose financial statements and is encouraged.

SI and OI That May Accompany Special Purpose  
Financial Statements

AU-C section 720, Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial State-
ments (AICPA, Professional Standards), defines OI as financial and nonfinancial informa-
tion (other than the financial statements and auditor’s report thereon) that is included 
in a document containing audited financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon, 
excluding RSI. AU-C section 725, Supplementary Information in Relation to the Financial 
Statements as a Whole (AICPA, Professional Standards), defines SI as information presented 
outside the basic financial statements, excluding RSI, that is not considered necessary for 
the financial statements to be fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial 
reporting framework. Such information may be presented in a document containing the 
audited financial statements or separate from the financial statements.

In addition to the voluntary reporting of information that is considered RSI in a GAAP 
presentation, as previously described, special purpose basic financial statements may also 
be accompanied by other voluntary information, such as introductory information (such 
as a letter of transmittal), combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements 
and schedules, and statistical tables. This other voluntary information would also be con-
sidered SI or OI for purposes of special purpose basic financial statements.

Practice Pointer: Allowable Bases of Accounting or Criteria for Preparing 
SI and OI to Accompany Special Purpose Basic Financial Statements. In 
special purpose presentations, SI and OI that accompany the basic financial 
statements may be prepared in accordance with the requirements of the ap-
plicable special purpose framework, such as the cash basis or modified cash 
basis of accounting; regulatory or contractual requirements; GAAP; manage-
ment’s criteria; or other requirements. For example, an SI schedule of state 
grant award activity could be presented in accordance with the regulatory 
requirements of the applicable granting agency, even if those requirements 
differ from the special purpose framework applied in the preparation of the 
basic financial statements.
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Auditor reporting requirements with regard to SI and OI accompanying special purpose 
basic financial statements are addressed in chapter 4 of this practice aid.

Appropriate Disclosures in Special Purpose  
Financial Statements

Similar to GAAP financial statements, in order to achieve fair presentation, special purpose 
financial statements, including the related notes, should include all informative disclosures 
that are appropriate for the applicable special purpose framework, including all matters 
that affect the financial statements’ use, understanding, and interpretation. Appropriate 
special purpose financial statement disclosures can generally be categorized as follows:

	 Informative disclosures similar to GAAP for items contained in the special purpose 
financial statements that are the same as, or similar to, GAAP to the extent appli-
cable to the special purpose framework applied

	 Additional general disclosures related to matters not specifically identified on the 
face of the financial statements

	 Other disclosures considered necessary to achieve a fair presentation

Informative Disclosures Similar to GAAP

When special purpose financial statements contain elements or items that are the same or 
similar to GAAP financial statements, special purpose statements should contain disclo-
sures similar to those applicable to GAAP. Examples of such GAAP-similar disclosures 
would include

	 summary of significant accounting policies.

	 deposit and investment risk disclosures for cash, cash equivalents, and investments.

	 capital assets and long-term debt disclosures when the cash basis has been modified 
to report such balances, or the regulatory basis requires such reporting.

	 internal and interfund balances and transfers.

	 fund balance purpose classifications within nonspendable, restricted, committed, 
assigned, and unassigned categories if not presented on the face of the statements.

	 pension and OPEB plan participation, commitments, and contributions.
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	 risk management disclosures.

	 accounting changes and correction of errors.

	 tax abatement disclosures.

However, these GAAP-similar disclosures should be modified based on the application of 
the special purpose framework. In other words, GAAP disclosure requirements that are 
not relevant to the special purpose framework, as applied to an item within the financial 
statements, need not be considered. For example, in cash basis or modified cash basis fi-
nancial statements, the GAAP disclosures related to defined benefit pension and OPEB 
plans would only be relevant to the extent they apply to cash basis or modified cash basis 
measurement and recognition criteria. Therefore, although cash basis and modified cash 
basis financial statement notes should disclose a description of the plan, types of benefits 
provided, the funding policy, contribution requirements and rates, and actual cash con-
tributions made, there would be no requirements to disclose further GAAP disclosure 
requirements or RSI pertaining to actuarial information, including actuarial methods and 
assumptions, actuarial-required contributions, net pension or OPEB expense and liabili-
ties, trend data, plan funded status, and similar accrual basis related information that is 
not applicable to a cash basis or modified cash basis framework.

Practice Pointer: Defined Benefit Pension and OPEB Disclosures. Ques-
tions often arise about the appropriate disclosures in special purpose financial 
statements with regards to defined benefit pension and OPEB costs and ob-
ligations. Many GAAP required disclosures for such costs and obligations are  
related to actuarial and accrual type measurement and recognition, and are 
therefore not applicable to financial statements prepared in accordance with 
the cash basis or modified cash basis of accounting.

Specifically, GAAP  required disclosures that are considered not applicable 
to cash basis and modified cash basis financial statements include (1) sig-
nificant assumptions employed in the measurement of net pension or OPEB 
liability; (2) descriptions of benefit changes and changes in assumptions;  
(3) assumptions related to the discount rate and impact on total pension or 
OPEB liability of a 1 percentage point increase or decrease in the discount rate;  
(4) net pension or OPEB liability and deferred outflows and inflows of resources;  
(5) the beginning and ending balances of net pension or OPEB liability; and 
(6) the effects of changes in the balances from such items as service cost, bene-
fit changes, and actual investment earnings. However, certain GAAP required 
disclosures are considered applicable to cash basis and modified cash basis

03-PA-OCB-Chapter 03.indd   36 1/22/16   12:50 PM



	 © 2016, AICPA	 37

financial statements and include a description of the plan and benefits pro-
vided, the funding policy, contribution requirements and rates, actual cash 
contributions made, and other general plan disclosures.

Though not applicable to or required in cash basis or modified cash basis 
financial statements, the government entity could optionally include disclo-
sure of available pension or OPEB obligation information, including actuarial 
information and amounts calculated as total pension or OPEB liability and 
net pension or OPEB liability within the notes to the financial statements as 
commitments. However, care should be exercised in such disclosure to not 
confuse the reader of the financial statements; it should be made clear that 
these obligations are disclosed as commitments and not reported on the face 
of the financial statements as liabilities because of the use of the cash or modi-
fied cash basis framework.

See related practice pointer in chapter 2 regarding the applicability of pen-
sion and OPEB accounting and financial reporting requirements to special 
purpose financial statements.

It should be noted that the impact of GAAP pension and OPEB disclosure 
requirements on regulatory basis financial statements, will depend on the dis-
closure requirements as established by the regulatory authority in defining its 
regulatory basis framework.

Example 3-1: Defined Benefit Pension Plan Note—Modified Cash Basis

Note X. Law Enforcement Employee Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan

General Information about the Plan (Considered applicable disclosures for modified cash 
basis framework)

Plan description. Eligible law enforcement employees of the Municipality are provided 
with pensions through the Law Enforcement Employee Pension Plan (LEEPP)—a 
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the State 
Law Enforcement Retirement System (LERS). Article 11 of the State Statutes grants 
the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms to the LERS Board of Trustees 
(LERS Board). LEEPP issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained 
at [Internet address].
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Benefits provided. LEEPP provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Retire-
ment benefits are determined as 2.5 percent of the employee’s final 3-year average 
compensation times the employee’s years of service. Employees with 10 years of con-
tinuous service are eligible to retire at age 60. Employees are eligible for service-related 
disability benefits regardless of length of service. Five years of service is required for 
nonservice-related disability eligibility. Disability benefits are determined in the same 
manner as retirement benefits but are payable immediately without an actuarial reduc-
tion. Death benefits equal two times the employee’s final full-year salary. 

Contributions. Per Article 11 of the State Statutes, contribution requirements of the 
active employees and the participating local governments are established and may be 
amended by the LERS Board. Employees are required to contribute 8.00 percent of 
their annual pay. The employing local governments’ contractually required contribu-
tion rate for the year ended June 30, 20X9, was 12.00 percent of annual payroll, actu-
arially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee contributions, 
is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with 
an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to the 
pension plan from the Municipality were $22,090 for the year ended June 30, 20X9.

Information about the Municipality’s Proportionate Share of Pension Obligation 
(Considered optional disclosures for modified cash basis framework)

Commitment Related to Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability. At June 30, 20X9, 
the LEEPP, as a whole, reported a total net pension liability of $17,114,910 of which 
the Municipality’s proportionate share amounted to $44,210. Because of the use of 
a modified cash basis of accounting framework in the preparation of these financial 
statements, this proportionate share of the LEEPP net pension liability is not reported 
in the Municipality’s financial statements as a liability, and is instead disclosed herein 
as a commitment. In accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting, pension 
expense or expenditures are only reported when contributions are paid by the Munici-
pality to the LEEPP.

The LEEPP net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 20X8, and the 
total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of that date. The Municipality’s proportion of the net pension 
liability was based on a projection of the Municipality’s long-term share of contribu-
tions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating 
local governments, actuarially determined. At December 31, 20X8, the Municipality’s 
proportion was 0.25 percent, which was an increase of 0.01 from its proportion mea-
sured as of December 31, 20X7.
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Actuarial assumptions. Actuarial assumptions used in the determination of net pension 
liability, including mortality rates and life expectancies, long-term expected rate of 
return, discount rate and sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in discount 
rate are available in the separately issued LEEPP financial report that can be obtained 
at [Internet address].

Disclosure of Differences Between GAAP and Special 
Purpose Frameworks

An important disclosure for all special purpose financial statements is the description of 
the applicable special purpose framework selected and applied, including a description 
of how the special purpose framework differs from GAAP. Although these differences 
from GAAP should be qualitatively described, they need not be quantitatively described. 
For example, disclosing that the cash basis or modified cash basis of accounting does not 
include the reporting of accrued receivables and payables is sufficient disclosure without 
having to quantify the amounts of such omitted accruals.

This special purpose framework description is especially important in modified cash basis 
financial statements. Because modified cash basis financial statements can vary among 
governments based on which modifications are made to the cash basis, a well-written and 
comprehensive disclosure of the modifications made to the cash basis within the special 
purpose framework applied is essential for user understanding. Examples 3-2 – 3-4, fol-
lowing, outline how the cash, modified cash, and regulatory bases of accounting may dif-
fer from GAAP.

Example 3-2: Example Basis of Accounting Note—Pure Cash Basis

Note X. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are presented in accordance with a cash basis of accounting, 
which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America (GAAP) as established by the Governmental Account-
ing Standards Board. This basis of accounting involves the reporting of only cash and 
cash equivalents and the changes therein resulting from cash inflows (cash receipts) 
and cash outflows (cash disbursements) reported in the period in which they occurred.

This cash basis of accounting differs from GAAP primarily because revenues (cash 
receipts) are recognized when received in cash rather than when earned and susceptible 
to accrual, and expenditures or expenses (cash disbursements) are recognized when 
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paid rather than when incurred or subject to accrual. As a result, only cash and cash 
equivalents and related net position or fund balances arising from cash transactions 
are reported in the statements of net position and balance sheets. All other economic 
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources that 
would be reported in GAAP basis financial statements are not reported in this cash 
basis presentation.

Example 3-3: Example Basis of Accounting Note—Modified Cash Basis

Note X. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are presented in accordance with a modified cash basis of 
accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as established by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board. This basis of accounting involves modifications to the 
cash basis of accounting to report in the statement of net position or balance sheet 
cash transactions or events that provide a benefit or result in an obligation that covers 
a period greater than the period in which the cash transaction or event occurred. Such 
reported balances include investments, inventories, receivables, capital assets, deferred 
outflows of resources, short-term liabilities, long-term liabilities, and deferred inflows 
of resources arising from cash transactions or events.

This modified cash basis of accounting differs from GAAP primarily because certain assets 
and their related revenues (such as accounts receivable and revenue for billed or provided 
services not yet collected, and other accrued revenue and receivables) and certain liabili-
ties and their related expenses or expenditures (such as accounts payable and expenses for 
goods or services received but not yet paid, and other accrued expenses and liabilities) are 
not recorded in these financial statements. In addition, other economic assets, deferred 
outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources that do not arise from a cash transac-
tion or event that would be reported in GAAP basis financial statements (such as donated 
assets and pension or postemployment benefit liabilities) are not reported in this modified 
cash basis presentation, and the measurement of reported assets and liabilities does not 
involve adjustment to fair value.

Example 3-4: Example Basis of Accounting Note—Regulatory Basis

Note X. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are presented in accordance with a regulatory basis of ac-
counting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally 
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accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as established by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board. This regulatory basis of accounting involves the report-
ing of cash and cash equivalents, certain marketable investments, certain accounts 
payable, and encumbrance obligations and the changes therein to meet the financial 
reporting requirements of the State Department of Local Government Affairs.

This regulatory basis of accounting differs from GAAP primarily because the financial 
statement format does not include the GAAP presentations of government-wide and 
fund financial statements, revenues are recognized when received in cash rather than 
when earned and susceptible to accrual, and expenditures or expenses are recognized 
when payable or committed through an encumbrance rather than when incurred or 
subject to accrual. As a result, all economic assets, deferred outflows of resources, li-
abilities, and deferred inflows of resources that would be reported in GAAP basis fi-
nancial statements are not reported in this regulatory basis presentation.

The applicability of GAAP-similar note disclosures to special purpose financial statements 
related to capital assets, changes in capital assets and accumulated depreciation and related 
depreciation expense, long-term debt, and changes in long-term debt and long-term debt 
maturities will vary depending on the specific special purpose framework selected and  
applied.

In a pure cash basis of accounting, the GAAP disclosures for capital assets and long-term 
debt are not necessary because the capital asset and long-term debt items are not presented 
in the financial statements.

In a modified cash basis of accounting, the GAAP disclosures related to capital assets and 
long-term debt may be necessary depending on whether the cash basis of accounting is 
modified for reporting such elements. If the modified cash basis of accounting results from 
modifications to the cash basis that involve the reporting of capital assets and long-term 
debt in the financial statements, the capital asset and long-term debt GAAP-similar disclo-
sures would be appropriate. 

In a regulatory basis of accounting, the specific laws’ or regulations’ guidance should dic-
tate the accounting treatment and disclosure requirements for capital assets and long-term 
debt. However, if the regulatory basis of accounting involves the reporting of capital as-
sets and long-term debt as elements within the regulatory basis financial statements, the 
GAAP-similar disclosures for capital assets and long-term debt is appropriate.
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Practice Pointer: Although special purpose financial statements that contain 
items that are the same as, or similar to, those items in financial statements 
prepared in accordance with GAAP should include similar informative disclo-
sures, special purpose financial statements may substitute qualitative informa-
tion for some of the quantitative information applicable to GAAP financial 
statements or may provide information that communicates the substance of 
those GAAP disclosures. For example, disclosure of repayment terms for long-
term debt in modified cash basis financial statements may, in substance, com-
municate the necessary information about future principal reduction without 
providing the summary of principal reduction over the next five years and 
through maturity.

Additional General Disclosures

Special purpose financial statements should also contain other disclosures that are gener-
ally applicable to GAAP financial statements and related to matters that are not specifi-
cally identified on the face of the financial statements to the extent applicable. Examples of 
these disclosures would include

	 material noncompliance.

	 restrictions on assets.

	 sales and pledges of future revenue.

	 segment information.

	 related-party transactions.

	 guarantees.

	 subsequent events.

	 commitments and contingencies.

	 tax abatement disclosures.

Example 3-5: Commitment and Contingency Note—Modified Cash Basis

Note Z. Commitments and Contingencies—Landfill Closure

The Authority closed a landfill site on September 1, 20X1, in accordance with state 
and federal laws. This closure requires the Authority to place a final cover on its  
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landfill site and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site 
for eight years after closure. Although postclosure care costs will be paid after the date 
the landfill stops accepting waste, the Authority estimates the remaining postclosure 
care costs to be $XXX,XXX at June 30, 20X7, based upon two remaining years of 
monitoring. This amount is based upon what it would cost to perform all postclosure 
care in 20X7. Actual costs may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or 
changes in regulations. Due to the Authority’s application of the modified cash basis 
of accounting, this long-term obligation is not reported as a liability in the financial 
statements.

Practice Pointer: Commitment Disclosures in Special Purpose Finan-
cial Statements. An argument can be made that in disclosing the report-
ing entity’s commitments in notes to special purpose financial statements, 
disclosure of material long-term debt or financial obligations (both capital 
and operating debt, including lease obligations) should be included be-
cause it is a form of commitment on future cash resources. Such disclo-
sures could be useful to users of special purpose financial statements and 
appropriate for achieving fair presentation.

Other Informative Disclosures

Any other disclosures that are considered necessary to achieve fair presentation should be 
included in special purpose financial statements, such as disclosures of

	 significant risks and uncertainties.

	 significant concentrations and dependencies.

	 going concern considerations.

	 other informative disclosures for items or conditions not evident on the face of the 
financial statements.
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Practice Pointer: Using Note Disclosures to Compensate for Inherent Lim-
itations of Special Purpose Frameworks. Special purpose frameworks come 
with inherent presentation and disclosure limitations because they represent 
alternative non-GAAP frameworks. In an effort to enhance the value of spe-
cial purpose financial statements, the notes to the financial statements can 
often be used to compensate for certain of these limitations. For example, 
when the financial statements are presented in accordance with a cash basis 
that is modified to report marketable security investments as an asset, the 
notes could disclose the fair value of such investments when materially dif-
ferent from the carrying value to enhance the information provided to the 
financial statement users. In addition, the notes could include other qualita-
tive information, such as the existence of material donated assets, derivative 
instruments and risks, and long-term obligations that are not presented on 
the face of the financial statements.

Example 3-6: Significant Concentrations and Dependencies— 
Modified Cash Basis

Note Z. Concentrations and Dependencies—XYZ Manufacturing  
Plant Revenue

In 20X1 and 20X2, the Authority’s largest utility customer, XYZ Manufacturing 
Plant, accounted for 58 percent and 52 percent, respectively, of the Authority’s utility 
service charges revenue. In 20X2, XYZ Manufacturing Plant laid off 25 percent of its 
local workforce, and utility service charges to XYZ Manufacturing Plant decreased by 
$XXX,XXX in 20X2 from the prior year.

See illustration A in appendix B of this practice aid for example note disclosures applicable 
to a complete set of modified cash basis financial statements of an example municipal 
government.

Special Purpose Financial Statement Titles

When preparing special purpose financial statements, preparers should consider avoid-
ing titles that could be confusing. Terms such as balance sheet; statement of net position; 
statement of financial position; statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; 
statement of activities; and statement of cash flows or similar unmodified titles are generally 
understood to be applicable only to financial statements that are intended to present fi-
nancial position, changes in financial position, or cash flows in accordance with a general 

03-PA-OCB-Chapter 03.indd   44 1/22/16   12:50 PM



	 © 2016, AICPA	 45

purpose framework, such as GAAP. Consequently, it is a good practice to avoid unmodi-
fied financial statement titles in financial statements prepared in accordance with a special 
purpose framework.

Practice Pointer: Examples of Inappropriate Special Purpose Financial 
Statement Titles. In a special purpose framework presentation, a statement 
of financial position arising from cash transactions of governmental funds 
should not be titled “Balance Sheet” (without any modification).

The government-wide financial statements in a special purpose framework 
presentation should not be titled “Statement of Net Position” and “Statement 
of Activities” (without any modification). 

In a special purpose framework presentation, a regulatory basis financial state-
ment of grant fund operations that includes encumbrances as expenditures 
should not be titled “Statement of Revenues and Expenditures” (without any 
modification).

Practice Pointer: Examples of Appropriate Special Purpose Financial 
Statement Titles. Special purpose financial statement titles should be appro-
priately modified to inform the user that the statements are prepared in accor-
dance with a special purpose framework. These modifications may be made 
in a number of ways. The following, although not all-inclusive, are examples 
of appropriate special purpose financial statement titles:

	 A cash basis financial statement of changes in financial position might be 
appropriately titled “Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements and 
Changes in Cash and Cash Equivalents.”

	 Modified cash basis proprietary fund financial statements might be titled 
“Statement of Net Position Arising From Modified Cash Basis Transac-
tions” and “Statement of Revenues and Expenses, and Changes in Net 
Position Arising From Modified Cash Basis Transactions.”

	 Modified cash basis government-wide financial statements might be suit-
ably titled “Statement of Net Position—Modified Cash Basis” and “State-
ment of Activities—Modified Cash Basis.”

	 A financial statement prepared in accordance with a statutory or regula-
tory basis might be appropriately titled “Statement of Income and Ex-
pense—Regulatory Basis.”
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Chapter 4

Auditor Reporting on Special Purpose 
Financial Statements of State and Local 

Governments

Introduction

Many auditors have found it challenging to find answers to the following questions re-
garding auditor reporting on special purpose financial statements applicable to state and 
local governments:

	 Does Government Auditing Standards (the Yellow Book) issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States or Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Prin-
ciples, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (the Uniform Guidance), is-
sued by the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) preclude the preparation of 
special purpose financial statements or the rendering of audit opinions on such 
statements that cite the Yellow Book?

	 Do the materiality and opinion unit concepts applicable to reporting on GAAP fi-
nancial statements contained within the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State 
and Local Governments apply to forming opinions and reporting on special purpose 
financial statements?

	 Is it appropriate for an auditor to issue unmodified opinions on special purpose fi-
nancial statements, or should the auditor’s report always express a modified opin-
ion for departures from GAAP?

	 Is it appropriate for an auditor’s report on special purpose financial statements to 
always contain a restricted-use paragraph that indicates the report is intended solely 
for certain specified parties?

	 How does an auditor modify an auditor’s report on special purpose financial state-
ments that includes material misstatements resulting from departures from the spe-
cial purpose framework criteria selected and applied?

	 How should an auditor report on a financial statement presentation that uses more 
than one financial reporting framework within the basic financial statements, such 
as presenting both special purpose and GAAP financial statements within a single 
reporting entity’s presentation?
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This chapter will answer each of these frequently asked questions and provide further 
guidance for auditors reporting on special purpose financial statements.

Authoritative Guidance for Reporting on Special Purpose 
Financial Statements

The primary source of guidance for auditors reporting on special purpose financial state-
ments is essentially the same guidance for reporting on GAAP financial statements and 
can be found in the following auditing standards:

	 AU-C section 700, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements 
(AICPA, Professional Standards)

	 AU-C section 705, Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor’s Report 
(AICPA, Professional Standards)

	 AU-C section 706, Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraphs and Other-Matter Paragraphs in 
the Independent Auditor’s Report (AICPA, Professional Standards)

This primary guidance is then further expanded upon and tailored to special purpose 
financial statements in AU-C section 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial 
Statements Prepared in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks (AICPA, Professional 
Standards). Essentially, the primary difference in reporting on special purpose financial 
statements and GAAP financial statements is the applicable financial reporting framework 
upon which the auditor evaluates fair presentation of the financial statements. In audits of 
general purpose financial statements, the auditor evaluates fair presentation with respect to 
GAAP, but in audits of special purpose financial statements, the auditor evaluates fair pre-
sentation with respect to the applicable accounting principles embodied within the special 
purpose framework (such as a cash basis special purpose framework).

Practice Pointer: Special Purpose Financial Statements and the Yellow 
Book. The Yellow Book does not prohibit the preparation of special pur-
pose financial statements or the rendering of audit opinions citing the Yel-
low Book on such statements. The Yellow Book provides audit guidance for 
audits subject to its standards and does not provide authoritative accounting 
or financial reporting guidance with regard to the preparation of the financial 
statements. Therefore, special purpose financial statements can be audited 
and opined upon under the Yellow Book.
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Practice Pointer: Special Purpose Financial Statements and the Uni-
form Guidance. Similarly, OMB’s Uniform Guidance does not prohibit the 
preparation of special purpose financial statements or the rendering of related 
audit opinions on such statements in conjunction with a single audit. How-
ever, as discussed in the practice pointer “Special Purpose Frameworks— 
Effect on Low Risk Auditee Determination for Government Entities Subject 
to Single Audit Requirements” presented in chapter 1, an entity’s use of a spe-
cial purpose framework in the preparation of its financial statements, except 
for a regulatory basis required by state law, would disqualify the entity from 
being a low risk auditee in a single audit.

Materiality Guidance for Certain Special Purpose 
Financial Statements1 

Chapter 4, “General Auditing Consideration,” of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide 
State and Local Governments provides guidance for both preparers and auditors of state and 
local government GAAP-basis financial statements. It also describes how materiality deter-
minations for purposes of preparing a government’s basic financial statements differ from 
materiality determinations for purposes of planning, performing, evaluating the results of, 
and reporting on the audit of a government’s basic financial statements. This guidance 
may also be applicable to certain special purpose financial statement presentations.

Practice Pointer: Applicability of Opinion Unit Guidance to Special Pur-
pose Financial Statements. The materiality and opinion unit guidance in 
the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments appli-
cable to GAAP financial statements is also applicable to a complete set of spe-
cial purpose financial statements presented in accordance with the cash basis 
or modified cash basis of accounting. Such guidance may or may not apply to 
regulatory basis financial statements or statements not intended to be a com-
plete presentation of the reporting entity. The materiality level and opinion 
units for regulatory basis financial statements is generally determined by the 
accounting and presentation requirements of the regulatory authority. See 
the discussion in the “Regulatory Basis Materiality and Opinion Unit Issues” 
section of this practice aid. Professional judgment, similar to that needed for 
regulatory presentations, should be exercised in determining materiality for a 
single special purpose financial statement presentation or other special pur-
pose presentation not intended to be a complete set of financial statements.

1.	The guidance presented in this section has been adapted from chapter 4, “General Auditing Considerations,” of the 
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments and modified for its applicability to special purpose 
framework financial reporting.
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Governmental Accounting Standards Board Guidance to 
Preparers on Materiality

Chapter 7 of GASB’s Comprehensive Implementation Guide explains how financial state-
ment preparers view materiality in the preparation of governmental GAAP-basis financial 
statements. Generally, that same guidance is also appropriate for applications to a govern-
ment’s complete set of financial statements prepared in accordance with the cash basis 
or modified cash basis of accounting because these special purpose financial statements 
generally meet the substance of the presentation requirements for GAAP-basis financial 
statements. 

The GASB guidance indicates that preparers make separate materiality evaluations for 
governmental activities, business-type activities, and each major governmental and enter-
prise fund because those reporting units are considered to be quantitatively material. The 
guidance also discusses the assessment of the significance of major discretely presented 
component units and the relationship with the primary government. Additionally, it states 
that the components of the remaining fund information—non-major governmental and 
enterprise funds, internal service funds, and fiduciary funds—may or may not be quanti-
tatively material. In addition, guidance states that the preparer’s view of the data presented 
for those reporting units for purposes of materiality evaluations are based on professional 
judgment, considering relevant qualitative factors and the relationship of the remaining 
fund and component unit reporting units to other appropriate information in the finan-
cial statements. 

AICPA Guidance to Auditors on Materiality

Financial reporting frameworks often discuss the concept of materiality in the context of 
the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements. As previously described, 
GASB does provide materiality guidance for the preparation of financial statements of a 
state or local government’s GAAP-basis financial statements. In addition, AU-C section 
320, Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit, and AU-C section 450, Evalua-
tion of Misstatements Identified During the Audit (AICPA, Professional Standards), pro-
vide general guidance to the auditor in making materiality determinations in auditing 
and reporting on governmental financial statements. This guidance indicates that the au-
ditor’s consideration of materiality is a matter of professional judgment and is affected 
by the auditor’s perceptions of the financial information needs of users of the financial 
statements. Because of the unique nature of governmental financial reporting and the  
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financial reporting framework requirements and guidance from GASB, the AICPA Audit 
and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments has adopted an opinion unit approach 
to materiality for purposes of auditor reporting, as outlined in chapter 4 of that guide. 
Because, as discussed in chapter 3, “Presentation and Disclosure Issues in Special Purpose 
Financial Statements of State and Local Governments,” of this practice aid, cash basis and 
modified cash basis financial statements of a state or local government substantially meet 
the financial statement presentation requirements of GAAP. Therefore, it is appropriate 
for the auditor’s consideration of whether a government’s complete set of basic financial 
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the cash basis or 
modified cash basis of accounting applied, to also be based on opinion units, as defined in 
the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments.

Generally, the opinion units in a government’s basic financial statements are, as applicable, 
governmental activities; business-type activities; aggregate discretely presented component 
units; each major governmental and enterprise fund; and aggregate remaining fund infor-
mation (non-major governmental and enterprise funds, the internal service fund type, and 
the fiduciary fund types). 

It is also appropriate for auditors to determine opinion units for audits of a special purpose 
government’s cash basis or modified cash basis basic financial statements in the same man-
ner as cash basis or modified cash basis presentations for general purpose governments, to 
the extent applicable. 

Governments engaged in a single governmental program that combines their fund finan-
cial statements and government-wide financial statements, as provided in paragraph 136 
of GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements—and Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis—for State and Local Governments, could have an opinion unit for each major 
governmental fund; an opinion unit for their aggregate non-major governmental funds, if 
any; and an opinion unit for the government-wide total column, which represents govern-
mental activities. 

Governments engaged only in business-type activities may have more than one opinion 
unit. For example, a utility district with more than one enterprise fund (one each for its 
water, sewer, electric, and trash operations) could have an opinion unit for each major 
enterprise fund and another opinion unit for its aggregate non-major enterprise funds,  
if any. 

Governments engaged only in fiduciary activities generally have only one opinion unit 
that represents, in effect, remaining fund information.
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Regulatory Basis Materiality and Opinion Unit Issues

Because the format and presentation of regulatory basis financial statements vary depend-
ing on the specific regulatory requirements, the application of the AICPA Audit and Ac-
counting Guide State and Local Governments concepts of materiality and opinion units 
cannot be determined uniformly. Ideally, the regulatory agency defines, within its laws, 
regulations, or related guidance, the materiality thresholds to be considered in the prepa-
ration and audit of its regulatory basis financial statements. However, if such guidance is 
not provided, it is appropriate for the auditor and audit client to come to an agreement on 
the materiality thresholds to be applied. If the regulatory basis financial statements present 
financial information for opinion units in a format similar to the presentation required 
by GASB for GAAP-basis financial statements, the materiality and opinion unit guidance 
presented in this chapter is appropriate to apply to the regulatory basis financial state-
ments. However, if the regulatory basis financial statements result in a different presenta-
tion, it is appropriate for the auditor to consult the regulations and their related guidance 
to determine if materiality and opinion levels are addressed or defined. If not defined in 
the regulations, it is appropriate for the auditor to discuss materiality alternatives with the 
audit client and apply professional judgment.

Practice Pointer: Regulatory Basis Materiality Considerations. If a regula-
tory provision requires the presentation of a statement of cash receipts and 
disbursements for each individual fund of a governmental entity, and the reg-
ulations do not address materiality or opinion unit issues, the auditor could 
consider each fund a major fund and, therefore, a separate opinion unit, or all 
funds could be combined for purposes of making materiality judgments and 
determining opinion units. Although it is best for the regulatory agency to 
provide the necessary guidance on materiality and audit scope, if it is not de-
fined in the regulations, it is appropriate for the auditor to discuss materiality 
alternatives with the audit client and apply professional judgment.

Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Special Purpose 
Financial Statements

Paragraph .13 of AU-C section 700 requires the auditor to form an opinion on whether 
the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework. In state and local government special purpose 
financial statements, the applicable financial reporting framework would be the cash basis, 
modified cash basis, or regulatory basis of accounting selected and applied by management 
in the preparation of the financial statements. In making the fair presentation evaluation 
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of special purpose financial statements required by paragraph .13 of AU-C section 700, 
the auditor may consider whether

	 the financial statements are suitably titled, considering the special purpose frame-
work selected and applied.

	 the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements are con-
sistent with the applicable special purpose framework criteria and free of material 
misstatements or potential material misstatements in relation to that criteria.

	 the financial statements include a summary of significant accounting policies that 
adequately describe the policies selected and applied, including a description of the 
special purpose framework applied and how it differs from GAAP.

	 the accounting policies selected and applied are consistent with the applicable spe-
cial purpose framework and appropriate under the circumstances.

	 any accounting estimates made by management in the special purpose financial 
statements are reasonable.

	 the information presented in accordance with a special purpose framework is rele-
vant, reliable, comparable, and understandable.

	 the special purpose financial statements provide adequate disclosures to enable in-
tended users to understand the effect of material special purpose transactions and 
events, including informative disclosures similar to GAAP for items that are the 
same or similar to those presented in GAAP financial statements, and any other 
disclosures necessary to achieve fair presentation.

Some of the unique reporting requirements applicable to an auditor’s report on special 
purpose financial statements are discussed in the following items (1)–(3), and other spe-
cific reporting requirements are discussed in the “Modifications to the Auditor’s Opinion 
on Special Purpose Financial Statements” and “Emphasis-of-Matter and Other-Matter 
Paragraphs in Auditor’s Reports on Special Purpose Financial Statements” sections of this 
practice aid:

1.	 Paragraph .18a of AU-C section 800 states that in the auditor’s report on special 
purpose financial statements, the explanation of management’s responsibility for 
the financial statements should also make reference to its responsibility for de-
termining that the applicable financial reporting framework is acceptable in the 
circumstances when management has a choice of financial reporting frameworks in 
the preparation of such financial statements.
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Example 4-1: Management’s Responsibility Paragraph—Management 
Has Choice of Frameworks (Modified Cash Basis Selected) Basis of 
Accounting Paragraph

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting described in Note 
X; this includes determining that the cash basis of accounting is an acceptable basis 
for the preparation of the financial statements in the circumstances. Management is 
also responsible for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

2.	 When the special purpose financial statements are prepared in accordance with a 
regulatory basis of accounting, Paragraph .18b of AU-C section 800 states that the 
auditor’s report should also describe the purpose for which the financial statements 
are prepared or refer to a note in the special purpose financial statements that con-
tains that information when the financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with a regulatory basis of accounting.

Example 4-2: Management’s Responsibility Paragraph— 
Regulatory Basis Purpose

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of Section Y of Regu-
lation Z of Any State Statutes, as described in Note X. Management is also responsible 
for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

3.	 In all situations, the wording of the introductory and opinion paragraphs of the 
auditor’s report on special purpose financial statements should be sufficiently clear 
to inform the reader of the opinion unit(s) considered by the auditor, as defined in 
the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments. In addition, 
the opinion paragraph(s) should make it clear that the opinions are based on the 
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the special purpose 
framework applied, not a GAAP framework.
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Example 4-3: Introductory Paragraph

We have audited the accompanying modified cash basis financial statements of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented 
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 20XX, and the 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the city’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.

Example 4-4: Unmodified Opinion Paragraph

In our opinion, the modified cash basis financial statements referred to above present 
fairly, in all material respects, the respective modified cash basis financial position of 
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely pre-
sented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund informa-
tion of the City of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, the respective changes in 
modified cash basis financial position; and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the 
year then ended in accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting described in 
Note X.

An unmodified audit opinion for an opinion unit is appropriate when the special purpose 
financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the opinion unit’s financial po-
sition, changes in financial position, and cash flows, when applicable, in accordance with 
the applicable special purpose framework (the special purpose framework selected and 
applied by management). In other words, unmodified opinions on the opinion units of 
special purpose financial statements are appropriate when the auditor concludes that the 
financial statements, including disclosures, of that opinion unit are presented fairly, in all 
material respects, in accordance with the special purpose framework. 

Practice Pointer: No Modification of Auditor’s Report for Exclusion of 
GAAP-Required Supplementary Information in Special Purpose Finan-
cial Statements. It is important to note that an auditor’s report on special 
purpose financial statements is not modified for the exclusion of GAAP-re-
quired supplementary information (RSI). As discussed in chapter 3 of this 
practice aid, in cash basis and modified cash basis financial statements, there 
are no RSI requirements because there is no designated standard setter for 
such special purpose frameworks. Therefore, the exclusion of such informa-
tion is not considered a departure from the special purpose framework. How-
ever, as also noted in chapter 3 of this practice aid, preparers may include such 
GAAP-RSI in their special purpose financial statements, but that information 
is considered supplementary information for purposes of the special purpose 
basic financial statements.
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Illustrations 1–4 in appendix C, “Example Auditor Reports on Special Purpose Financial 
Statements of State and Local Governments,” of this practice aid present example audi-
tor reports that express unmodified audit opinions on all opinion units within financial 
statements applying the cash basis, modified cash basis, and regulatory basis of accounting 
frameworks.

Modifications to the Auditor’s Opinion on Special Purpose 
Financial Statements

As in GAAP, the basic financial statements in cash basis and modified cash basis presenta-
tions intended to be a complete set of financial statements represent the minimum finan-
cial statements that are prepared and reported upon and may include multiple opinion 
units. The basic financial statements generally contain government-wide financial state-
ments, fund financial statements, and notes to the financial statements, when applicable to 
the special purpose framework presentation. 

The primary objective of the audit of special purpose financial statements is the expression 
of an audit opinion or opinions on the fairness with which the basic financial statements 
present, in all material respects, financial information as of the date and for the period 
identified in accordance with the requirements of the applicable special purpose frame-
work applied. Auditors should plan, perform, and evaluate the results of audit procedures 
on a government’s special purpose basic financial statements based on applicable special 
purpose framework assertions and the materiality guidance for opinion units, as previously 
discussed.

Practice Pointer: Varying Opinions for Different Opinion Units in Special 
Purpose Financial Statements. In applying the auditor reporting guidance 
from the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments 
to special purpose basic financial statement presentations of state and local 
governments, the auditor may express an unmodified opinion on the spe-
cial purpose financial statements of one or more opinion units and modified 
opinions or disclaimers of opinion on one or more of the other opinion units. 
For example, the opinion on a major fund might be modified for a material 
misstatement within that fund, but the remaining opinion units are fairly 
presented in all material respects, resulting in the expression of an unmodified 
opinion on the other opinion units.
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Practice Pointer: Single Opinion Unit for Certain Special Purpose Gov-
ernment’s Special Purpose Financial Statements. The special purpose fi-
nancial statements for some special purpose governments engaged only in 
business-type activities and for special purpose governments engaged only in 
fiduciary activities may only have a single opinion unit; thus, the auditor will 
express a single opinion on those financial statements.

AU-C section 705 explains that modified opinions may be expressed in the form of quali-
fied, adverse, and disclaimer of opinions on the basic financial statements. This audit 
standard applies to both special purpose and GAAP financial statements. The decision to 
modify an auditor’s opinion and which type of modification is appropriate depends on the

	 nature of the matter giving rise to the modification (that is, whether the financial 
statements are materially misstated, or because of an inability to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence, the financial statements may be materially misstated).

	 auditor’s judgment about the pervasiveness of the effects or possible effects of the 
matter on the financial statements.

In accordance with paragraph .20 of AU-C section 700, the auditor should modify the 
opinion(s) in the auditor’s report on special purpose financial statements if (a) the au-
ditor concludes, based on the audit evidence obtained, that the financial statements of 
an opinion unit or the statements as a whole are materially misstated, or (b) the auditor 
is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to conclude that the financial 
statements for an opinion unit or the financial statements as a whole are free from mate-
rial misstatement.

The following section of the practice aid explains certain conditions that may lead to a 
qualified opinion, an adverse opinion, or a disclaimer of opinion in reporting on special 
purpose financial statements of a state or local government. The following analysis has 
been adapted from the auditor reporting guidance in chapter 15, “Audit Reporting,” of 
the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments and has been modi-
fied for its applicability to auditor reporting on special purpose financial statements. 

Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence

A lack of sufficient appropriate audit evidence resulting from management-imposed limi-
tations on the scope of the audit of the special purpose financial statements for an opinion 
unit may lead the auditor to modify the opinion or disclaim an opinion on that opin-
ion unit. In these situations, the auditor is unable to achieve certain audit objectives and  
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conclude about the fair presentation of certain financial statement elements or compo-
nents of a governmental reporting entity presented in the financial statements. A scope 
limitation that arises from a lack of sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support a 
special purpose financial statement assertion may involve circumstances in which a gov-
ernment’s accounting systems, processes, and records or reports from other auditors on 
component units or fund information do not provide sufficient information to enable the 
auditor to conclude about the fair presentation of such items as

	 restrictions on cash balances,

	 classifications of net position or fund balance,

	 eliminations of internal activity and balances in the government-wide financial 
statements,

	 capital assets or long-term debt arising from cash transactions or events when a 
cash basis presentation purports to be modified for the recording of capital assets 
and long-term debt, or

	 component unit financial statement information. 

Qualified Opinion Resulting From the Inability to Obtain 
Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence

When the auditor expresses a qualified opinion resulting from the inability to obtain suf-
ficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditor should follow the requirements in AU-C 
section 705 applicable to qualified opinions.

In accordance with paragraph .17 of AU-C section 700, when the auditor modifies the 
opinion on the financial statements, the auditor should, in addition to the specific ele-
ments required by AU-C section 700, include a paragraph in the auditor’s report im-
mediately preceding the opinion paragraph and use a heading that includes “Basis for 
Qualified Opinion,” “Basis for Adverse Opinion,” or “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion,” 
as appropriate. In accordance with paragraph .21 of AU-C section 705, if the modification 
results from an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditor should 
include in the basis for modification paragraph the reasons for that inability.

Example 4-5 provides example wording to describe the basis for a qualified opinion re-
sulting from the exclusion of one material component unit (but not all component units) 
from the aggregate discretely presented component units’ opinion unit.
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Example 4-5: Basis for Qualified Opinion Paragraph

Basis for Qualified Opinion on the Aggregate Discretely Presented  
Component Units

The financial statements of Example Component Unit (ECU) have not been audited, 
and we were not engaged to audit the ECU financial statements as part of our audit of 
the city’s basic financial statements. ECU’s financial activities are included in the city’s 
basic financial statements as a discretely presented component unit and represent XX 
percent and XX percent of cash and cash equivalents and cash receipts, respectively, of 
the city’s aggregate discretely presented component units.

In the opinion paragraph, under the heading “Qualified Opinion,” in accordance with 
paragraph .24 of AU-C section 705, the auditor should use the corresponding phrase 
“except for the possible effects of the matters described in the basis for qualified opinion 
paragraph, the financial statements [of the applicable opinion unit(s)] are presented fairly 
in all material respects, in accordance with [the applicable special purpose framework].”

Example 4-6 provides example wording for a qualified opinion resulting from the exclu-
sion of a material component unit (but not all component units) from the aggregate dis-
cretely presented component units’ opinion unit.

Example 4-6: Qualified Opinion Paragraph

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the “Basis for 
Qualified Opinion on the Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units” para-
graph, the modified cash basis financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the modified cash basis financial position of the aggregate discretely 
presented component units for City of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, and 
the changes in modified cash basis financial position thereof for the year then ended in 
accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting described in Note X.

Illustration 5 in appendix C of this practice aid provides an example auditor’s report on 
special purpose financial statements that contains a qualified opinion on the discretely 
presented component units’ opinion unit when a government does not obtain an audit 
of one or more (but not all) material discretely presented component units included in 
the special purpose financial statements, and the auditor determines a qualified opinion 
is appropriate on that opinion unit. See the “Omission of Component Units” section for 
further discussion about reports on the primary government only.
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Disclaimer of Opinion Resulting From the Inability to 
Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence 

A disclaimer of opinion states that the auditor does not express an opinion on the special 
purpose financial statements for one or more opinion units (or the financial statements as 
a whole). A disclaimer of opinion is appropriate when the auditor is unable to obtain suf-
ficient appropriate audit evidence to the extent that possible effects on the financial state-
ments of undetected misstatements could be both material and pervasive to the special 
purpose financial statement opinion units or the financial statements as a whole, and the 
auditor has elected not to withdraw from the engagement. When disclaiming an opinion 
on an opinion unit or the financial statements as a whole, the auditor should follow the 
requirements in AU-C section 705 applicable to disclaimers of opinion.

When disclaiming an opinion due to the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence, an auditor should include a paragraph in the auditor’s report immediately pre-
ceding the opinion paragraph and under a heading that includes “Basis for Disclaimer of 
Opinion” that describes the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and 
the reasons for that inability. In addition, the auditor should describe in this Basis for 
Disclaimer of Opinion paragraph any other matters of which the auditor is aware that 
would have resulted in a modification to the opinion(s) and the effects thereof and should 
consider the need for an emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraph(s) to describe any 
other matters of which the auditor is aware that would have resulted in additional com-
munications in the auditor’s report that are not opinion modifications.

Example 4-7 provides example wording for the basis of a disclaimer of opinion resulting 
from the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence related to a discretely 
presented component unit considered material and pervasive to the aggregate discretely 
presented component units, and the auditor determines that a disclaimer of opinion on 
that opinion unit is appropriate.

Example 4-7: Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion Paragraph

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion on the Aggregate Discretely Presented 
Component Units

The financial statements of Example Component Unit (ECU) have not been audited, 
and we were not engaged to audit the ECU financial statements as part of our audit of 
the city’s basic financial statements. ECU’s financial activities are included in the city’s 
basic financial statements as a discretely presented component unit and represent XX 
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percent and XX percent of cash and cash equivalents and cash receipts, respectively, of 
the city’s aggregate discretely presented component units.

Example 4-8 provides example wording for a disclaimer of opinion resulting from the 
inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence related to a discretely presented 
component unit considered material and pervasive to the aggregate discretely presented 
component units.

Example 4-8: Disclaimer of Opinion Paragraph

Disclaimer of Opinion

Because of the significance of the matters described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of 
Opinion on the Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units” paragraph, we have 
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an 
audit opinion on the financial statements of the aggregate discretely presented compo-
nent units of the City of Example, Any State. Accordingly, we do not express an opin-
ion on these financial statements. 

When disclaiming an opinion due to the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence, in accordance with paragraph .28 of AU-C section 705, the auditor should also 
amend the introductory paragraph of the auditor’s report to state that the auditor “was 
engaged to audit the financial statements [of the applicable opinion unit(s) or the financial 
statements as a whole]” rather than stating the auditor audited the financial statements. 
In addition, the auditor should amend the description of the auditor’s responsibility and 
description of the audit scope to indicate the following:

Because of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraph, 
however, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a 
basis for an audit opinion [on the applicable opinion unit(s) or the financial statements 
as a whole].

Practice Pointer: Appropriateness of Adverse Opinions on Special Pur-
pose Financial Statements. Adverse opinions are not appropriate auditor 
report modifications resulting from the inability to obtain sufficient appropri-
ate audit evidence. Adverse opinions should be expressed when the auditor, 
having obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence, concludes that mis-
statements within the special purpose financial statements, individually or 
in the aggregate, are both material and pervasive to an opinion unit or the 
financial statements as a whole. Appendix C of this practice aid provides three 
examples of auditor’s reports where an adverse opinion is expressed.
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Illustration 9 in appendix C of this practice aid provides an example auditor’s report on 
special purpose financial statements that contains a disclaimer of opinion on an opinion 
unit because of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.

Material Misstatements Resulting From Special Purpose 
Framework Departures

A material misstatement resulting from a departure from the accounting and financial re-
porting requirements of the special purpose framework applied to the financial statements 
for an opinion unit may lead the auditor to qualify the opinion or express an adverse 
opinion on that opinion unit. Some misstatements, depending on the pervasiveness of 
the effect of those misstatements, might require an opinion modification for more than 
one opinion unit or on the financial statements as a whole. Examples of material misstate-
ments within special purpose financial statements include

	 cash basis financial statements fail to include material cash equivalents.

	 material investments reported in modified cash basis financial statements are re-
ported at fair value.

	 cash basis or modified cash basis financial statements include material accruals of 
revenues or expenses or expenditures and related receivables or payables.

	 elements are reported within regulatory basis financial statements that are not in-
cluded as part of the regulatory basis framework.

	 financial information for a fund, a department, an agency, or a program or one or 
more (but not all) component units is omitted from the financial statements.

	 financial information for a fund, a department, an agency, a program, or a compo-
nent unit is presented in accordance with a basis of accounting other than the spe-
cial purpose framework used for the remainder of the reporting entity (for example, 
a component unit is presented in accordance with GAAP, but the rest of the re-
porting entity is presented in accordance with a special purpose framework). 

	 certain general capital assets, such as infrastructure, arising from cash transactions 
are omitted from the government-wide financial statements when the special pur-
pose framework applied is the cash basis of accounting, with modifications for re-
porting capital assets.

	 the cash basis or modified cash basis fund financial statements do not report one or 
more governmental or enterprise funds as major, in accordance with the quantita-
tive criteria of the GASB financial reporting model.

04-PA-OCB-Chapter 04.indd   62 1/22/16   1:04 PM



	 © 2016, AICPA	 63

	 a material note disclosure applicable to the special purpose framework applied is 
omitted or not presented substantially similar to GAAP financial statements within 
the constraints of the special purpose framework applied, such as GAAP-similar 
deposit risk disclosures applicable to cash basis financial statements.

Qualified Opinion—Material Misstatements Resulting 
From Special Purpose Framework Departures

When the auditor expresses a qualified opinion due to material misstatements resulting 
from departures from the applicable special purpose framework, the auditor should follow 
the requirements in AU-C section 705 applicable to qualified opinions.

When expressing a qualified opinion due to a material misstatement, in accordance with 
paragraph .17 of AU-C section 705, the auditor should include a paragraph in the audi-
tor’s report immediately preceding the opinion paragraph and use a heading that includes 
“Basis for Qualified Opinion.” In accordance with paragraph .18 of AU-C section 705, 
the auditor should include in the basis for modification paragraph a description and quan-
tification of the financial statement effects of the misstatement. If not practical to quantify 
the financial effect, the auditor should so state this fact.

Example 4-9 provides example wording for the basis of a qualified opinion on the busi-
ness-type activities’ opinion unit for a material misstatement resulting from a special pur-
pose framework departure related to the omission of the financial activity of a material 
fund (but not all funds) that would normally be reported within the business-type activi-
ties’ opinion unit.

Example 4-9: Basis for Qualified Opinion Paragraph

Basis for Qualified Opinion on Business-Type Activities

As described in Note Y, management has not included the Example Memorial Hospital 
Fund in the city’s financial statements. Accounting principles applicable to the city’s 
modified cash basis of accounting require the Example Memorial Hospital Fund to 
be presented as a major enterprise fund and financial information about the Example 
Memorial Hospital Fund to be part of the business-type activities, thus increasing the 
activities’ cash and cash equivalents, cash receipts, and disbursements and changing its 
modified cash basis net position. The amount by which this departure would affect 
the cash and cash equivalents, net position, and cash receipts and disbursements of the 
business-type activities and the omitted major fund has not been determined.
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When expressing a qualified opinion due to a material misstatement, in the opinion para-
graph, under the heading “Qualified Opinion,” the auditor should use modifying lan-
guage, such as “except for the effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified 
Opinion paragraph, the financial statements [of the applicable opinion unit(s)] are pre-
sented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with [the applicable special purpose 
framework].”

Example 4-10 provides example wording for a qualified opinion on the business-type ac-
tivities’ opinion unit for a material misstatement resulting from a special purpose frame-
work departure related to the omission of the financial activity of a material fund (but not 
all funds) that would normally be reported within the business-type activities’ opinion 
unit.

Example 4-10: Qualified Opinion Paragraph

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified 
Opinion on Business-Type Activities” paragraph, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the modified cash basis financial position 
of the business-type activities of the City of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, 
and the changes in modified cash basis financial position thereof for the year then 
ended in accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting described in Note X.

Illustration 6 in appendix C of this practice aid provides an example auditor’s report on 
special purpose financial statements that contains a qualified opinion on the business-type 
activities’ opinion unit for a material misstatement resulting from a special purpose frame-
work departure related to the omission of the financial activity of a material fund.

Adverse Opinion—Material Misstatements Resulting 
From Special Purpose Framework Departures

An adverse opinion states that the special purpose financial statements for an opinion unit 
(or the financial statements as a whole) do not present fairly the financial position, changes 
in financial position, or cash flows, when applicable, in accordance with the special pur-
pose framework applied. When the auditor expresses an adverse opinion due to material 
misstatements resulting from departures from the applicable special purpose framework, 
the auditor should follow the requirements in AU-C section 705 applicable to adverse 
opinions.

04-PA-OCB-Chapter 04.indd   64 1/22/16   1:04 PM



	 © 2016, AICPA	 65

Adverse opinions are appropriate when the auditor, having obtained sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence, concludes that misstatements within the special purpose financial state-
ments, individually or in the aggregate, are material and pervasive to an opinion unit or 
the financial statements as a whole.

Practice Pointer: Quantitative and Qualitative Factors in Evaluating 
Misstatements or Omissions in Special Purpose Financial Statements. 
The auditor generally considers quantitative and qualitative factors in deter-
mining whether a misstatement or an omission warrants an opinion modifi-
cation and, if so, whether the modification warrants a qualified or an adverse 
opinion. For example, because a city or county government’s general infra-
structure assets (in a cash basis framework modified to report capital assets) 
are presumed to be material to their governmental activities, unless demon-
strated otherwise, an adverse opinion usually is appropriate for the govern-
mental activities’ opinion unit when such infrastructure assets derived from 
cash transactions or events are omitted. Such a presumption does not exist for 
all special purpose governments because some special purpose governments, 
such as school districts, generally have little or no general infrastructure assets. 
Further, some auditors may conclude that the omission of general infrastruc-
ture assets causes the special purpose financial statements as a whole to not be 
presented fairly in accordance with the modified cash basis framework; there-
fore, an adverse opinion on the financial statements as a whole is appropriate. 

When expressing an adverse opinion due to a material misstatement, in accordance with 
paragraph .17 of AU-C section 705, the auditor should include a paragraph in the audi-
tor’s report immediately preceding the opinion paragraph and under a heading that in-
cludes “Basis for Adverse Opinion.” In accordance with paragraph .18 of AU-C section 
705, the auditor should include in the basis for modification paragraph a description and 
quantification of the financial statement effects of the misstatement. If not practical to 
quantify the financial effect, the auditor should so state this fact.

Example 4-11 provides example wording for the basis of an adverse audit opinion on an 
opinion unit due to a misstatement related to excluded general infrastructure assets that is 
considered material and pervasive to the governmental activities’ opinion unit.

Example 4-11: Basis for Adverse Opinion Paragraph

Basis for Adverse Opinion on Governmental Activities

As described in Note X to the financial statements, although the City’s cash basis of 
accounting has been modified to include capital assets and related accumulated de-
preciation and depreciation expense, management has not recorded certain general  
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infrastructure assets in governmental activities’ financial statements and, accordingly, 
has also not recorded depreciation expense on those assets. Accounting principles ap-
plicable to such a modified cash basis of accounting require that those general infra-
structure assets derived from cash transactions or events be capitalized and depreciated, 
which would increase the modified cash basis assets, net position, and expenses of the 
governmental activities. The amounts by which this departure affects the modified cash 
basis assets, net position, and expenses of the governmental activities have not been 
determined. 

In accordance with AU-C section 705, when the auditor expresses an adverse opinion 
due to a material misstatement, in the opinion paragraph, under the heading “Adverse 
Opinion,” the auditor should state that “in the auditor’s opinion, because of the signifi-
cance of the matter(s) discussed in the Basis for Adverse Opinion paragraph, the financial 
statements are not presented fairly in accordance with [the applicable special purpose 
framework].”

Example 4-12 provides example wording for an adverse audit opinion on the governmen-
tal activities’ opinion unit due to a misstatement related to excluded general infrastructure 
assets that is considered material and pervasive to that opinion unit.

Example 4-12: Adverse Opinion Paragraph

Adverse Opinion

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the “Basis for 
Adverse Opinion on Governmental Activities” paragraph, the financial statements re-
ferred to above do not present fairly, the modified cash basis financial position of the 
governmental activities of the City of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, and 
the changes in modified cash basis financial position thereof for the year then ended in 
accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting described in Note X.

Practice Pointer: Adverse Opinions on Special Purpose Financial State-
ments Resulting From Known Misstatements Versus Possible Misstate-
ments. Adverse opinions are appropriate when the auditor, having obtained 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence, concludes that misstatements within 
special purpose financial statements, individually or in the aggregate, are both 
material and pervasive to an opinion unit or the financial statements as a 
whole. Adverse opinions are not appropriate when modifying the auditor’s 
report for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. In such 
cases, a qualified opinion or disclaimer of opinion may be appropriate.
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When expressing an adverse opinion due to a material misstatement, in accordance with 
paragraph .27 of AU-C section 705, the auditor should amend the description of the audi-
tor’s responsibility and to state that the auditor believes that the audit evidence the audi-
tor has obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the auditor’s adverse 
opinion.

Illustration 7 in appendix C of this practice aid provides an example auditor’s report on 
special purpose financial statements that contains an adverse audit opinion on an opinion 
unit due to a misstatement that is considered material and pervasive to that opinion unit. 

Adverse Opinion or Disclaimer of Opinion on Financial 
Statements as a Whole for Certain Egregious Situations

For entities with more than one opinion unit, certain egregious situations could result in 
the auditor expressing an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion on the special purpose 
financial statements as a whole. For example, the auditor should express

	 an adverse opinion on the special purpose financial statements as a whole intended 
to be a complete set of financial statements when the required government-wide or 
fund financial statements are not presented, and the substance of the presentations 
is not otherwise met.

	 an adverse opinion on the special purpose financial statements as a whole intended 
to be a complete set of financial statements when adverse opinions are appropriate 
for both the governmental activities’ and business-type activities’ opinion units (or 
for only the governmental activities’ opinion unit if that is the only applicable pre-
sentation for the primary government in the reporting entity’s government-wide 
financial statements).

	 a disclaimer of opinion, if the auditor has elected not to withdraw from the engage-
ment, on the special purpose financial statements as a whole intended to be a com-
plete set of financial statements when disclaimers of opinion are appropriate for 
both the governmental activities’ and business-type activities’ opinion units (or for 
only the governmental activities’ opinion unit if that is the only applicable presen-
tation for the primary government in the reporting entity’s government-wide fi-
nancial statements). 
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Other situations occur in which adverse opinions or disclaimers of opinion on one or 
more opinion units are appropriate. In those situations, the auditor should use profes-
sional judgment to evaluate the facts and circumstances of those opinion modifications to 
determine whether the special purpose financial statement presentation is of such a nature 
that the financial statements, as a whole, are not presented fairly in accordance with the 
special purpose framework, or if it is appropriate to disclaim an opinion on the financial 
statements as a whole.

Illustration 8 in appendix C of this practice aid provides an example auditor’s report that 
expresses an adverse opinion on special purpose financial statements as a whole when a 
government presents only fund financial statements and does not present government-
wide financial statements in a special purpose framework presentation intended to be a 
complete set of financial statements.

Omission of Component Units

Governments sometimes present special purpose financial statements that omit the finan-
cial information of one or more (but not all) component units. Similar to GAAP financial 
statements, the auditor’s response to this omission depends on the materiality of the omis-
sion in relation to the relevant opinion unit(s). When an omitted component unit should 
have been presented as a blended component unit, the auditor considers (a) whether the 
omitted component unit would have been presented as a major fund or, instead, as part of 
the opinion unit that includes the aggregate remaining fund information and (b) quantita-
tive and qualitative factors in evaluating the materiality of the omission in the context of 
the relevant opinion unit. When the omitted component unit is fiduciary in nature, the 
auditor considers the omission within the context of the opinion unit that includes the 
aggregate remaining fund information. When the omitted component unit should have 
been discretely presented, the auditor considers the omission within the context of the 
opinion unit that includes the aggregate discretely presented component units. 

However, when the auditor is asked to render an opinion on special purpose basic finan-
cial statements of the primary government, excluding all component units, under certain 
circumstances, the auditor could issue unmodified audit opinions on the primary govern-
ment’s special purpose financial statements. In these circumstances, the auditor should 
consult and follow the guidance in chapter 15 of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide 
State and Local Governments applicable to such reporting.
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Use of Multiple Frameworks Within a Reporting Entity’s 
Basic Financial Statements

Governments sometimes present special purpose basic financial statements for the report-
ing entity that include financial information for a fund, a department, an agency, or a 
component unit that is presented in accordance with a basis of accounting other than the 
special purpose framework used for the rest of the reporting entity. For example, man-
agement of a municipal government might present financial statements for a discretely 
presented business-type activity component unit (such as a utility authority) within the 
reporting entity’s basic financial statements on a GAAP basis, but the remainder of the 
reporting entity (that is, the primary government) is presented in accordance with a cash 
basis or modified cash basis of accounting. Questions often arise about the appropriate 
auditor reporting on these financial statements that use more than one financial report-
ing framework for the financial information reported within the reporting entity’s basic 
financial statements. 

Unless required to do so by an applicable regulatory basis framework, it is discouraged for 
a government to use multiple financial reporting frameworks (such as mixing special pur-
pose framework statements with GAAP framework statements) within a single reporting 
entity’s basic financial statements and for the auditor to issue unmodified opinions for all 
the opinion units within such presentation about these different frameworks. In such cases 
when mixing of frameworks is not required by an applicable regulatory basis framework, 
management and the auditor are encouraged to consider the following options if the use 
of different frameworks is elected:

1.	 Preparing, auditing, and reporting on separate basic financial statements for the 
reporting units that follow the same financial reporting framework (for example, 
one set of financial statements and accompanying auditor’s report on the special 
purpose financial statements of the primary government and other separate sets of 
financial statements and accompanying auditor’s reports on the GAAP financial 
statements of discretely presented component units)

2.	 Including the special purpose and GAAP financial statements within the same pre-
sentation, with the auditor expressing a qualified or an adverse opinion on the 
opinion unit’s basic financial statements presented that do not follow the financial 
reporting framework used for the majority of the reporting entity’s presentation 
(for example, expressing a qualified or an adverse opinion on the discretely pre-
sented component unit opinion unit that includes a GAAP-basis presentation for a 
discretely presented component unit when the remainder of the financial reporting 
entity is presented in accordance with a special purpose framework)
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If option 1 is selected, it would be considered acceptable to include the separate sets of 
financial statements and auditor’s reports within the same reporting package, provided 
they are clearly presented as separate presentations with separate auditor reports. In other 
words, the audit would be considered separate financial statement audits, each with their 
own statements, disclosures, and auditor reports. 

See illustration 10 in appendix C of this practice aid for an example auditor’s report that 
implements option 2 and includes an adverse opinion on an opinion unit that presents fi-
nancial statements in accordance with GAAP along with unmodified opinions on all other 
opinion units that apply a special purpose framework. 

Practice Pointer: Reconciling Special Purpose Basic Financial State-
ments and Supplementary Information Using Different Frameworks. 
As previously noted, it is discouraged to mix financial reporting frame-
works within the basic financial statements of a financial reporting entity 
unless it is done to meet the requirements of a regulatory basis framework. 
However, it is considered acceptable to present SI that accompanies the 
special purpose basic financial statements on a financial reporting frame-
work other than that used in the special purpose basic financial state-
ments, provided the preparer can reconcile the SI to the special purpose 
basic financial statements or the underlying accounting and other records 
used in preparing the special purpose basic financial statements. For ex-
ample, it would be considered acceptable to present an SI Schedule of 
Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA) pursuant to single audit require-
ments on a GAAP-basis framework when the basic financial statements 
are presented in accordance with a special purpose framework, provided 
the preparer can reconcile the SEFA to the underlying accounting and 
other records used in preparing the special purpose basic financial state-
ments. The presentation of a GAAP basis SEFA to accompany basic 
financial statements prepared in accordance with a special purpose frame-
work does not change the fact that the auditee cannot be considered a 
low-risk auditee for purposes of major program determination in a single 
audit, as discussed in chapter 1, because of the use of a non-required spe-
cial purpose framework.
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Emphasis-of-Matter and Other-Matter Paragraphs 
in Auditor’s Reports on Special Purpose Financial 
Statements

AU-C section 706 discusses the circumstances when it is required or appropriate to in-
clude emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraphs in the auditor’s report. Emphasis-of-
matter and other-matter paragraphs are intended to draw report users’ attention to matters 
either presented or disclosed in the financial statements or other matters not presented 
or disclosed that are fundamental or relevant to the users’ understanding of the financial 
statements. 

The requirements of AU-C section 800 expand upon the requirements of AU-C section 
706 by adding the following additional reporting requirements relevant to emphasis-of-
matter and other-matter paragraphs for auditor’s reports on special purpose financial 
statements:

	 When the special purpose financial statements are prepared in accordance with a 
cash basis, modified cash basis, or regulatory basis of accounting (when the regula-
tory basis statements and auditor’s report are not intended for general use), in ac-
cordance with paragraph .19 of AU-C section 800, the auditor’s reports should 
include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph under an appropriate heading and im-
mediately after the opinion paragraph that indicates the financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with the applicable special purpose framework and states 
that the framework is a basis other than GAAP.

Example 4-13: Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraph—Use of a Special  
Purpose Framework

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements that describes the basis of ac-
counting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the modified cash 
basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinions are not modified 
with respect to this matter. 

	 If the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements or fi-
nancial reporting provisions of a governmental regulatory agency to whose jurisdic-
tion the entity is subject (regulatory basis), and the financial statements and 

04-PA-OCB-Chapter 04.indd   71 1/22/16   1:04 PM



72	 © 2016, AICPA

auditor’s report are not intended for general use, in accordance with paragraph .20 
of AU-C section 800, the auditor’s report should also include an other-matter 
paragraph under an appropriate heading and immediately after the opinion para-
graph and any emphasis-of-matter paragraph that restricts the use of the auditor’s 
report solely to those within the entity and the regulatory agencies to whose juris-
diction the entity is subject. This restricted-use language is appropriate even when 
the auditor’s report cites that the audit was performed in accordance with the Yel-
low Book and is appropriate for use rather than the alert language that describes 
the purpose communication and that it is not suitable for any purpose as discussed 
in AU-C section 905, Alert That Restricts the Use of the Auditor’s Written Commu-
nication (AICPA, Professional Standards).

Example 4-14: Other-Matter Paragraph—Regulatory Basis Restricted Use

Restriction on Use

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the governing body and 
management of City of Example, Any State, and for the State Division for Local Gov-
ernments and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

See illustration 3 in appendix C of this practice aid for an example auditor’s report on 
regulatory basis financial statements that are not intended for general use.

Reporting on Regulatory Basis Financial Statements 
Intended for General Use

When special purpose financial statements are prepared in accordance with a regulatory 
basis of accounting, and the financial statements and auditor’s report are intended for 
general use, in accordance with paragraph .21 of AU-C section 800, the auditor’s reports 
do not include the emphasis-of-matter paragraph or other-matter paragraph illustrated in 
the preceding examples 4-13 and 4-14. Instead, the auditor should express a qualified or 
adverse opinion indicating that the special purpose financial statements are not presented 
fairly, in accordance with GAAP, and then, in a separate paragraph, under an appropriate 
heading, the auditor should express an opinion or opinions about whether the financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with the regulatory basis of accounting.
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Example 4-15: Opinion-Related Paragraphs—Regulatory Basis Statements 
Intended for General Use

Basis for Adverse Opinion on U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

As described in Note X to the financial statements, the financial statements are pre-
pared by ABC Government Authority on the basis of the financial reporting provisions 
of Section Y of Regulation Z of Any State Statutes, which is a basis of accounting other 
than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, to meet 
the requirements of [identify to the applicable entity]. 

The effects on the financial statements of the variances between the regulatory basis of 
accounting described in Note X and accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America, although not reasonably determinable, are presumed to be 
material. 

Adverse Opinion on U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the “Basis for 
Adverse Opinion on U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” paragraph, the 
financial statements referred to above do not present fairly, in accordance with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the financial position 
of ABC Government Authority as of December 31, 20XX, or the changes in net posi-
tion and cash flows thereof for the year then ended.

Unmodified Opinion on Regulatory Basis of Accounting 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the regulatory basis net position of ABC Government Authority as of Decem-
ber 31, 20XX, and the regulatory basis changes in net position and regulatory basis 
cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting 
provisions of Section Y of Regulation Z of Any State Statutes described in Note X. 

See illustration 4 in appendix C of this practice aid for an example auditor’s report on 
regulatory basis financial statements intended for general use.
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Reporting on SI and OI Accompanying Special Purpose 
Basic Financial Statements

A government may present its special purpose basic financial statements in a document 
that includes various financial and nonfinancial information presented outside the basic 
financial statements. As discussed in chapter 3 of this practice aid, information that GASB 
requires to accompany a government’s basic financial statements is not applicable to spe-
cial purpose financial statements. However, special purpose basic financial statements may 
voluntarily be accompanied by this type of information, such as management’s discus-
sion and analysis and certain budgetary comparisons, pension and other postemployment 
benefit plan schedules, risk financing information, and capital asset condition assessment 
information, to the extent applicable. Governments may also voluntarily include addi-
tional OI, such as introductory information (including a letter of transmittal), combining 
and individual non-major fund financial statements or schedules, and statistical tables to 
further supplement and expand upon the special purpose basic financial statements. 

The auditor’s responsibilities for reporting on SI or OI accompanying basic special pur-
pose financial statements will depend on the nature of the information and the terms of 
the auditor’s engagement. Generally, the auditor’s responsibilities for OI are addressed in 
AU-C section 720, Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial State-
ments (AICPA, Professional Standards), that indicates the objective of the auditor is to re-
spond appropriately when the auditor becomes aware that documents containing audited 
financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon include OI that could undermine the 
credibility of those financial statements and the auditor’s report. 

However, if the auditor is engaged to provide an opinion on whether such OI is fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the special purpose basic financial statements, 
it is appropriate for the auditor to follow the guidance in AU-C section 725, Supplemen-
tary Information in Relation to the Financial Statements as a Whole (AICPA, Professional 
Standards). When engaged to report on SI or OI in relation to the financial statements as 
a whole, the auditor’s objective is to evaluate the presentation and report on whether the 
SI is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
For the auditor to be able to report on whether SI is fairly stated in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole, a number of conditions are applicable, including conditions that 
the SI is derived from, and directly relates to, the underlying accounting records and other 
records used to prepare the financial statements and the information to the same period as 
the financial statements. Therefore, in a typical complete set of financial statements for a 
state or local government, voluntary combining and individual non-major fund financial 
statements could be considered SI reported on in relation to the financial statements as a 
whole, pursuant to AU-C section 725, but statistical tables with information from mul-
tiple fiscal years could be considered OI, pursuant to AU-C section 720.
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Example 4-16: Report Paragraph—Supplementary and Other Information

Other Matters

Supplementary and Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial state-
ments as a whole that collectively comprise the City of Example’s basic financial state-
ments. The budgetary comparison information, combining and individual non-major 
fund financial statements, and the other information, such as management’s discus-
sion and analysis, introductory information and statistical schedules are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial state-
ments. 

The budgetary comparison information and combining and individual non-major fund 
financial statements is the responsibility of management and was derived from and re-
lates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying ac-
counting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 
the budgetary comparison information and combining and individual non-major fund 
financial statements are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic fi-
nancial statements as a whole on the basis of accounting described in Note X.

Management’s discussion and analysis, introductory information, and statistical sched-
ules have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any as-
surance on it.

Chapters 4 and 15 of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Govern-
ments should be consulted for additional guidance on the auditor’s reporting choices re-
garding SI and OI accompanying basic financial statements.

See illustration 2 in appendix C of this practice aid for an example auditor’s report that in-
cludes an other matter paragraph on other information accompanying the special purpose 
basic financial statements.
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Appendix A

Answers to Frequently Asked Questions

These questions and answers have not been acted upon by any technical committees of the 
AICPA and do not represent an official position of the AICPA.

1.	 What constitutes a pure cash basis of accounting? 

	 A pure cash basis of accounting involves the measurement of cash and cash equiva-
lents and the changes therein resulting from cash receipt and disbursement trans-
actions and events. Essentially, the only assets reported on this pure cash basis 
presentation in a statement of net position (or balance sheet) would be cash and 
cash equivalents. The statement of activities (or change statement) would be lim-
ited to reporting cash receipts and disbursements (in other words, the sources and 
uses of cash and cash equivalents). 

2.	 What constitutes a modified cash basis of accounting? 

	 AU-C section 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared 
in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks (AICPA, Professional Standards), 
does not directly define modified cash basis of accounting but indicates that the 
cash basis of accounting includes modifications of the cash basis having substantial 
support. For modifications to be considered having substantial support, the modi-
fications to the pure cash basis of accounting should

	 be made to cash receipt or disbursement transactions or events.

	 have substantial support in GAAP or other accounting literature.

	 be logical.

3.	 What constitutes a regulatory basis of accounting? 

	 AU-C section 800 defines regulatory basis of accounting as a basis of accounting 
the entity uses to comply with the requirements or financial reporting provi-
sions of a regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject. For ex-
ample, a state law or regulation may require a columnar financial presentation 
by fund of revenues and expenditures and changes in fund balance on a basis 
of accounting that recognizes revenues when they result from cash transactions 
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and that recognizes expenditures when the disbursement, encumbrance, or ac-
counts payable is incurred.

4.	 Should capital assets and long-term debt be reported in special purpose financial 
statements of state and local governments?

	 Not necessarily. In a pure cash basis of accounting, such accounting treatment 
would not be applicable because the pure cash basis presentation is limited to re-
porting cash and cash equivalents and changes therein resulting from cash receipt 
and disbursement transactions and events. In a modified cash basis of accounting, 
capital assets and long-term debt arising from cash transactions or events would 
be reported if management elects to modify the cash basis of accounting for such 
GAAP-similar treatment of these transactions or events. In a regulatory basis of 
accounting, the specific regulations generally dictate the treatment and disclosure 
requirements for capital assets and long-term debt. (See the following related ques-
tion on note disclosure requirements.)

5.	 What note disclosures are appropriate for financial statements prepared in accor-
dance with a special purpose framework?

	 Special purpose financial statements intended to be a complete set of financial 
statements include in the accompanying notes a summary of significant account-
ing policies that discusses the special purpose framework applied and how the 
special purpose framework differs from GAAP. In addition, when special purpose 
financial statements contain items that are the same as, or similar to, those in 
financial statements prepared in conformity with GAAP, similar informative dis-
closures are appropriate to the extent applicable to the special purpose framework. 
Special purpose financial statements intended to be a complete set of financial 
statements may either provide the relevant disclosure that would be applicable for 
those items in a GAAP presentation or provide information that communicates 
the substance of that disclosure. Additionally, appropriate disclosures for special 
purpose financial statements include any other disclosures related to matters not 
specifically identified on the face of the financial statements or other disclosures 
considered necessary to achieve fair presentation. 

6.	 How should an entity report the proceeds of capital debt issuances within the  
government-wide statement of activities in accordance with a pure cash basis  
framework? 

	 On a pure cash basis (or a modified cash basis where cash basis is not modified for 
the reporting of debt obligations arising from cash transactions), the proceeds of 
capital debt represent cash inflows that should be reported as receipts or cash basis 
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revenues, rather than as a liability, in the government-wide statement of activities. 
These debt proceeds could be reported (1) as a program receipt (revenue) on a 
program line item reported under a column labeled “Capital Grants, Contribu-
tions and Debt Proceeds,” or  (2) as a general receipt (revenue) labeled “Proceeds 
of Capital Debt.”

7.	 Do the GASB financial statement presentation requirements for state and local 
governments apply to financial statements of those entities prepared in accordance 
with a special purpose framework?

	 Generally, yes. Appendix B, “Fair Presentation and Adequate Disclosures,” of 
AU-C section 800 and chapter 16, “Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance 
With a Special Purpose Framework,” of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide 
State and Local Governments indicate that if GAAP set forth requirements that 
apply to the presentation of financial statements, then special purpose financial 
statements intended to be a complete set of financial statements may either com-
ply with those requirements or provide information that communicates the sub-
stance of those requirements. 

	 As a result, GASB financial reporting requirements for the basic financial state-
ments, including the presentation of the government-wide financial statements 
and fund financial statements, including applicable notes, are applicable to a com-
plete set of cash basis and modified cash basis financial statements. Appropriate 
presentation requirements for regulatory basis financial statements are determined 
by the specific regulatory authorities to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject. 

8.	 How should special purpose financial statements be titled?

	 Terms such as balance sheet, statement of net position, statement of activities, and 
statement of cash flows, or similar unmodified titles are generally understood to be 
applicable only to financial statements that are intended to present net position, 
changes in net position, or cash flows in accordance with GAAP. However, such 
titles would be appropriate if modified to sufficiently inform the reader that the 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework, 
not in accordance with GAAP.

	 For example, “Statement of Net Position—Modified Cash Basis” and “Statement 
of Activities—Modified Cash Basis” would be acceptable titles for the govern-
ment- wide statements within the basic special purpose financial statements.
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9.	 Can an auditor issue unmodified opinions on special purpose financial statements?

	 Yes. Unmodified audit opinions are appropriate when the special purpose finan-
cial statements of an opinion unit present fairly the financial position, changes 
in financial position, and cash flows, when applicable, of that opinion unit in  
accordance with the accounting and financial reporting requirements of the ap-
plicable special purpose framework applied. In other words, the special purpose 
financial statements have no known misstatements that materially affect the fair 
presentation of the statements in accordance with the special purpose framework 
assertions. An unmodified audit opinion on special purpose financial statements 
should meet the specific reporting requirements addressed in AU-C section 700, 
Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional 
Standards), and AU-C section 800.

	 However, if the special purpose financial statements are regulatory basis financial 
statements that are intended for general use, not merely for filing with a regula-
tory agency, unmodified audit opinions on the regulatory basis framework may be 
issued but only after a qualified or an adverse opinion is expressed on the presen-
tation in accordance with GAAP. (See illustration 4 in appendix C, “Example Au-
ditor Reports on Other Comprehensive Basis of Accounting Financial Statements 
of State and Local Governments,” of this practice aid.)

10.	 Can an auditor issue a qualified opinion, adverse opinion, or disclaimer of opinion 
on special purpose financial statements?

	 Yes. Similar to GAAP financial statements, scope limitations that result in the in-
ability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and misstatements resulting 
from departures from the assertions applicable to the special purpose framework 
applied, if material, can result in qualified opinions, adverse opinions, or disclaim-
ers of opinion on special purpose financial statements. Limitations on audit scope 
resulting in the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence can result 
in qualified opinions or disclaimers of opinion, depending on their significance to 
the affected opinion units. Qualified or adverse opinions are appropriate for mate-
rial misstatements resulting from departures from the assertions applicable to the 
special purpose framework applied.

11.	 Should an auditor’s report on special purpose financial statements always contain 
a restricted-use paragraph that indicates the report is intended solely for certain 
specified parties?

	 No. Although a restricted-use paragraph is appropriate for auditor reports on cer-
tain regulatory basis of accounting presentations, it is not applicable to cash basis 
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or modified cash basis presentations. It is also not required for regulatory basis 
financial statements that are intended for general use purposes (i.e., in this case 
an adverse GAAP opinion is included instead). However, if the financial state-
ments are prepared in accordance with a regulatory basis of accounting and are 
not intended for general use, a separate other-matter paragraph should be included 
after the opinion paragraph and any emphasis-of-matter paragraph stating that 
the report is intended solely for the information and use of those within the en-
tity and the regulatory agencies to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject and is 
not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. (See illustration 3 in appendix C of this practice aid.) This restricted-use 
language is appropriate even when the auditor’s report cites that the audit was 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards (the Yellow Book) 
of the Comptroller General of the United States. While AU-C section 905, Alert 
That Restricts the Use of the Auditor’s Written Communication (AICPA, Professional 
Standards), provides that certain reports issued in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards include a purpose alert, versus a restricted use alert, auditor 
reports on general use regulatory basis financial statements do not meet the criteria 
for the alternative purpose alert language. 

12.	 Does the Yellow Book preclude the preparation of special purpose financial state-
ments or the rendering of audit opinions on such statements that cite the Yellow 
Book?

	 No. The Yellow Book does not prohibit the preparation of special purpose finan-
cial statements by state and local governments nor does it prohibit the rendering 
of audit opinions on such statements in auditor reports that cite the Yellow Book. 
The Yellow Book provides audit guidance for audits of financial statements sub-
ject to its standards and does not provide authoritative accounting or financial 
reporting guidance. Therefore, special purpose financial statements can be audited 
under the Yellow Book.

13.	 Does the Office of Management and Budget’s (OMB) Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uni-
form Guidance), preclude the preparation of special purpose financial statements 
in meeting its single audit requirements?

	 Similar to the answer to question 12 with regard to meeting Yellow Book stan-
dards, the OMB Uniform Guidance does not preclude the preparation of special 
purpose financial statements or the rendering of audit opinions on such statements 
in conjunction with a single audit conducted in accordance with its audit require-
ments.  However, an entity’s use of a special purpose framework in the preparation 
of its financial statements, except for a required regulatory basis, would disqualify 
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the entity from low risk auditee consideration for purposes of major program de-
termination in a single audit.

14.	 Do the materiality and opinion unit concepts applicable to auditor reporting on 
GAAP financial statements contained within the AICPA Audit and Accounting 
Guide State and Local Governments apply to auditor reports on special purpose 
financial statements?

	 The materiality and opinion unit guidance in the AICPA Audit and Accounting 
Guide State and Local Governments applicable to GAAP financial statements may 
also be applicable to special purpose financial statements presented in accordance 
with the cash basis or modified cash basis of accounting because such special pur-
pose statements meet the presentation requirements, in substance, applicable to 
GAAP financial statements. Therefore the opinion units concept can be applied 
to such special purpose statements in the same manner as GAAP financial state-
ments. However, such materiality guidance may or may not apply to regulatory 
basis financial statements because the regulatory authority may prescribe financial 
statement presentation requirements that differ from the GAAP financial report-
ing model; therefore, the opinion units concept may not apply. The material-
ity level and opinion units for regulatory basis financial statements are generally 
determined by the financial reporting requirements of the regulatory authority’s 
framework.

15.	 Can an auditor express unmodified opinions on all opinion units in a report-
ing entity’s financial statements that mix financial reporting frameworks, such as 
GAAP and special purpose?

	 Unless required to do so by an applicable regulatory basis framework, it is dis-
couraged for a government to use multiple financial reporting frameworks (such 
as mixing special purpose statements with GAAP statements) within a single re-
porting entity’s basic financial statements and for the auditor to issue unmodified 
opinions for all the opinion units within such presentation. In such cases when 
mixing of frameworks is not required by an applicable regulatory basis framework, 
management and the auditor would generally have the following options to con-
sider if the use of different frameworks is elected:

	 Preparing, auditing, and reporting on separate basic financial statements 
for the reporting units that follow the same financial reporting framework 
(for example, one set of financial statements and accompanying auditor’s 
report on the special purpose financial statements of the primary govern-
ment and other separate sets of financial statements and accompanying  
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auditor’s reports on the GAAP financial statements of discretely presented 
component units)

	 Including the special purpose and GAAP financial statements within the 
same presentation, with the auditor expressing a qualified or an adverse 
opinion on the opinion unit’s basic financial statements presented that do 
not follow the financial reporting framework used for the majority of the 
reporting entity’s presentation
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Appendix B

Illustrative Special Purpose  
Financial Statements of State  

and Local Governments

This appendix contains illustrative examples of special purpose financial statements for 
different types of state and local governmental entities. These financial statements illus-
trate the major points of discussion from chapter 1, “Background and Overview”; chapter 
2, “Recognition and Measurement Issues in Special Purpose Financial Statements of State 
and Local Governments”; and chapter 3, “Presentation and Disclosure Issues in Special 
Purpose Financial Statements of State and Local Governments,” of this practice aid. The 
author’s key points applicable to the example financial statements precede each group of 
examples.

Example special purpose financial statements include the following:

Illustration Type of Government Basis of Accounting

A City Government Modified Cash Basis

B School District Cash Basis

C County Government Regulatory Basis

D Single Program Government (Governmental Activity) Modified Cash Basis

E Single Program Government (Business-Type Activity) Modified Cash Basis

Illustration A — Illustrated Modified Cash Basis Financial 
Statements of a City Government

Illustrated Entity—City Government

These illustrative financial statements provide a complete example of the annual financial 
statements of a hypothetical city government, including the basic financial statements and 
notes to the basic financial statements and voluntary supplementary information (SI). 
They are illustrative only and should not be considered authoritative. This illustration as-
sumes management has voluntarily elected to include management’s discussion and 
analysis and SI to accompany the basic financial statements because such informa-
tion is not required to accompany special purpose basic financial statements.
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These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with a modified cash basis 
of accounting that recognizes certain assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, de-
ferred inflows of resources, revenues, and expenditures or expenses when they arise from 
cash transactions or events, including the reporting of depreciation expense on capital 
assets in the government-wide financial statements for all activities and in the fund finan-
cial statements for proprietary funds. Therefore, the financial statements do not include 
receivables or payables resulting from accruals or any other financial statement elements 
unless they result from cash transactions or events.

The financial statement components illustrated in this example include the following:

Management’s Discussion and Analysis  A—MD&A

Basic Financial Statements:

Statement of Net Position—Modified Cash Basis  A-1

Statement of Activities—Modified Cash Basis  A-2

Balance Sheet—Modified Cash Basis—Governmental Funds  A-3

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances— 
Modified Cash Basis—Governmental Funds  A-4

Statement of Net Position—Modified Cash Basis—Proprietary Fund  A-5

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position—  
Modified Cash Basis—Proprietary Fund  A-6

Statement of Cash Flows—Modified Cash Basis—Proprietary Fund  A-7

Notes to Basic Financial Statements  A-7—Notes

Supplementary Information:

Budgetary Comparison Schedule—Modified Cash Basis—General Fund  A-8

Notes to Budgetary Comparison Schedule  A-8—Notes
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Combining Balance Sheet—Modified Cash Basis—Non-major Governmental  
Funds  A-9

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Bal-
ance— Modified Cash Basis—Non-major Governmental Funds  A-10

Budgetary Comparison Schedule—Modified Cash Basis—Budgeted Non-major  
Governmental Funds  A-11

Illustration A—MD&A

(VOLUNTARY SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)
CITY OF EXAMPLE, ANY STATE

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 20X3

Our discussion and analysis of the City of Example’s financial performance provides an 
overview of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 20X3, within 
the limitations of the City’s modified cash basis of accounting. Please read it in conjunc-
tion with the City’s financial statements that begin on page XX.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The City’s total revenues exceeded total expenses, on the modified cash basis of account-
ing, by $179,436 for the year, resulting in an increase in total net position of 6 percent 
over the previous year. Most of the increase is attributed to the City’s operation of its 
governmental activities.

The City was awarded a $75,000 Water Resources Board Emergency grant to help fund a 
raw water supply project.

The City’s General Fund ended the year with an unassigned fund balance of $211,047 
that represents 22 percent of recurring revenue of the Fund.

The PWA Enterprise Fund reported a $60,636 increase in net position on a modified cash 
basis and ended the year with $447,974 in the unrestricted component of net position.

USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT

This annual report is presented in a format consistent with the presentation requirements 
of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, as applicable to the City’s modified 
cash basis of accounting.
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Report Components

This annual report consists of the following four parts:

1.	 Government-wide financial statements. The Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Activities (on pages XX–XX) provide information about the activities 
of the City government-wide (or as a whole) and present a longer-term view of the 
City’s finances.

2.	 Fund financial statements. Fund financial statements (starting on page XX) focus 
on the individual parts of the City government. Fund financial statements also 
report the City’s operations in more detail than the government-wide statements 
by providing information about the City’s most significant (major) funds. For gov-
ernmental activities, these statements tell how these services were financed in the 
short term, as well as what remains for future spending. For proprietary activities, 
these statements offer short-term and long-term financial information about the 
activities the City operates like businesses, such as the water, sewer, and sanitation 
services.

3.	 Notes to the financial statements. The notes to the financial statements are an integral 
part of the government-wide and fund financial statements and provide expanded 
explanation and detail regarding the information reported in the statements.

4.	 Supplementary information. The annual report includes optional financial informa-
tion, such management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison sched-
ules, and combining statements for non-major funds (that are added together and 
shown in the fund financial statements in a single column). This other supplemen-
tal financial information is provided to address certain specific needs of various 
users of the City’s annual report.

Basis of Accounting

The City has elected to present its financial statements on a modified cash basis of account-
ing. This modified cash basis of accounting is a basis of accounting other than accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Basis of accounting is a ref-
erence to when financial events are recorded, such as the timing for recognizing revenues, 
expenses, and their related assets and liabilities. In accordance with the City’s modified 
cash basis of accounting, revenues and expenses and certain related assets, liabilities, and 
deferred inflows and outflows of resources are recorded when they result from cash trans-
actions or events, except for certain modifications, such as the recording of depreciation 
expense on capital assets in the government-wide financial statements for all activities and 
in the fund financial statements for proprietary fund activities.
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As a result of the use of this modified cash basis of accounting, certain assets and their 
related revenues (such as accounts receivable and revenue for billed or provided services 
not yet collected) and certain liabilities and their related expenses (such as accounts pay-
able and expenses for goods or services received but not yet paid and accrued expenses and 
liabilities) are not recorded in these financial statements. Therefore, when reviewing the 
financial information and discussion within this annual report, the reader should keep in 
mind the limitations resulting from the use of the modified cash basis of accounting.

Reporting the City as a Whole

The City’s Reporting Entity Presentation

This annual report includes all activities for which the City of Example City Council is 
fiscally responsible. These activities, defined as the City’s reporting entity, are operated 
within separate legal entities that make up the primary government and another separate 
legal entity that is included as a component unit. 

The primary government includes the following separate legal entities:

	 The City of Example

	 The City of Example Public Works Authority

The component unit column presentation includes the following legal entity:

	 The City of Example Airport Authority

The Government-Wide Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities

Our financial analysis of the City as a whole begins on page XX. The government-wide 
financial statements are presented on pages XX and XX. One of the most important ques-
tions asked about the City’s finances is, “Is the City as a whole better off or worse off as a 
result of the year’s activities?” The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities 
report information about the City as a whole and its activities in a way that helps answer 
this question. These statements include all the City’s assets, liabilities, and deferred in-
flows and outflows resulting from the use of the modified cash basis of accounting, as 
further defined in the notes to the financial statements.
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These two statements report the City’s net position and changes therein. Keeping in mind 
the limitations of the modified cash basis of accounting, you can think of the City’s net 
position—the difference among assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and de-
ferred inflows—as one way to measure the City’s financial health or financial position. 
Over time, increases or decreases in the City’s net position are one indicator of whether its 
financial health is improving or deteriorating. You will need to consider other nonfinan-
cial factors, however, such as changes in the City’s sales tax base and the condition of the 
City’s roads, to assess the overall health of the City.

In the Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, we divide the City into three 
kinds of activities:

1.	 Governmental activities. Most of the City’s basic services are reported here, includ-
ing the police, fire, general administration, streets, parks, cemetery, and senior citi-
zens. Sales taxes, franchise fees, fines, and state and federal grants finance most of 
these activities.

2.	 Business-type activities. The City, through the Public Works Authority, charges a 
fee to customers to help it cover all or most of the cost of certain services it pro-
vides. The City’s water, sewer, and sanitation systems are reported here.

3.	 Component unit activities. Although the Airport Authority is a separate legal entity, 
the City includes its activities because the City is financially accountable for the 
Authority.

Reporting the City’s Most Significant Funds

The Fund Financial Statements

Our analysis of the City’s major funds begins on page XX. The fund financial statements 
begin on page XX and provide detailed information about the most significant funds, not 
the City as a whole. Some funds are required to be established by State law and bond cov-
enants. However, the City Council establishes certain other funds to help it control and 
manage money for particular purposes or to show that it is meeting legal responsibilities 
for using certain taxes, grants, and other money. The City’s two kinds of funds—govern-
mental and proprietary—use different accounting approaches:

	 Governmental funds. Most of the City’s basic services are reported in governmental 
funds that focus on how money flows into and out of those funds and the balances 
left at year-end that are available for spending. These funds report the acquisition 
of capital assets and payments for debt principal as expenditures, not changes to 
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asset and debt balances. The governmental fund statements provide a detailed 
short-term view of the City’s general government operations and the basic services 
it provides. Governmental fund information helps you determine (through a re-
view of changes to fund balance) whether there are more or fewer financial re-
sources that can be spent in the near future to finance the City’s programs. We 
describe the relationship (or differences) between governmental activities (reported 
in the Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities) and governmental 
funds in a reconciliation at the bottom of the fund financial statements. The City 
considers the General Fund and Capital Improvement Fund to be its significant, or 
major, governmental funds. All other governmental funds are aggregated in a single 
column titled “Non-major Funds.”

	 Proprietary funds. When the City charges customers for the services it provides, 
these services are generally reported in proprietary funds. Proprietary funds are re-
ported in the same way all activities are reported in the Statement of Net Position 
and Statement of Activities. For example, proprietary fund capital assets are capi-
talized and depreciated, and principal payments on long-term debt are recorded as 
a reduction to the liability. In fact, the City’s proprietary (enterprise) fund financial 
statements are essentially the same as the business-type activities we report in the 
government-wide financial statements, but the fund statements provide more de-
tail and additional information, such as cash flows. The City only has one enter-
prise fund: the Public Works Authority Utilities Fund.

The City currently has no fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are often used to account for 
assets that are held in a trustee or fiduciary capacity, such as pension plan assets, assets held 
per trust agreements, and similar arrangements.

A FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE

Net Position—Modified Cash Basis

The City’s combined net assets resulting from modified cash basis transactions or events 
increased from approximately $3.0 million to $3.2 million between fiscal years 20X2 
and 20X3. Looking at the net position and net expenses of governmental and business-
type activities separately, governmental activities had a larger increase than business-type 
activities.
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Changes from 20X2 to 20X3 reflect a favorable increase of 6.0 percent in total activities 
and an increase of 9.3 percent for governmental activities and 3.6 percent for business-
type activities.
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Governmental Activities

To aid in the understanding of the Statement of Activities, some additional explanation is 
given. Of particular interest is the format that is significantly different from a typical State-
ment of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Balance. You will notice that expenses 
are listed in the first column, with revenues from that particular program reported to the 
right. The result is a Net (Expense)/Revenue. This type of format highlights the relative 
financial burden of each of the functions on the City’s taxpayers. It also identifies how 
much each function draws from the general revenues or if it is self-financing through fees 
and grants or contributions. All other governmental revenues are reported as general. It 
is important to note that all taxes are classified as general revenue, even if restricted for a 
specific purpose.

For the year ended June 30, 20X3, the City’s governmental activities were funded as  
follows:

For the year ended June 30, 20X3, total expenses for governmental activities resulting 
from modified cash basis transactions or events amounted to $949,836. Of these total 
expenses, taxpayers and other general revenues funded only $736,133, and those directly 
benefiting from the program funded $151,056 from grants and other contributions and 
$62,647 from charges for services.
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Net Cost of City of Example’s Governmental Activities—Modified Cash Basis

Total Cost of Services
Percentage 

Change Net Cost of Services
Percentage 

Change

20X2 20X3 X2–X3 20X2 20X3 X2–X3

General government $199,410 $202,449 1.5)% $197,250 $197,049 (0.1)%

Public safety 383,943 417,781 8.8)% 276,440 347,463 25.7)%

Cemetery 9,950 8,500 (14.6)% 7,060 4,605 (34.8)%

Streets and public works 173,595 175,551 1.1)% 114,211 129,915 13.7)%

Health and welfare 74,716 85,659 14.4)% — 10,849 —)%

Culture and recreation 57,987 59,896 3.3)% 45,624 46,252 1.4)%

  Total $899,601 $949,836 5.6)% $640,585 $736,133 14.9)%

Business-Type Activities

In reviewing the business-type activities’ net (expense)/revenue resulting from modified 
cash basis transactions or events, certain activities need to be examined more closely. Al-
though the water and sewer service activities reported net revenues of $4,972 and $8,830, 
respectively, the sanitation activity reported a net expense of $59,054. Included in water 
revenue was a $34,234 capital grant from OWRB. For the past few years, the practice of 
funding a portion of sanitation costs with net revenue from the water service activity has 
been the trend. Even with the privatization of the sanitation service during the current fis-
cal year, the sanitation activity still reported net expenses after allocation of indirect costs.
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A FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS

Certain funds experienced noteworthy changes from the prior year and are highlighted as 
follows:

	 In accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting, the General Fund re-
ported revenues of $972,141 and expenditures and net transfers of $917,757, re-
sulting in an increase in fund balance of $54,384.

	 An increase in sales tax revenue in the General Fund of $129,239 from the prior 
year deserves some attention. In analyzing this increase, a majority of the increase 
can be attributed to an additional ½ cent sales tax approved by the citizens in  
October 20X2.

	 The City’s Public Works Authority Enterprise Fund reported a $60,636 increase 
in net position on a modified cash basis and ended the year with $447,974 in the 
unrestricted component of net position.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Over the course of the year, the City Council revised the General Fund budget at various 
times. The final adjusted budget, however, was consistent with the prior year budget. The 
only significant difference between the current and prior year budgets was an increase in 
the sales tax estimate from the prior year.

For the year ended June 30, 20X3, General Fund expenditures were $34,554 above final 
appropriations, and actual resources available for appropriation were $90,581 above the 
final budgeted amount.

Fund Balances—Governmental Funds

For the year ended June 30, 20X3, the City’s governmental funds reported total fund bal-
ances on a modified cash basis of $606,229, of which $50,573 was restricted for specific 
purposes; $13,988 was committed for specific purposes; and $330,621 was assigned for 
specific purposes, leaving a remaining amount of $211,047 as unassigned.

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets—Modified Cash Basis

At June 30, 20X3, the City had $3.2 million invested in capital assets, net of depreciation, 
on the modified cash basis of accounting, including police and fire equipment, buildings, 
park facilities, water lines, and sewer lines (see the following table). This represents a net 
increase of just over $156,000, or 5.2 percent, over last year.
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Primary Government Capital Assets—Modified Cash Basis (Net of Accumulated Depreciation)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Totals

20X2 20X3 20X2 20X3 20X2 20X3

Land $  46,500 $     46,500 $     70,450 $     70,450 $   116,950 $   116,950

Buildings 150,669 157,064 286,195 276,433 436,864 433,497

Other  
  improvements 97,842 98,460 — — 97,842 98,460

Equipment 250,932 461,170 40,189 60,326 291,121 521,496

Infrastructure — 69,749 — — — 69,749

Utility property — — 1,567,359 1,445,376 1,567,359 1,445,376

Construction in  
  progress 216,191 172,141 283,548 308,548 499,739 480,689

  Total $762,134 $1,005,084 $2,247,741 $2,161,133 $3,009,875 $3,166,217

This year’s more significant capital asset additions included the following:

Three Crown Victoria police cars $  75,249

Kenworth fire truck and equipment 161,983

Street project 34,336

Long-Term Debt—Modified Cash Basis

At June 30, 20X3, the City had $1,175,726 in long-term debt arising from modified 
cash basis transactions or events, compared with $972,313 at June 30, 20X2. At June 30, 
20X3, $211,049 of the debt is related to governmental activities, and $964,677 related 
to business-type activities (see the following table). This represents an increase of 21.9 
percent.

Primary Government Long-Term Debt—Modified Cash Basis

20X2 20X3

Refundable utility deposits $  29,450 $     31,214

Capital note obligations — 211,049

OWRB note payable 560,800 551,400

Bank notes payable 382,063 382,063

  Total $972,313 $1,175,726
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES

For the upcoming fiscal year ending June 30, 20X4, the City’s budget is fairly consistent 
with this year.

For the year ended June 30, 20X3, the business-type activities operated for the first full 
year without the sanitation (garbage collection and disposal) department operations per-
formed by City employees. Such activities have been outsourced to the County Solid 
Waste Authority.

For the year ending June 30, 20X4, the Public Works Authority is expecting to receive 
a grant or loan from Rural Development to construct a new wastewater treatment plant. 
The Public Works Authority increased utility rates and will receive an additional transfer 
of ½ cent sales tax from the General Fund to meet the future loan obligations. No further 
rate increases are anticipated in the upcoming year.

The City was awarded a Department of Transportation grant of $295,000 to replace side-
walks in the upcoming year.

CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and creditors with 
a general overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for 
the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial 
information, contact the City Clerk’s office at 300 W. Main St., City of Example, Any 
State or telephone at (555) 555-5555.
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Illustration A-1

CITY OF EXAMPLE, ANY STATE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION—MODIFIED CASH BASIS

JUNE 30, 20X3

Primary Government Component Unit

Governmental 
Activities

Business-Type 
Activities Total

Airport 
Authority

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $   424,933 $   564,294 $   989,227 $21,352

Investments 183,275 — 183,275 —

Due from other governments 48 4,657 4,705 —

Capital assets (Note 3.C.):

  Land and construction in  
    progress 218,641 378,998 597,639 —

  Other capital assets, net of  
    accumulated depreciation 786,443 1,782,135 2,568,578 55,942

    Total Assets 1,613,340 2,730,084 4,343,424 77,294

Liabilities

Due to other governments 2,027 — 2,027 —

Long-term liabilities (Note 3.D.):

  Due within one year 43,755 392,263 436,018 —

  Due in more than one year 167,294 572,414 739,708 —

    Total Liabilities 213,076 964,677 1,177,753 —

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 794,035 1,249,991 2,044,026 55,942

Restricted for:

  Debt service — 67,442 67,442 —

  Other purposes 50,975 — 50,975 —

Unrestricted 555,254 447,974 1,003,228 21,352

Total Net Position $1,400,264 $1,765,407 $3,165,671 $77,294

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.				 
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Illustration A-3

CITY OF EXAMPLE, ANY STATE
BALANCE SHEET—MODIFIED CASH BASIS—GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 20X3

General Fund
Capital 

Improvement Fund

Other 
Governmental 

Funds

Total 
Governmental 

Funds

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $150,015 $218,549 $56,369 $   424,933)

Investments 65,244 111,670 6,361 183,275)

Due from General Fund — — 2,185 2,185)

Due from other governments — — 48 48)

    Total Assets $215,259 $330,219 $64,963 $   610,441)

Liabilities and Fund  
  Balances

Liabilities:

  Due to other governments $    2,027 $         — $       — $       2,027)

  Due to E-911 fund 2,185 — — 2,185)

    Total Liabilities 4,212 — — 4,212)

Fund Balances (Note 3.F.):

  Restricted — — 50,573 50,573)

  Committed — — 13,988 13,988)

  Assigned — 330,219 402 330,621)

  Unassigned 211,047 — — 211,047)

    Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities and Fund  
  Balances $215,259 $330,219 $64,963 $   614,653)

Reconciliation to Statement of Net Assets:

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different 
because capital assets used in governmental activities of $2,017,924, net of accumulated de-
preciation of $1,012,840, and not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the 
funds. 1,005,084)

Some liabilities, including capital debt obligations payable, are not due and payable in the 
current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. (211,049)

Net position of governmental activities $1,400,264)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Illustration A-4

CITY OF EXAMPLE, ANY STATE
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND 

BALANCES—MODIFIED CASH BASIS—GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 20X3

General Fund

Capital 
Improvement 

Fund

Other 
Governmental 

Funds

Total 
Governmental 

Funds

Revenues:

  Taxes $  839,927) $            —) $   27,194) $   867,121)

  Intergovernmental 75,325) 12,000) 102,331) 189,656)

  Charges for services —) —) 43,151) 43,151)

  Fines and forfeitures 12,696) —) —) 12,696)

  Licenses and permits 5,400) —) —) 5,400)

  Investment income 6,424) 9,727) 1,574) 17,725)

  Miscellaneous 32,369) —) 2,500) 34,869)

    Total Revenues 972,141) 21,727) 178,750) 1,170,618)

Expenditures:

Current:

  General Government:

    Managerial 26,353) —) —) 26,353)

    Judge 3,600) —) —) 3,600)

    City clerk 31,361) —) —) 31,361)

    Attorney 7,200) —) —) 7,200)

    General government 122,329) —) 90) 122,419)

  Public Safety:

    Police 208,654) —) —) 208,654)

    Fire 34,506) —) —) 34,506)

    Civil defense 8,448) —) —) 8,448)

    Animal control 22,273) —) —) 22,273)

    E-911 —) —) 91,285) 91,285)

  Cemetery:

    Cemetery 8,500) —) —) 8,500)

  Streets and Public Works:

    Streets 21,436) —) 31,765) 148,420)

  Health and Welfare:

    Nutrition program —) —) 80,498) 80,498)

(continued)
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General Fund

Capital 
Improvement 

Fund

Other 
Governmental 

Funds

Total 
Governmental 

Funds

  Culture and Recreation:

    Senior citizens 21,436) —) —) 21,436)

    Library 5,000) —) —) 5,000)

    Park and recreation —) —) 25,461) 25,461)

  Capital outlay 14,946) 332,426) —) 347,372)

  Debt service—Principal 183) 26,000) —) 26,183)

    Total Expenditures 631,444) 358,426) 229,099) 1,218,969)

Excess deficiency of revenues  
  over expenditures 340,697) (336,699) (52,349)) (48,351)

Other Financing Sources  
  (Uses):

  Transfers in 338,663) 169,331) 15,000) 522,994)

  Transfers out (618,976) —) —) (618,976)

  Transfers to component  
    unit (6,000) —) —) (6,000)

  Capital debt proceeds —) 237,232) —) 237,232)

  Total Other Financing  
    Sources (Uses) (286,313) 406,563) 15,000) 135,250)

Net change in fund balances 54,384) 69,864) (37,349) 86,899)

Fund balances—Beginning 156,663) 260,355) 102,312) 519,330)

Fund balances—Ending $  211,047) $  330,219) $  64,963) $  606,229)

Reconciliation to the Statement of Activities:

Net change in fund balances—Local governmental funds $    86,899)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different 
because repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the 
repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Assets.

 � Capital debt obligation principal payments issuance of new capital debt obligations 
is recorded as capital debt proceeds in the government funds, but the proceeds create 
long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Assets. 26,183)

 � Capital debt proceeds governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures, but 
governmental activities report depreciation expense to allocate those expenditures over 
the life of the assets. (237,232)

 � Capital asset purchases capitalized 344,266)

 � Depreciation expense (101,316)

    Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $  118,800)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Illustration A-5

CITY OF EXAMPLE, ANY STATE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION—MODIFIED CASH BASIS— 

PROPRIETARY FUND
JUNE 30, 20X3

Public Works 
Authority 

Enterprise Fund

Assets

Current Assets:

  Cash and cash equivalents $   443,317

  Restricted cash and cash equivalents 13,436

  Due from other governments 4,657

    Total current assets 461,410

Noncurrent Assets:

  Restricted cash and cash equivalents 107,541

  Land and construction in progress 378,998

  Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 1,782,135

    Total noncurrent assets 2,268,274

Total Assets 2,730,084

Liabilities

Current Liabilities:

  Notes payable—Current portion 392,263

    Total current liabilities 392,263

Noncurrent Liabilities:

  Refundable deposits 31,214

  Notes payable—Long-term portion 541,200

    Total noncurrent liabilities 572,414

Total Liabilities 964,677

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 1,249,991

Restricted for debt service 67,442

Unrestricted 447,974

Total net position $1,765,407

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Illustration A-6

CITY OF EXAMPLE, ANY STATE
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET PO-

SITION—MODIFIED CASH BASIS—PROPRIETARY FUND
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 20X3

Public Works 
Authority  

Enterprise Fund
Operating Revenues:

  Charges for services:

    Water $   434,225)

    Sewer 148,677)

    Sanitation 175,420)

    Landfill 24)

    Penalties 23,744)

    Other 181)

      Total Operating Revenues 782,271)

Operating Expenses:

  Water treatment 166,025)

  Water maintenance 125,402)

  Sewer 63,796)

  Sanitation 183,509)

  Administration/general 122,902)

  Depreciation 156,957)

      Total Operating Expenses 818,591)

      Operating Income (Loss) (36,320)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):

  Investment income 8,392)

  Interest expense and fiscal agent fees (41,077)

  Loss on disposal of capital assets (1,908)

  Miscellaneous revenue 1,333)

      Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (33,260)

      Net Income (Loss) Before Contributions  
        and Transfers (69,580)

  Capital contributions 34,234)

  Transfers in 434,645)

  Transfers out (338,663)

  Change in net position 60,636)

Total net position—Beginning 1,704,771)

Total net position—Ending $1,765,407)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Illustration A-7

CITY OF EXAMPLE, ANY STATE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS—MODIFIED CASH BASIS— 

PROPRIETARY FUND
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 20X3

Public Works 
Authority Enterprise 

Fund

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Receipts from customers $  782,022)

Payments to suppliers (407,082)

Payments to employees (254,552)

Receipts of customer utility deposits 8,971)

Refunds of customer utility deposits (7,207)

  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 122,152)

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities

Transfers to other funds (338,663)

Transfers from other funds 434,645)

  Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities 95,982)

Cash Flows From Capital and Related 
  Financing Activities

Capital grant received for construction of capital assets 34,234)

Purchases of capital assets (72,257)

Principal paid on capital debt (9,400)

Interest paid on capital debt (40,327)

Fiscal agent fees paid on capital debt (750)

  Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Capital and Related  
    Financing Activities (88,500)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Interest and dividends 8,392)

  Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 8,392)

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 138,026)

Balance—Beginning of the year 426,268)

Balance—End of the year $  564,294)

(continued)
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Public Works 
Authority Enterprise 

Fund

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided  
  by operating activities:

  Operating income (loss) $  (36,230)

  Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided (used)  
    by operating activities:

  Depreciation expense 156,957)

  Change in assets and liabilities:

    Due from other governments (1,582)

    Refundable deposits 1,764)

  Miscellaneous nonoperating receipts 1,333)

Net cash provided by operating activities $  122,152)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Illustration A-7—Notes

CITY OF EXAMPLE, ANY STATE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 20X3

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

As discussed further in Note 1.C, these financial statements are presented in accordance 
with a modified cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) estab-
lished by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). These modified cash 
basis financial statements generally meet the presentation and disclosure requirements ap-
plicable to GAAP, in substance, but are limited to the elements presented in the financial 
statements and the constraints of the measurement and recognition criteria of the modi-
fied cash basis of accounting.

1.A. FINANCIAL REPORTING ENTITY

The City’s financial reporting entity comprises the following:

Primary Government:  City of Example

Blended Component Unit:  City of Example Public Works Authority

Discretely Presented Component Unit:  City of Example Airport Authority
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PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

The City of Example primary government is a general purpose local government formed 
as a council-manager form of municipal government under the laws of the State. The 
governing body is an elected five-member City Council, with the Mayor serving as the 
president of the Council. The City is managed by a City Manager appointed by the City 
Council, who serves as the City’s CEO. The City operates the general government activi-
ties of the community, including police and fire protection, street and road maintenance, 
municipal cemetery operation, parks and other culture and recreation, health and welfare, 
and various administrative functions.

BLENDED COMPONENT UNIT

A blended component unit is a separate legal entity for which the elected officials of the 
primary government are financially accountable and that meets the blended compo-
nent unit criteria. A blended component unit meets at least one of the following criteria:  
(a) the blended component unit’s governing body is the same or substantially the same as 
the City Council, and there is a financial benefit or burden relationship with the City, or 
City management has operational responsibility for the component unit; (b) the compo-
nent unit provides services entirely or almost entirely to the City; or (c) the component 
unit’s debt is expected to be repaid entirely or almost entirely with resources of the City. 
The blended component unit’s funds are blended into those of the City by appropriate 
fund type to constitute the primary government presentation. The City’s blended compo-
nent unit is presented subsequently:

Component Unit Brief Description/Inclusion Criteria Fund Included In

Public Works Authority (PWA) Created August 3, 1961, to finance, 
develop, and operate the water, 
wastewater, and sanitation activities of 
the City. Current City Council serves as 
entire governing body (Trustees). Debt 
issued by Authority requires two-thirds 
approval of the City Council.

PWA Enterprise Fund

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT

Discretely presented component units are separate legal entities that meet the financial ac-
countability component unit criteria but do not meet the criteria for blending, as previ-
ously described. The component unit that is discretely presented in the City’s report in a 
separate column is presented subsequently:
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Component Unit Brief Description/Inclusion Criteria

Airport Authority (AA) Created December 5, 1963, to finance, develop, and 
operate the Municipal Airport. The AA governing 
body comprises five members appointed by the City 
Council, has separate management from the City, 
and is responsible for its own debts.

The AA does not issue separately audited component unit financial statements.

1.B. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities display information about 
the reporting government as a whole within the limitations of the modified cash basis 
of accounting. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds. 
The statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities. Govern-
mental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and 
other nonexchange revenues. Business-type activities are financed, in whole or part, by 
fees charged to external parties for goods or services.

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fund financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds, each of which 
is considered to be a separate accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing 
a separate set of self-balancing accounts that constitutes its assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, net position or fund balance, revenues, 
and expenditures or expenses. The city’s funds are organized into two major categories: 
governmental and proprietary. The City presently has no fiduciary funds. An emphasis is 
placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary categories. A fund is con-
sidered major if it is the primary operating fund of the City or meets the following criteria:

a.	 Total assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, 
revenues, or expenditures or expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise 
fund are at least 10 percent of the corresponding total for all funds of that category 
or type.

b.	 Total assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, 
revenues, or expenditures or expenses of the individual governmental fund or en-
terprise fund are at least 5 percent of the corresponding total for all governmental 
and enterprise funds combined.
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The funds of the financial reporting entity are described subsequently:

Governmental Funds

General Fund

The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City and always classified as a 
major fund. It is used to account for all financial resources not accounted for and reported 
in another fund. 

Special Revenue Funds

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of the specific rev-
enue sources that are either restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes 
other than debt service or capital projects. The reporting entity includes the following 
special revenue funds, all of which are reported as non-major funds:

Fund Brief Description

Park and Recreation Fund Accounts for revenues received and expenditures paid for recreational 
services provided by the Park and Recreation Board pursuant to City 
ordinance.

Street and Alley Fund Accounts for gasoline excise and commercial vehicle taxes legally restricted 
for street and alley improvements.

Nutrition Fund Accounts for revenues and expenditures of various nutrition grants re-
stricted or committed to health and welfare purposes.

911 Fund Accounts for E-911 revenues legally restricted for E-911 services.

Cemetery Care Fund Accounts for 12.5% of all cemetery revenues that are legally restricted for 
cemetery use.

ODOC Grant Fund Accounts for revenues and expenditures of a State Department of 
Commerce Grant restricted for tourism per the grant agreement.

Capital Project Funds

Capital project funds are used to account for and report financial resources restricted, 
committed, or assigned for capital outlays, including the acquisition or construction of 
specific capital facilities or other capital items. The reporting entity includes the following 
capital project fund that is reported as a major fund:

Capital Improvement Fund Accounts for contributions and specific revenues and transfers from 
other City funds, as dictated by the City Council, and expenditures 
for various capital outlays and projects as the City Council may 
designate.
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Proprietary Funds

Enterprise Fund

Enterprise funds are used to account for business-like activities provided to the general 
public. These activities are financed primarily by user charges, and the measurement of 
financial activity focuses on net income measurement similar to the private sector. The 
reporting entity includes the following enterprise fund that is reported as a major fund:

Fund Brief Description

PWA Fund Accounts for the activities of the PWA public trust, a blended component 
unit, in providing water, wastewater, and sanitation services to the public.

1.C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Measurement focus is a term used to describe what transactions or events are recorded 
within the various financial statements. Basis of accounting refers to when and how trans-
actions or events are recorded, regardless of the measurement focus applied.

MEASUREMENT FOCUS

In the government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, both 
governmental and business-like activities are presented using the economic resources 
measurement focus, within the limitations of the modified cash basis of accounting, as 
subsequently defined in item (b).

In the fund financial statements, the current financial resources measurement focus or the 
economic resources measurement focus, as applied to the modified cash basis of account-
ing, is used as appropriate:

a.	 All governmental funds utilize a current financial resources measurement focus 
within the limitations of the modified cash basis of accounting. Only current fi-
nancial assets and liabilities are generally included on their balance sheets. Their 
operating statements present sources and uses of available spendable financial re-
sources during a given period. These funds use fund balance as their measure of 
available spendable financial resources at the end of the period.

b.	 The proprietary fund utilizes an economic resources measurement focus within 
the limitations of the modified cash basis of accounting. The accounting ob-
jectives of this measurement focus are the determination of operating income, 
changes in net position (or cost recovery), net financial position, and cash flows. 
All assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of re-
sources (whether current or noncurrent or financial or nonfinancial) associated 
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with their activities are generally reported within the limitations of the modified 
cash basis of accounting.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements are presented in accordance with a modified cash basis of ac-
counting, which is a basis of accounting other than GAAP as established by GASB. This 
basis of accounting involves modifications to the cash basis of accounting to report in 
the statements of net position or balance sheets cash transactions or events that provide a 
benefit or result in an obligation that covers a period greater than the period in which the 
cash transaction or event occurred. Such reported balances include investments, interfund 
receivables and payables, capital assets and related depreciation, and short-term and long-
term liabilities arising from cash transactions or events.

This modified cash basis of accounting differs from GAAP primarily because certain assets 
and their related revenues (such as accounts receivable and revenue for billed or provided 
services not yet collected and other accrued revenue and receivables) and certain liabilities 
and their related expenses or expenditures (such as accounts payable and expenses for 
goods or services received but not yet paid and other accrued expenses and liabilities) are 
not recorded in these financial statements. In addition, other economic assets, deferred 
outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources that do not arise from 
a cash transaction or event are not reported, and the measurement of reported assets and 
liabilities does not involve adjustment to fair value.

If the City utilized accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of Amer-
ica, the fund financial statements for governmental funds would use the modified accrual 
basis of accounting, and the fund financial statements for proprietary fund types would 
use the accrual basis of accounting. All government-wide financial statements would be 
presented in accordance with the accrual basis of accounting.

1.D. FINANCIAL POSITION

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of financial reporting, cash and cash equivalents includes all demand and 
savings accounts and certificates of deposit or short-term investments with an original 
maturity of three months or less. Trust account investments in open-ended mutual fund 
shares are also considered cash equivalents.

INVESTMENTS

Investments classified in the financial statements consist entirely of certificates of deposit 
acquired with cash whose original maturity term exceeds three months. Investments are 
carried at cost, which approximates fair value.
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DUE FROM OTHER FUNDS OR GOVERNMENTS

Receivables and payables to other funds or governments arising from cash transactions 
or events are recorded in the financial statements as a modification to the cash basis of  
accounting.

CAPITAL ASSETS

The City’s modified cash basis of accounting reports capital assets resulting from cash 
transactions or events and reports depreciation, when appropriate. The accounting treat-
ment over property, plant, and equipment (capital assets) depends on whether the assets 
are used in governmental fund operations or proprietary fund and similar discretely pre-
sented component unit operations and whether they are reported in the government-wide 
or fund financial statements.

Government-Wide Statements

In the government-wide financial statements, capital assets arising from cash transactions 
or events are accounted for as assets in the Statement of Net Position. All capital assets 
are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual is unavailable. Estimated 
historical cost was used to value the majority of the assets acquired prior to July 1, 20XX. 
Prior to July 1, 20XX, governmental funds’ infrastructure assets were not capitalized. In-
frastructure assets acquired since July 1, 20XX, are recorded at cost. 

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets arising from cash transactions or events is 
recorded as an allocated expense in the Statement of Activities, with accumulated depre-
ciation reflected in the Statement of Net Position. Depreciation is provided over the as-
sets’ estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of depreciation. A capitalization 
threshold of $500 is used to report capital assets. The range of estimated useful lives by 
type of asset is as follows:

Buildings 40–50 years

Improvements other than buildings 10–25 years

Machinery, furniture, and equipment 3–20 years

Utility property and improvements 10–50 years

Infrastructure 25–50 years

Fund Financial Statements

In the fund financial statements, capital assets arising from cash transactions or events 
acquired for use in governmental fund operations are accounted for as capital outlay 
expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Capital assets acquired for use 
in proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same as in the government-wide 
statements.
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LONG-TERM DEBT

All long-term bonds, notes, and other debt arising from cash transactions or events to be 
repaid from governmental and business-type resources are reported as liabilities in the 
government-wide statements. 

Long-term debt arising from cash transactions or events of governmental funds is not 
reported as liabilities in the fund financial statements. The debt proceeds are reported as 
other financing sources, and payment of principal and interest is reported as expenditures. 
The accounting for proprietary funds is the same in the fund financial statements as the 
treatment in the government-wide statements.

NET POSITION/FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS

Government-Wide Statements

Net Position is classified and displayed in three components:

1.	 Net investment in capital assets. Consists of capital assets, including restricted capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of 
any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acqui-
sition, construction, or improvements of those assets and adjusted for any deferred 
inflows and outflows of resources attributable to capital assets and related debt.

2.	 Restricted. Consists of restricted assets reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources related to those assets, with restriction constraints placed on the use ei-
ther by external groups, such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws and regu-
lations of other governments, or law through constitutional provisions or enabling 
legislation.

3.	 Unrestricted. Net amount of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and 
deferred inflows of resources that are not included in the determination of net in-
vestment in capital assets or the restricted component of net position.

It is the City’s policy to first use restricted net resources prior to the use of unrestricted net 
resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unre-
stricted net resources are available.

Fund Financial Statements

Governmental Funds

The difference among assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows of gov-
ernmental funds is reported as fund balance and classified as nonspendable, restricted, 
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committed, assigned, and unassigned based on the respective level of constraint. These 
constraints are defined as follows:

Nonspendable. Amounts that cannot be spent because they either are not in spend-
able form or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Restricted. Amounts constrained regarding use from restrictions externally imposed 
by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments 
or by restrictions imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling 
legislation.

Committed. Amounts constrained regarding use for specific purposes pursuant to 
requirements imposed by formal action of the City’s highest level of decision-mak-
ing authority. (In the case of the City of Example, commitments are evidenced by 
adoption of an ordinance by the City Council.)

Assigned. Amounts constrained by the City’s intent to be used for specific purposes 
but that are neither restricted nor committed. (In the case of the City of Example, 
assignments are evidenced either by resolution of the City Council or by the City 
Manager in written form as approved by vote of the City Council pursuant to City 
policy.)

Unassigned. The residual classification of the General Fund for spendable amounts 
that have not been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes.

It is the City’s policy to first use restricted fund balances prior to the use of unrestricted 
fund balances when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and 
unrestricted fund balances are available. It is also City policy to use committed fund bal-
ances before assigned fund balances and assigned fund balances before unassigned amounts 
when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which amounts in those classifications 
are available to be used.

The City has no formal minimum fund balance policies or any formal stabilization ar-
rangements in place.

Proprietary Funds

The difference among assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred in-
flows of resources of proprietary funds is reported as net position and classified in the same 
manner as the government-wide financial statements, as previously described.
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1.E. REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND EXPENSES

PROGRAM REVENUES

In the Statement of Activities, modified cash basis revenues that are derived directly from 
each activity or from parties outside the City’s taxpayers are reported as program revenues. 
The City has the following program revenues in each activity:

General Government Licenses and permits.

Public Safety Fine revenue and E-911 revenue; operating and capital grants include State 
Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Justice.

Cemetery Grave opening/closing fees and lot sales.

Streets and Public Works Commercial vehicle and gasoline excise tax shared by the State; operating 
grants include a storm damage grant from the Federal Emergency Manage-
ment Agency.

Health and Welfare Operating grant for nutrition program.

Culture and Recreation Rental income, recreation fees, concession sales, and specific donations.

All other governmental revenues are reported as general revenues. All taxes are classified as 
general revenue even if restricted for a specific purpose.

OPERATING REVENUE AND EXPENSES

Operating revenues and expenses for proprietary funds and the similar discretely presented 
component unit result from providing services and producing and delivering goods or ser-
vices. They also include all revenues and expenses not related to capital and related financ-
ing, noncapital financing, or investing activities.

1.F. INTERNAL AND INTERFUND BALANCES AND ACTIVITIES

In the process of aggregating the financial information for the government-wide State-
ment of Net Position and Statement of Activities, some amounts reported as interfund 
activity and balances in the fund financial statements have been eliminated or reclassified.

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Interfund activity resulting from cash transactions or events, if any, within and among the 
governmental and proprietary fund categories is reported as follows in the fund financial 
statements:

a.	 Interfund loans. Amounts provided with a requirement for repayment are reported 
as interfund receivables and payables.

b.	 Interfund services. Sales or purchases of goods and services between funds are re-
ported as revenues and expenditures or expenses.
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c.	 Interfund reimbursements. Repayments from funds responsible for certain expendi-
tures or expenses to the funds that initially paid for them are not reported as reim-
bursements but as adjustments to expenditures or expenses in the respective funds.

d.	 Interfund transfers. Flow of assets from one fund to another when repayment is not 
expected and reported as transfers in and out.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Interfund activity and balances resulting from cash transaction or events, if any, are elimi-
nated or reclassified in the government-wide financial statements as follows:

a.	 Internal balances. Amounts reported in the fund financial statements as interfund 
receivables and payables are eliminated in the “Governmental” and “Business-Type 
Activities” columns of the Statement of Net Position, except for the net residual 
amounts due between governmental and business-type activities, which are re-
ported as Internal Balances.

b.	 Internal activities. Amounts reported as interfund transfers in the fund financial 
statements are eliminated in the government-wide Statement of Activities, except 
for the net amount of transfers between governmental and business-type activities, 
which are reported as Transfers—Internal Activities. The effects of interfund ser-
vices between funds, if any, are not eliminated in the Statement of Activities.

c.	 Primary government and component unit activity and balances. Resource flows be-
tween the primary government (the City and PWA) and the discretely-presented 
component unit (the AA) are reported as if they were external transactions and 
are classified separately from internal balances and activities within the primary 
government.

1.G. USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the modified cash basis of ac-
counting used by the City requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect certain reported amounts and disclosures (such as estimated useful lives in determin-
ing depreciation expense); accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

NOTE 2. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND 
ACCOUNTABILITY

By its nature as a local government unit, the City and its component units are subject to 
various federal, state, and local laws and contractual regulations. The following instances 
of noncompliance are considered material to the financial statements.
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2.A. UNINSURED AND UNCOLLATERALIZED DEPOSITS

In accordance with State law, all uninsured deposits of municipal funds in financial insti-
tutions must be secured with acceptable collateral. Acceptable collateral includes certain 
U.S. Government or Government Agency securities, certain State or political subdivision 
debt obligations, surety bonds, or certain letters of credit. At June 30, 20X3, $57,217 of 
the City’s uninsured deposits were not collateralized. In July 20X3, the City obtained ad-
ditional collateral to secure the uninsured deposits.

2.B. BUDGETARY NONCOMPLIANCE

For the year ended June 30, 20X3, expenditures exceeded appropriations at the legal level 
of control in individual funds as follows:

Fund Department Object Category

Expenditures 
Exceeding 

Appropriations

General Fund N/A Transfers out $93,976

Nutrition Fund Nutrition Program Personal services 4,634

Nutrition Fund Nutrition Program Materials and supplies 1,866

Nutrition Fund Nutrition Program Other services and charges 6,514

NOTE 3. DETAIL NOTES—TRANSACTION CLASSES AND 
ACCOUNTS 

The following notes present detail information to support the amounts reported in the 
basic financial statements for its various assets, liabilities, equity, revenues, and expendi-
tures or expenses.

3.A. CASH AND INVESTMENTS

CUSTODIAL CREDIT RISK—DEPOSITS

Primary Government Deposits

Total City bank deposits of $1,082,539 of the primary government were insured or col-
lateralized, except for $57,215 of deposits at one financial institution that were uninsured 
and uncollaterized and, therefore, subject to custodial credit risk. Total carrying value of 
the deposits was $1,082,739.

Component Unit Deposits

Total bank deposits of $21,352 of the discretely presented component unit were fully in-
sured with Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance. Total carrying value of the 
deposits was $21,352.

06-PA-OCB-Appendix B-1.indd   121 1/22/16   1:12 PM



122	 © 2016, AICPA

CUSTODIAL CREDIT RISK—INVESTMENTS

Investments are limited by State law to the following:

a.	 Direct obligations of the U.S. Government and its agencies and instrumentalities 
to which the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government is pledged or obligations 
to the payment of which the full faith and credit of the State is pledged.

b.	 Certificates of deposit or savings accounts that are either insured or secured with 
acceptable collateral with in-state financial institutions and fully insured certificates 
of deposit or savings accounts in out-of-state financial institutions.

c.	 With certain limitation, negotiable certificates of deposit, prime bankers’ ac-
ceptances, prime commercial paper, and repurchase agreements with certain  
limitations.

d.	 County, municipal, or school district tax-supported debt obligations; bond or rev-
enue anticipation notes; money judgments; or bond or revenue anticipation notes 
of public trusts whose beneficiary is a county, municipality, or school district.

e.	 Notes or bonds secured by mortgage or trust deed insured by the Federal Housing 
Administrator and debentures issued by the Federal Housing Administrator and in 
obligations of the National Mortgage Association.

f.	 Money market funds regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission and in 
which investments consist of the investments mentioned in (a)–(d).

During the year ended June 30, 20X3, the City’s investments consisted solely of open-
ended money-market mutual funds in a financial institution’s trust department relating 
to debt trust accounts and certificates of deposit whose original maturity term exceeds 3 
months. At June 30, 20X3, the carrying value and fair value of the money-market mutual 
fund investments totaled $89,763, and the carrying value and fair value of the certificates 
of deposit totaled $183,275. For purposes of the Statement of Net Position and Statement 
of Cash Flows, the money-market mutual fund investments are classified as cash and cash 
equivalents. For purposes of custodial credit risk, the certificates of deposit are included 
in the preceding deposits’ risk analysis, but the money-market mutual funds are not clas-
sified regarding custodial credit risk because they are not evidenced by specific investment 
securities.

3.B. RESTRICTED ASSETS

The amounts reported as restricted assets comprise amounts held by the PWA for utility 
deposits (refunded upon termination of service or applied to final bill) of $31,214 and the 
amount of mutual funds held in trustee accounts on behalf of the promissory note trust 
accounts in the amount of $89,763.
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3.C. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity resulting from modified cash basis transactions or events for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 20X3, was as follows:

	

Balance at  
July 1, 20X2 Additions Deductions

Balance at  
June 30, 20X3

Governmental activities:

Capital assets not being  
  depreciated:

  Land $     46,500 $         —) $         — $     46,500

  Construction-in-progress 216,191 ––) 44,050 172,141

    Total capital assets not  
      being depreciated 262,691 ––) 44,050 218,641

Other capital assets:

  Buildings 487,570 17,000) –– 504,570

  Other improvements 156,308  10,000) –– 166,308

  Machinery and equipment 768,540 282,930) 1,450 1,050,020

  Infrastructure –– 78,386) –– 78,386

    Total other capital assets at  
      historical cost 1,412,418 388,316) 1,450 1,799,284

Less accumulated depreciation for:

  Buildings 336,901 10,605) –– 347,506

  Other improvements 58,466 9,382) –– 67,848

  Machinery and equipment 517,608 72,692) 1,450 588,850

  Infrastructure –– 8,637) –– 8,637

    Total accumulated  
      depreciation 912,975 101,316) 1,450 1,012,841

Other capital assets, net 499,443 287,000) –– 786,443

Governmental activities capital  
  assets, net $   762,134 $287,000) $  44,050 $1,005,084

Business-type activities:

Capital assets not being  
  depreciated:

  Land $     70,450 $         ––) $         — $     70,450

  Construction-in-progress 283,548 25,000) –– 308,548

    Total capital assets not being  
      depreciated 353,998 25,000) –– 378,998

(continued)
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Balance at  
July 1, 20X2 Additions Deductions

Balance at  
June 30, 20X3

Other capital assets:

  Buildings 483,012 ––) –– 483,012

  Machinery and equipment 155,960 34,855) 2,174 188,641

  Utility property and  
      improvements 3,863,037 12,402) –– 3,875,439

    Total other capital assets at  
      historical cost 4,502,009 47,257) 2,174 4,547,092

Less accumulated depreciation for:

  Buildings 196,817 9,762) –– 206,579

  Machinery and equipment 115,771 12,810) 266 128,315

  Utility property and  
    improvements 2,295,678 134,385) –– 2,430,063

    Total accumulated  
      depreciation  2,608,266 156,957) 266 2,764,957

Other capital assets, net 1,893,743 (  109,700) 1,908 1,782,135

Business-type activities capital  
  assets, net $2,247,741 ($  84,700) $   1,908 $2,161,133

Component unit:

Capital assets not being  
  depreciated:

  Land $     14,000 $          —) $        — $     14,000

Other capital assets:

  Buildings 13,499 ––) –– 13,499

  Improvements 396,466 ––) –– 396,466

  Machinery and equipment 1,300 ––) –– 1,300

  Infrastructure –– ––) –– ––

    Total other capital assets at  
      historical cost 411,265 ––) ––  411,265

Less accumulated depreciation for:

  Buildings 9,524 270) –– 9,794

  Improvements 353,941 4,288) –– 358,229

  Machinery and equipment 1,300 ––) –– 1,300

  Infrastructure –– ––) –– ––

    Total accumulated  
      depreciation 364,765 4,558) –– 369,323

Other capital assets, net 46,500 (4,558) –– 41,942

Component unit capital assets, net $     60,500 ($    4,558) –– $     55,942
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows in the Statement  
of Activities:

  Primary Government:

    Governmental Activities:

      General Government $  11,516

      Public Safety 51,357

      Streets and Public Works 25,283

      Health and Welfare 5,161

      Culture and Recreation 7,999

  Total depreciation expense for governmental activities $101,316

    Business-Type Activities:

        Water $  97,153

        Sewer 45,864

        Sanitation 13,940

Total depreciation expense for business-type activities $156,957

Component Unit Depreciation Expense $    4,558

3.D. LONG-TERM DEBT

The reporting entity’s long-term bonds, notes, and other debt arising from cash transac-
tions or events is segregated between the amounts to be repaid from governmental activi-
ties and amounts to be repaid from business-type activities.

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

As of June 30, 20X3, the long-term debt arising from cash transactions or events, payable 
from governmental fund resources, consisted of the following:

Capital Note Obligations:

 � $75,249 capital note with Ford Motor Credit for 3 police cars, payable in annual  
  installments of $26,183, including principal and interest at 4.45%; final payment  
  due October 2, 20X3. $  49,066

 � $161,983 capital note with Information Leasing Corporation for fire truck and  
  equipment, payable in annual installments of $28,228, including principal and  
  interest at 5.109%; final payment due October 22, 20X8. 161,983

Total Capital Note Obligations $211,049
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BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

As of June 30, 20X3, the long-term debt arising from cash transactions or events, payable 
from proprietary fund resources, consisted of the following:

Notes Payable:

Note payable to State Bank, payable in one installment of $232,063 on July 10, 20X3,  
  with interest at 5.250% $232,063

 � Note payable to Water Resources Board, payable in semiannual installments of  
  $1,500–$26,000, with interest at 4.622%; final payment due August 15, 20XX 551,400

 � 1999 Note payable to State Bank, payable in one installment of $150,000 on July 10,  
  20X3, with interest at 5.250% 150,000

Total Notes Payable $933,463

Refundable Deposits:

 � Refundable deposits reported as a liability within the Statement of Net Assets  
  comprise the following:

Utility Deposits—Refundable $  31,214

CHANGES IN LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt arising from cash transactions or 
events for the year ended June 30, 20X3:

Type of Debt
Balance July 1, 

20X2 Additions Reductions
Balance  

June 30, 20X3

Amount Due 
Within One 

Year

Governmental Activities:

  Capital Note Obligations $         — $237,232 $26,183 $211,049 $  43,755

Business-Type Activities:

  Notes Payable $942,863 $         — $  9,400 $933,463 $392,263

  Refundable Deposits 29,450 8,971 7,207 31,214 ––

    Total Business-Type  
      Activities $972,313 $    8,971 $16,607 $964,677 $392,263
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DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS TO MATURITY

The annual debt service requirements to maturity, including principal and interest, for 
long-term debt, except for refundable deposits, as of June 30, 20X3, are as follows:

Capital Debt Obligations Notes Payable

Year Ended June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest

20X4 $  43,861 $10,550 $412,001 $  25,485

20X5 44,191 10,220 10,563 19,015

20X6 23,507 4,721 12,384 23,985

20X7 23,870 4,358 13,524 23,182

20X8 24,417 3,811 14,803 22,393

20X9–13 51,203 5,253 68,616 70,548

2014–18 –– –– 85,531 62,214

2019–23 –– –– 94,514 55,844

2024–28 –– –– 100,522 40,439

2029–32 –– –– 121,005 30,668

Total $211,049 $38,913 $933,463 $373,773

3.E. INTERFUND TRANSFERS AND BALANCES

INTERFUND TRANSFERS

Transfers between funds of the primary government and between the primary government 
and discretely presented component unit arising from cash transactions or events for the 
year ended June 30, 20X3, were as follows:

Transfers In Transfers Out

Major Funds:

General Fund:

  Park and Recreation Fund $         — $  12,000

  Nutrition Fund — 3,000

  Capital Improvement Fund — 169,331

  City of Example PWA 338,663 434,645

  City of Example Airport Authority— 
    Component Unit — 6,000

    Total General Fund 338,663 624,976

Capital Project Fund:

  Capital Improvement Fund:

    General Fund 169,331 —

(continued)
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Transfers In Transfers Out

Enterprise Fund:

  City of Example PWA:

    General Fund 434,645 338,663

Non-Major Funds:

Special Revenue Funds:

  Park and Recreation Fund:

    General Fund 12,000 —

  Nutrition Fund:

    General Fund 3,000 —

    Total Special Revenue Funds 15,000 —

Component Unit:

  City of Example Airport Authority:

    General Fund 6,000 —

    Grand Totals $963,639 $963,639

The City transfers one cent of its 2½ cent sales tax to the PWA Enterprise Fund for debt 
retirement, as required by the sales tax agreement in the note indenture. Any remaining 
sales tax monies left after debt payments are made are required to be transferred back to 
the General Fund for operations. In addition, the City is required to transfer an additional 
½ cent sales tax to the PWA Enterprise Fund for financing the extension, enlargement, 
and improvement of the sanitary sewer system and the payment of principal and interest 
on indebtedness incurred for said purpose. The City also transferred an amount equiva-
lent to ½ cent sales tax to the Capital Improvement Fund for a period of 12 months. This 
½ cent sales tax transfer to the Capital Improvement Fund is based upon administrative 
authority to assist in the funding of capital improvements.

The other transfers reflected in the preceding schedule are used to move restricted re-
sources collected by the General Fund to the funds authorized to spend the resources.

INTERFUND BALANCES

At June 30, 20X3, the General Fund owed the E-911 Special Revenue Fund $2,185 re-
lated to E-911 restricted revenue received in the General Fund and not yet transferred to 
the E-911 Fund.
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3F. FUND BALANCES

Fund balances of the City’s governmental funds at June 30, 20X3, are classified as follows 
regarding level of constraint:

General Fund
Capital Improvement 

Fund
Other Governmental 

Funds

Fund Balances:

  Restricted for:

    Streets and street lighting $         — $         — $  1,644

    Emergency services — — 24,074

    Cemetery care — — 24,662

    Tourism — — 193

  Committed for:

    Culture and recreation — — 13,988

  Assigned for:

    Capital asset replacement — 330,219 —

    Health and welfare — — 402

  Unassigned 211,047 — —

Total Fund Balances $211,047 $330,219 $64,963

NOTE 4. OTHER NOTES

4.A. EMPLOYEE PENSION AND OTHER BENEFIT PLANS

FIREFIGHTER’S PENSION AND RETIREMENT SYSTEMS

The City of Example, as the employer, participates in the statewide cost-sharing multiem-
ployer defined benefit plan on behalf of the volunteer firefighters. The system is funded 
by contributions from participants, employers, insurance premium taxes, and state appro-
priations, as necessary.

Eligibility Factors, Contribution Methods, and Benefit Provisions

Firefighter’s Pension and Retirement System

Obtaining separately issued financial statements Firefighters Pension and Retirement  4545 Any Street 
Example City, Any State

Eligibility to participate All full-time or voluntary firefighters of a participat-
ing municipality and hired before age 45.

Authority establishing contribution obligations  
  and benefits

State Statute

Employee’s contribution rate N/A
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Firefighter’s Pension and Retirement System

(continued)

City’s contribution rate $60 per volunteer

State obligation State appropriation to fund the unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability

Period required to vest Ten years

Eligibility and benefits for distribution (full time) Twenty years credited service—2.5% of final average 
salary multiplied by the years of credited service, with 
a maximum of 30 years considered; if vested at or 
after age 50 or after 10 but before 20 years of credited 
service, with reduced benefits.

Eligibility and benefits for distribution (volunteer) Twenty years credited service equal to $5.46 per 
month per year of service, with a maximum of  
30 years considered.

Deferred retirement option Yes, 20 years credited with continued service for a 
maximum of 30 or more years.

Provisions for:

Cost of living adjustments (normal retirement) Yes, if vested by 5/XX

Death (duty, nonduty, or postretirement) Yes

Disability (duty or nonduty) Yes

Cost of living allowances Yes

Contributions

Contributions required by State Statute and made for each of the past three fiscal years are 
as follows:

20X1 $1,200

20X2 $1,080

20X3 $1,080

These contributions represent 100 percent of the required contribution in each fiscal year.

4.B. RISK MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruc-
tion of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; employees’ health and life; and 
natural disasters.
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The City manages these various risks of loss as follows:

Type of Loss Method Managed Risk of Loss Retained

Torts, errors, and omissions Purchased commercial insurance None

Workers compensation, health, and life Purchased commercial insurance None

Physical property loss and natural disasters Purchased commercial insurance None

Management believes such coverage is sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured 
losses to the City. Settled claims have not exceeded this insurance coverage in any of the 
past three fiscal years.

4.C. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

COMMITMENTS

Landfill Closure

The City closed a landfill site on September 1, 19XX, in accordance with State and Fed-
eral laws. This closure requires the Authority to place a final cover on its landfill site and 
to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for eight years after 
closure. During fiscal year 20X3, the City used Community Development Block Grant 
funds to finance the closure costs of the landfill. Although postclosure care costs will be 
paid after the date the landfill stops accepting waste, the Authority estimates the remaining 
postclosure care costs to be $55,000 at June 30, 20X3, based upon 2 remaining years of 
monitoring. This amount is based upon what it would cost to perform all postclosure care 
in 20X3. Actual costs may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes in 
regulations. Due to the City’s use of the modified cash basis of accounting, this liability is 
not recorded in the financial statements.

EPA Consent Order

In July 20X2, the PWA was placed under an administrative order on the wastewater facil-
ity by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Many areas were found to be deficient 
by the EPA, including records and reports, operation and maintenance, and laboratory 
practices and procedures. An administrative fine was assessed on the Wastewater Treat-
ment Facility in the amount of $10,000. However, an agreement was made whereby the 
City would pay a $5,000 fine and work with the EPA in establishing a Supplemental En-
vironmental Project. These conditions were met as of June 30, 20X3.
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The preliminary engineering report states that the facility will need to be completely re-
built. The estimate of capital needs related to this project is approximately $4,525,000. 
The City has applied for various grants and loans, including those available through Rural 
Development in order to provide funding for this project. Preliminary engineering work 
related to this project is underway.

CONTINGENCIES

Grant Program Involvement

In the normal course of operations, the City participates in various Federal or State grant 
or loan programs from year to year. The grant or loan programs are often subject to addi-
tional audits by agents of the granting or loaning agency, the purpose of which is to ensure 
compliance with the specific conditions of the grant or loan. Any liability of reimburse-
ment that may arise as a result of these audits cannot be reasonably determined at this 
time, although it is believed the amount, if any, would not be material.

Litigation

The City is a party to various legal proceedings that normally occur in the course of gov-
ernmental operations. As a result of the City’s use of the modified cash basis of account-
ing, the financial statements do not include accrual or provisions for loss contingencies 
that may result from these proceedings. State statutes provide for the levy of an ad valorem 
tax over a three-year period by a City “Sinking Fund” for the payment of any court-as-
sessed judgment rendered against the City. Although the outcome of the previously noted 
proceedings cannot be predicted due to the insurance coverage maintained by the City 
and the State statute relating to judgments, the City believes that any settlement or judg-
ment not covered by insurance would not have a material adverse effect on the financial 
condition of the City. 
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Illustration A-8

(VOLUNTARY SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION)
CITY OF EXAMPLE, ANY STATE

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SECHEDULE— 
MODIFIED CASH BASIS—GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 20X3

Budgeted Amounts

Original Final
Actual 

Amounts

Variance 
With Final 

Budget 
Positive 

(Negative)

Beginning Budgetary Fund Balance: $   156,663 $   156,663 $   156,663 $        —)

Resource (Inflows):

Taxes:

  Sales tax 630,000 750,500 773,308 22,808)

  Franchise tax 70,000 70,000 66,619 (3,381)

    Total Taxes 700,000 820,500 839,927 19,427)

Intergovernmental:

  Alcoholic beverage tax 45,000 45,000 42,500 (2,500)

  Grant revenue 2,000 13,523 32,825 19,302)

  PILOT—Housing Authority 2,500 2,500 — (2,500)

    Total Intergovernmental 49,500 61,023 75,325 14,302)

Fines and Forfeitures:

  Court fines 17,500 17,500 12,365 (5,135)

  Dog pound 500 500 331 (169)

    Total Fines and Forfeitures 18,000 18,000 12,696 (5,304)

Licenses and Permits 2,500 2,500 5,400 2,900)

Investment Income 8,000 8,000 6,424 (1,576)

Miscellaneous:

  Miscellaneous 11,200 11,200 6,055 (5,145)

  Rental income 1,000 1,000 1,400 400)

  Gas royalties 38,000 38,000 24,914 (13,086)

    Total Miscellaneous 50,200 50,200 32,369 (17,831)

Other Financing Sources:

  Transfers from other funds 260,000 260,000 338,663 78,663)

    Total Other Financing Sources 260,000 260,000 338,663 78,663)

Amounts available for appropriation 1,244,863 1,376,886 1,467,467 90,581)

(continued)
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Budgeted Amounts

Original Final
Actual 

Amounts

Variance 
With Final 

Budget 
Positive 

(Negative)

Charges to Appropriations (Outflows):

Managerial:

  Personal services 27,073 27,340 26,165 1,175)

  Materials and supplies 3,500 173 26 147)

  Other services and charges — 2,500 162 2,338)

    Total Managerial 30,573 30,013 26,353 3,660)

Judge:

  Personal services 3,600 3,600 3,600 —)

City Clerk:

  Personal services 29,451 29,656 29,614 42)

  Materials and supplies 2,500 2,295 1,637 656)

  Other services and charges 1,000 1,000 110 890)

    Total City Clerk 32,951 32,951 31,361 1,590)

Attorney:

  Personal services 7,200 7,200 7,200 —)

General Government:

  Personal services 6,519 6,519 6,461 58)

  Materials and supplies 5,000 3,468 3,369 119)

  Other services and charges 130,438 135,406 112,499 22,907)

    Total General Government 141,957 145,413 122,329 23,084)

Police:

  Personal services 167,312 188,291 182,416 5,875)

  Materials and supplies 13,500 10,960 10,364 596)

  Other services and charges 13,500 17,261 15,874 1,387)

  Capital outlay — 2,651 2,651 —)

  Debt service — 183 183 —)

    Total Police 214,312 219,346 211,488 7,858)

Fire:

  Personal services 2,000 2,000 1,080 920)

  Materials and supplies 11,000 5,876 5,876 —)

  Other services and charges 29,000 28,565 27,550 1,015)

  Capital outlay — 10,235 10,235 —)

    Total Fire 42,000 46,676 44,741 1,935)
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Budgeted Amounts

Original Final
Actual 

Amounts

Variance 
With Final 

Budget 
Positive 

(Negative)

Cemetery:

  Other services and charges 8,500 8,500 8,500 —)

Street:

  Personal services 90,079 88,964 86,766 2,198)

  Materials and supplies 8,000 6,699 6,395 304)

  Other services and charges 22,000 24,416 23,494 922)

    Total Street 120,079 120,079 116,655 3,424)

Senior Citizens:

  Personal services 17,866 17,811 16,318 1,493)

  Materials and supplies 1,000 613 165 448)

  Other services and charges 15,264 17,952 4,953 12,999)

  Capital outlay — 1,549 1,549 —)

    Total Senior Citizens 34,130 37,925 22,985 14,940)

Library:

  Other services and charges 5,000 5,000 5,000 —)

Civil Defense:

  Other services and charges 8,448 8,448 8,448 —)

Animal Control:

  Personal services 8,715 18,742 17,037 1,705)

  Materials and supplies 5,000 4,131 2,905 1,226)

  Other services and charges 2,000 2,331 2,331 —)

  Capital outlay — 511 511 —)

    Total Animal Control 25,715 25,715 22,784 2,931)

Other Financing Uses:

  Transfers to other funds 440,735 525,000 618,976 (93,976)

  Transfers to component units 6,000 6,000 6,000 —)

    Total Other Financing Uses 446,735 531,000 624,976 (93,976)

    Total Charges to Appropriations 1,121,200 1,221,866 1,256,420 (34,554)

Ending Budgetary Fund Balance $   123,663 $   155,020 $   211,047 $  56,027)
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Illustration 8-A—Notes

CITY OF EXAMPLE, ANY STATE
NOTES TO BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

JUNE 30, 20X3

Budget Law

The City prepares its annual operating budget under the provisions of the Municipal 
Budget Act (the Budget Act). In accordance with those provisions, the following process is 
used to adopt the annual budget:

a.	 Prior to June 1, the Mayor submits to the City Council a proposed operating bud-
get for the fiscal year commencing the following July 1.

b.	 Public hearings are conducted to obtain citizen comments. At least one public 
hearing must be held no later than 15 days prior to July 1.

c.	 Subsequent to the public hearings but no later than seven days prior to July 1, the 
budget is adopted by resolution of the City Council.

d.	 The adopted budget is filed with the Office of State Auditor and Inspector.

The legal level of control at which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations is the 
object category level by department within a fund. The Budget Act recognizes the following 
object categories as the minimum legal level of control by department within a fund:

	 Personal service

	 Materials and supplies

	 Other services and charges

	 Capital outlay

	 Debt service

	 Interfund transfers

All transfers of appropriations between departments and supplemental appropriations re-
quire City Council approval. The Mayor may transfer appropriations between object cat-
egories within a department without City Council approval. Supplemental appropriations 
must also be filed with the Office of State Auditor and Inspector.

Basis of Accounting

The budget is prepared in accordance with the same modified cash basis of accounting as 
applied to the governmental funds in the basic financial statements. Revenues and expen-
ditures are reported when they result from cash transactions or events.
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Illustration B — Illustrated Cash Basis Financial 
Statements of a School District

Illustrated Entity—School District

These illustrative financial statements provide an example of selected financial statements 
of a hypothetical school district, including a statement of net position, statement of activi-
ties, and fund financial statements for governmental and fiduciary funds. Note that the 
example school district has no enterprise funds, internal service funds, or business-type 
activities. Also note that the school lunch or food services program is accounted for as a 
governmental fund and reported as governmental activities in the government-wide state-
ments. (Food service activities are also sometimes accounted for in enterprise funds and 
reported as business-type activities in the government-wide statements.)

These financial statements are illustrative only and should not be considered authoritative. 
The notes to the financial statements are not illustrated; thus, this set of financial state-
ments is not intended to and does not present complete financial statements as may be 
required.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the basis of cash receipts 
and disbursement (the pure cash basis of accounting). The pure cash basis of accounting 
recognizes cash and cash equivalents and changes in cash and cash equivalents resulting 
from cash receipts and disbursements.

The financial statement components illustrated in this example include the following:

Statement of Net Position—Cash Basis  B-1

Statement of Activities—Cash Basis  B-2

Statement of Cash Basis Assets and Fund Balances and Cash Receipts, 
Disbursements,  and Changes in Cash Basis Fund Balances—Governmental 
Funds  B-3

Statement of Cash Receipts, Disbursements, and Changes in Cash Basis Net  
Position—Fiduciary Funds  B-4

Statement of Activities and Net Position—Cash Basis  B-5
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Illustration B-1

EXAMPLE SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION—CASH BASIS

AUGUST 31, 20XX

Governmental 
Activities

ASSETS

Cash $  7,899,797

Cash equivalents 49,548,147

  TOTAL ASSETS $57,447,984

NET POSITION

Restricted for:

  Special building program $14,777,292

  School lunch program 1,206,130

  Debt service 12,506,837

Unrestricted 28,957,725

  TOTAL NET POSITION $57,447,984
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Illustration B-2

EXAMPLE SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES—CASH BASIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 20XX

Program Cash Receipts

Cash 
Disbursements

Charges for 
Services

Operating 
Grants and 

Contributions

Net 
(Disbursements) 

Receipts and 
Changes in Net 

Position

Governmental activities:

  Instructional services $(  79,916,640) $   314,166 $10,576,556 $(  65,025,918)

  Support services (27,631,856) — 1,214,171 (26,417,685)

  Food services (5,490,622) 4,828,270 674,840 12,488)

  Building maintenance  
    and improvements (19,437,234) — — (19,437,234)

  Principal and interest on  
    indebtedness (14,828,360) — — (14,828,360)

  Other (724,752) — — (724,752)

Net program  
  (disbursements) receipts $(148,029,464) $5,142,436 $12,465,567 (130,421,461)

General receipts:

  Local receipts 82,467,582)

  County receipts 830,704)

  State receipts 44,306,496)

  Federal receipts 521,234)

  Investment income 1,123,104)

  Other 1,626,397)

Total general receipts 130,875,499)

Increase in net position 454,038)

Net position—Beginning  
  of year 56,993,946)

Net position—End of year $    57,447,984)

Author’s Note: In this example, school lunch activities are reported as governmental 
activities. However, a school lunch program may also be reported as business-type 
activities because the activities are funded, in part, by fees charged for the lunch  
services.
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Illustration B-4

EXAMPLE SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH RECEIPTS, DISBURSEMENTS, AND CHANGES IN 

CASH BASIS NET POSITION—FIDUCIARY FUNDS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 20XX

Activities’ Fund
Beginning Net 

Position Receipts Disbursements
Ending Net 

Position

Administrative Office $   302,634 $   250,118 $   333,635 $   219,118

High Schools:

  North 549,336 966,755 1,014,537 501,554

  South 378,954 853,328 850,086 382,196

  West 276,297 1,065,342 1,039,340 302,299

Middle Schools:

  Central 90,044 126,024 136,956 79,112

  North 63,730 109,085 120,282 52,533

  South 3,121 49,838 41,952 11,077

  East 96,728 119,994 144,455 72,267

  West 150,404 187,240 184,026 153,618

  East Central 64,942 194,971 198,412 61,501

Elementary Schools:

  A 12,030 30,519 30,763 11,786

  B 24,518 47,534 53,514 18,538

  C 1,987 15,248 12,887 4,348

  D 5,913 46,886 44,090 8,709

  E 12,139 23,962 29,583 6,516

  F 14,935 25,891 22,535 18,291

  G 12,247 30,973 31,723 11,497

  H 8,342 11,405 12,128 7,619

  I 15,095 19,024 19,471 14,648

  J 16,208 17,912 20,393 13,727

  K 11,782 12,050 16,210 7,622

  L 7,672 20,989 22,515 6,146

  M 9,177 21,149 19,641 10,685

  N 7,555 59,174 57,770 8,959

  O 5,841 34,395 32,430 7,806

(continued)
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Activities’ Fund
Beginning Net 

Position Receipts Disbursements
Ending Net 

Position

  P 18,939 47,621 45,018 21,742

  Q 5,069 24,107 21,761 7,415

  R 25,413 30,667 32,154 23,926

  S 9,007 26,424 23,263 12,168

  T 8,594 33,623 35,438 6,779

  U 12,054 25,334 23,173 14,215

  V 11,120 33,805 28,489 16,526

Summer School 2,050 3,866 120 5,796

Learning Center 93 11,930 10,501 1,522

Skills Factory 49 — — 49

Program Sales 249 721 — 970

Life Skills 1,060 — 594 466

Total Activities Fund $2,235,418 $4,578,105 $4,709,845 $2,103,678

Student Fee Fund

  All Schools

  Net Position

  Cash $1,383,761

  Cash equivalents 813,333

    Total Net Position— 
      Cash Basis Held in Trust $2,197,094
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Illustration B-5

EXAMPLE SCHOOL DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND NET POSITION—CASH BASIS

AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 20XX

Program Cash Receipts

Cash 
Disbursements

Charges  
for Services

Operating 
Grants and 

Contributions

Net 
(Disbursements) 

Receipts and 
Changes in  
Net Position

Governmental activities
  Instructional services $(  79,916,640) $   314,166 $10,576,566 $  (69,025,918)
  Support services (27,631,856) — 1,214,171 (26,417,685)
  Food services (5,490,622) 4,828,270 674,840 12,468)
  Building maintenance and  
    improvements (19,437,234) — — (19,437,234)
  Principal and interest on  
    indebtedness (14,628,360) — — (14,828,360)
  Other (724,752) — — (724,752)
Net program (disbursements)  
  receipts $(148,029,464) $5,142,436 $12,465,567 (130,421,461)
General receipts:
  Local receipts 82,467,562)
  County receipts 830,704)
  State receipts 44,306,498)
  Federal receipts 521,234)
  Investment earnings 1,123,104)
  Other 1,626,397)
Total general receipts 130,875,499)
Increase in net position 454,038)
Net position—Beginning of year 56,993,946)
Net position—End of year $    57,447,984)
ASSETS
Cash $      7,899,797)
Cash equivalents 49,548,187)
    TOTAL ASSETS $    57,447,984)

NET POSITION
Restricted
  Special building $    14,777,292)
  School lunch program 1,206,130)
  Debt service 12,506,837)
Unrestricted 28,957,725)
    TOTAL NET POSITION $    57,447,984)
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Illustration C — Illustrated Regulatory Basis Financial 
Statements of a County Government

Illustrated Entity—County Government

These illustrative financial statements provide an example of selected financial statements 
prepared to comply with certain regulatory requirements. The example financial state-
ments are those of a hypothetical county government and include a summary of cash 
receipts, expenditures, and unencumbered cash and a summary of expenditures—actual 
and budget.

These financial statements are illustrative only and should not be considered authoritative. 
Any other regulatory requirements for presentation and disclosure, such as notes to the fi-
nancial statements, and any other regulatory required information are not illustrated; thus, 
this set of financial statements is not intended to and does not present complete financial 
statements as may be required to meet any specific regulations.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the basis of account-
ing and presentation that meets hypothetical requirements of a state regulatory agency as 
applied to a county government (regulatory basis of accounting). This example regula-
tory basis framework requires only summary financial information by individual fund and 
fund type and recognizes cash and cash equivalents and the changes therein resulting from 
cash receipts and regulatory basis expenditures. In this regulatory basis example, expendi-
tures are recognized when encumbrances or accounts payable are incurred.

The financial statement components illustrated in this example include the following:

Summary of Cash Receipts, Expenditures, and Unencumbered Cash— 
Regulatory Basis  C-1

Summary of Expenditures—Regulatory Basis (Actual and Budget)  C-2
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Illustration D — Illustrated Modified Cash Basis Financial 
Statements of a Single-Program Governmental Activity

Illustrated Entity—Single-Program Government (Governmental Activity)

These illustrative financial statements provide an example of selected financial statements 
of a hypothetical single-program government with multiple governmental funds and en-
gaged in only governmental activities (an example emergency services district). The exam-
ple financial statements present an alternative method of combining the government-wide 
statement of net position and statement of activities with the fund financial statements. 
This presentation is an acceptable alternative to presenting separate government-wide and 
fund statements.

This presentation is illustrative only and should not be considered authoritative. The notes 
to the financial statements are not illustrated; thus, this set of financial statements is not 
intended to and does not present complete financial statements as may be required.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with a modified cash basis 
of accounting that recognizes certain assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, de-
ferred inflows of resources, revenues, and expenditures or expenses when they arise from 
cash transactions or events, including the reporting of depreciation expense and accumu-
lated depreciation on capital assets in government-wide financial statements. Therefore, 
the financial statements do not include receivables or payables resulting from accruals or 
any other financial statement elements unless they result from cash transactions or events.

The financial statement components illustrated in this example include the following:

Statement of Net Position and Governmental Funds Balance Sheet—Modified  
Cash Basis  D-1

Statement of Activities and Governmental Funds Revenues, Expenditures, and  
Changes in Fund Balances—Modified Cash Basis (Alternative Format 1)  D-2

Statement of Activities and Governmental Funds Revenues, Expenditures, and  
Changes in Fund Balances—Modified Cash Basis (Alternative Format 2)  D-3
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Illustration E — Illustrated Modified Cash Basis Financial 
Statements of a Single-Program Business-Type Activity

Illustrated Entity—Single-Program Government (Business-Type Activity)

These illustrative financial statements provide an example of selected financial statements 
of a hypothetical single-program government with only one fund and engaged in only 
business-type activities (a solid waste authority of a state government). The financial state-
ments include a statement of net position; a statement of revenues, expenses, and changes 
in net position; and a statement of cash flows. 

These financial statements are illustrative only and should not be considered authoritative. 
The notes to the financial statements are not illustrated; thus, this set of financial state-
ments is not intended to and does not present complete financial statements as may be 
required.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with a modified cash basis 
of accounting that recognizes certain assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, de-
ferred inflows of resources, revenues, and expenditures or expenses when they arise from 
cash transactions or events, including the reporting of depreciation expense and accumu-
lated depreciation on capital assets in government-wide financial statements. Therefore, 
the financial statements do not include receivables or payables resulting from accruals or 
any other financial statement elements unless they result from cash transactions or events.

The financial statement components illustrated in this example include the following:

Statement of Net Position—Modified Cash Basis  E-1

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position— 
Modified Cash Basis  E-2

Statement of Cash Flows—Modified Cash Basis  E-3
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Illustration E-1

EXAMPLE STATE SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF STATE OF EXAMPLE)

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION—MODIFIED CASH BASIS
DECEMBER 31, 20XX

Assets

Current assets:

  Cash and cash equivalents $         2,450)

  Investments 673,290)

    Total current assets 675,740)

Noncurrent assets:

  Restricted cash and cash equivalents 335,000)

  Capital assets:

    Land 513,298)

    Buildings and equipment 6,728,340)

    Less accumulated depreciation (1,839,774)

      Total noncurrent assets 5,401,864)

        Total assets 6,412,604)

Liabilities

Current liabilities:

  Due to State General Fund 153,200)

Noncurrent liabilities:

  Revenue bonds payable 4,222,870)

    Total liabilities 4,376,070)

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 1,178,994)

Restricted for debt service 335,000)

  Unrestricted 522,540)

    Total net position $  2,036,534)
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Illustration E-2

EXAMPLE STATE SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF STATE OF EXAMPLE)

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN  
NET POSITION—MODIFIED CASH BASIS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 20XX

Operating Revenues

Charges for services $2,854,789)

Miscellaneous 7,988)

  Total operating revenues 2,862,777)

Operating Expenses

Salaries and wages 1,137,654)

Employee benefits 102,753)

Materials and supplies 79,028)

Contractual services 25,391)

Maintenance and repairs 390,912)

Utilities 17,780)

Administrative and general 492,804)

Miscellaneous 19,225)

Depreciation 236,883)

  Total operating expenses 2,502,430)

    Operating income 360,347)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Investment income 210,241)

Interest expense (189,288)

  Total nonoperating revenues 20,953)

    Change in net position 381,300)

Net position—Beginning of the year 1,655,234)

Net position—End of the year $2,036,534)
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Illustration E-3

EXAMPLE STATE SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF STATE OF EXAMPLE)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS—MODIFIED CASH BASIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 20XX

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Cash received from customers $  2,854,789)

Cash paid to employees (1,240,407)

Cash paid to suppliers (1,025,140)

Other receipts 7,988)

  Net cash provided by operations 597,230)

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:

Loans from the State General Fund 153,200)

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing  
  Activities:

Acquisition of capital assets (337,826)

Payment of principal on long-term debt (475,000)

Payment of interest on long-term debt (189,288)

    Net cash used in capital and related financing  
      activities (1,002,114)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Purchase of investments (150,000)

Proceeds from sale and maturities of investments 275,000)

Investment income received 210,241)

  Net cash provided by investing activities 335,241)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 83,557)

Beginning cash and cash equivalents 253,893)

Ending cash and cash equivalents $     337,450)

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash  
  Provided by Operating Activities:

Operating income $     360,347)

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash  
  provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 236,883)

Net cash provided by operating activities $     597,230)
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Appendix C

Example Auditor Reports on  
Special Purpose Financial Statements  

of State and Local Governments

This appendix contains a table that provides an overview of auditor reporting require-
ments for special purpose frameworks and illustrated example auditor reports on special 
purpose financial statements with a variety of different types of opinions. The overview 
table provides a summary of the auditor reporting requirements with regard to opinions 
to be rendered, a description of the purpose of the special purpose financial statements, 
emphasis-of-matter paragraphs, and other-matter paragraph regarding restricted use.

These following example auditor reports illustrate the major points of discussion from 
chapter 4, “Auditor Reporting on Special Purpose Financial Statements of State and Local 
Governments,” of this practice aid:

Illustration Type of Special Report Opinion Basis of Accounting

1 Unmodified Opinions on the Basic Financial 
Statements

Cash Basis or Modified Cash Basis

2 Unmodified Opinions on the Basic Financial 
Statements Accompanied by Supplementary and 
Other Information

Cash Basis or Modified Cash Basis

3 Unmodified Opinion on Regulatory Basis Regulatory Basis

4 Adverse Opinion About GAAP and Unmodified 
Opinion on Regulatory Basis

Regulatory Basis

5 Includes a Qualified Opinion on the Discretely 
Presented Component Unit’s Opinion Unit Because 
of the Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate 
Audit Evidence Related to an Unaudited Component 
Unit and Includes Unmodified Opinions on All 
Other Opinion Units

Cash Basis or Modified Cash Basis

6 Adverse Opinion Regarding an Omitted Material 
Major Enterprise Fund, a Qualified Opinion on 
Business-Type Activities Because of a Material 
Misstatement Related to the Omitted Fund, and an 
Unmodified Opinion on All Other Opinion Units

Cash Basis

(continued)
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Illustration Type of Special Report Opinion Basis of Accounting

7 Adverse Opinion on Governmental Activities 
Because of the Omission of Certain Material General 
Infrastructure Assets and Unmodified Opinions on 
All Other Opinion Units

Modified Cash Basis

8 Adverse Opinion on the Financial Statements as a 
Whole Because of the Omission of Government- 
Wide Financial Statements

Cash Basis or Modified Cash Basis

9 Includes a Disclaimer of Opinion on the Discretely 
Presented Component Unit’s Opinion Unit Because 
One (But Not All) Discretely Presented Component 
Units Are Not Audited and Includes Unmodified 
Opinions on All Other Opinion Units

Cash Basis or Modified Cash Basis

10 Adverse Opinion on Discretely Presented Component 
Unit Because the Component Unit Is Presented 
in Accordance With a GAAP Basis and Includes 
Unmodified Opinions on All Other Opinion Units

Cash Basis or Modified Cash Basis

Overview of Auditor Reporting Requirements for Special Purpose Frameworks Applicable to State 
and Local Governments

Cash Basis or 
Modified  

Cash Basis
Regulatory Basis 

Restricted Use
Regulatory Basis 

General Use

Opinion(s) Opinion(s) on 
special purpose 
framework

Opinion(s) on 
special purpose 
framework

Dual opinion on 
special purpose 
framework and 
U.S. generally 
accepted accounting 
principles 

Description of purpose for which special 
purpose financial statements are prepared

No Yes Yes

Emphasis-of-matter paragraph alerting 
readers to preparation in accordance with 
a special purpose framework

Yes Yes No

Other-matter paragraph restricting the use 
of the auditor’s report

No Yes No

Illustrated examples 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8,  
9, and 10

3 4
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Illustration 1—Auditor’s Report on Cash Basis or Modified Cash  
Basis Financial Statements (Unmodified Opinions on the Basic  
Financial Statements)

Illustration assumptions:

	 Financial statements are of a general purpose government and have been prepared 
by management in accordance with the cash basis or modified basis of accounting. 
Management has a choice of financial reporting frameworks.

	 Auditor’s opinions on all opinion units are unmodified. Auditor is not engaged to 
render an opinion on effectiveness of internal control.

	 Financial statements are not accompanied by any supplementary or other  
information.

Independent Auditor’s Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

Report on Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] finan-
cial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate 
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and aggregate remaining fund in-
formation of the City of Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 20XX, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s 
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of ac-
counting described in Note X; this includes determining that the cash basis [or modified 
cash basis, if applicable] of accounting is an acceptable basis for the preparation of the 
financial statements in the circumstances. Management is also responsible for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.
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Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. [If the audit was performed in accordance with Government Au-
diting Standards, reference to such standards should be added here.] Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi-
nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluat-
ing the appropriateness of accounting policies used, and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial position of 
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented 
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
City of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX; the respective changes in cash basis 
[or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial position; and, where applicable, cash flows 
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if 
applicable] of accounting described in Note X.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements, which describes the basis of 
accounting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the cash basis [or 
modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than 
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accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinions 
are not modified with respect to this matter.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Form and content of this section of the auditor’s report will vary depending on the nature of 
the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities, if any. For example, if the audit is performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, wording would be added here that links 
this report with the related Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters. Guidance for such reporting is provided in the AICPA Audit 
Guide Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits.]

[Auditor’s Signature]
[Auditor’s City and State]
[Date of Auditor’s Report]

Illustration 2—Auditor’s Report on Cash Basis or Modified Cash Basis 
Financial Statements (Unmodified Opinions on the Basic Financial 
Statements Accompanied by Supplementary and Other Information)

Illustration assumptions:

	 Financial statements are of a general purpose government and have been prepared 
by management in accordance with the cash basis or modified cash basis of ac-
counting. Management has a choice of financial reporting frameworks.

	 Auditor’s opinions on all opinion units are unmodified. Auditor is not engaged to 
render an opinion on effectiveness of internal control.

	 Financial statements are accompanied by management’s discussion and analysis, 
introductory information, and statistical tables that are to be reported on as other 
information in accordance with AU-C section 720, Other Information in Docu-
ments Containing Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards), 
and also accompanied by budgetary comparison schedules and combining and in-
dividual fund statements to be reported on as supplementary information in accor-
dance with AU-C section 725, Supplementary Information in Relation to the 
Financial Statements as a Whole (AICPA, Professional Standards), and such supple-
mentary information is fairly stated in relation to the financial statements as a 
whole.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] fi-
nancial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, aggregate 
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 
20XX, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of ac-
counting described in Note X; this includes determining that the cash basis [or modified 
cash basis, if applicable] of accounting is an acceptable basis for the preparation of the 
financial statements in the circumstances. Management is also responsible for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. [If the audit was performed in accordance with Government Au-
diting Standards, reference to such standards should be added here.] Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi-
nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluat-
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ing the appropriateness of accounting policies used, and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made, by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial position of 
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented 
component units, each major fund, and aggregate remaining fund information of the City 
of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX; the respective changes in cash basis [or modi-
fied cash basis, if applicable] financial position; and, when applicable, cash flows thereof for 
the year then ended in accordance with the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] 
of accounting described in Note X.

Other Matters

Supplementary and Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements 
as a whole that collectively comprise the City of Example’s basic financial statements. The 
[identify accompanying supplementary information, such as budgetary comparison informa-
tion and combining and individual non-major fund financial statements, and other informa-
tion, such as management’s discussion and analysis, introductory information, and statistical 
or trend schedules ] are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required 
part of the basic financial statements.

The budgetary comparison information presented on pages [insert applicable page numbers] 
and combining and individual fund financial statements presented on pages [insert appli-
cable page numbers] is the responsibility of management and was derived from, and relates 
directly to, the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including com-
paring and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the budgetary comparison 
information and combining and individual fund financial statements is fairly stated in all 
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material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole on the basis of ac-
counting described in Note X.

Management’s discussion and analysis on pages [insert applicable page numbers], the intro-
ductory information on pages [insert applicable page numbers], and the statistical and trend 
schedules presented on pages [insert applicable page numbers] have not been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accord-
ingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements that describes the basis of ac-
counting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the cash basis [or 
modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinions 
are not modified with respect to this matter.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Form and content of this section of the auditor’s report will vary depending on the nature of 
the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities, if any. For example, if the audit is performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, wording would be added here that links 
this report with the related Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters. Guidance for such reporting is provided in the AICPA Audit 
Guide Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits.]

[Auditor’s Signature]
[Auditor’s City and State]
[Date of Auditor’s Report]

Illustration 3—Auditor’s Report on Regulatory Basis Financial Statements 
Not Intended for General Use (Unmodified Opinion on Regulatory Basis)

Illustration assumptions:

	 Financial statements are of a special purpose government and have been prepared 
by management in accordance with a regulatory basis of accounting prescribed 
by state statutes applicable to the government entity. The regulatory basis finan-
cial statements, together with the auditor’s report, are intended for filing only 
with a state regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject, and the 
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statements are not intended for general use. Because of the regulatory requirements, 
management does not have a choice of financial reporting frameworks.

	 Auditor’s opinion is unmodified. Auditor is not engaged to render an opinion on 
the effectiveness of internal control.

Independent Auditor’s Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying statement of net position—regulatory basis of ABC 
Government Authority as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statement of revenues, 
expenses, and changes in net position—regulatory basis and statement of cash flows—
regulatory basis for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of Section Y of Regula-
tion Z of Any State Statutes, as described in Note X. Management is also responsible for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America. [If the audit was performed in accordance with Govern-
ment Auditing Standards, reference to such standards should be added here.] Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the audi-
tor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
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circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also in-
cludes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used, and the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made, by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the regulatory basis net position of ABC Government Authority as of December 
31, 20XX, and the regulatory basis revenues, expenses, and changes in net position and 
regulatory basis cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with the finan-
cial reporting provisions of Section Y of Regulation Z of Any State Statutes described in  
Note X.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements that describes the basis of ac-
counting. The financial statements are prepared by ABC Government Authority on the 
basis of the financial reporting provisions of Section Y of Regulation Z of Any State Stat-
utes, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Restriction on Use

Our report is intended solely for the information and use of ABC Government Author-
ity and Any State and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 
these specified parties.

Report on Other Legal or Regulatory Requirements

[Form and content of this section of the auditor’s report will vary depending on the nature of 
the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities, if any. For example, if the audit is performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, wording would be added here that links 
this report with the related Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
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Compliance and Other Matters. Guidance for such reporting is provided in the AICPA Audit 
Guide Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits.]

[Auditor’s Signature]
[Auditor’s City and State]
[Date of Auditor’s Report]

Illustration 4—Auditor’s Report on Regulatory Basis Financial Statements 
Intended for General Use (Adverse Opinion on GAAP and Unmodified 
Opinion on Regulatory Basis)

Illustration assumptions:

	 Financial statements are of a special purpose government and have been prepared 
by management in accordance with a regulatory basis of accounting prescribed by 
state statutes applicable to the government entity. The regulatory basis financial 
statements, together with the auditor’s report, are intended for general use. Because 
of the regulatory requirements, management does not have a choice of financial 
reporting frameworks. The variances between the regulatory basis of accounting 
and GAAP are not reasonably determinable and are presumed to be material.

	 Auditor’s opinion on GAAP is adverse, and the opinion on the regulatory basis is 
unmodified. Auditor is not engaged to render an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control.

Independent Auditor’s Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying statement of net position—regulatory basis of ABC 
Government Authority as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statement of revenues, 
expenses, and changes in net position—regulatory basis and statement of cash flows—
regulatory basis for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of Section Y of Regula-
tion Z of Any State Statutes, as described in Note X. Management is also responsible for 
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the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America. [If the audit was performed in accordance with Govern-
ment Auditing Standards, reference to such standards should be added here.] Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the audi-
tor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also in-
cludes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used, and the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made, by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinions.

Basis for Adverse Opinion on U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

As described in Note X to the financial statements, the financial statements are prepared 
by ABC Government Authority on the basis of the financial reporting provisions of Sec-
tion Y of Regulation Z of Any State Statutes, which is a basis of accounting other than 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, to meet the 
requirements of [identify to the applicable entity].

The effects on the financial statements of the variances between the regulatory basis of ac-
counting described in Note X and accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, although not reasonably determinable, are presumed to be material.
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Adverse Opinion on U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the “Basis for Ad-
verse Opinion on U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” paragraph, the finan-
cial statements referred to above do not present fairly, in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the financial position of 
ABC Government Authority as of December 31, 20XX, or the changes in net position 
and cash flows thereof for the year then ended.

Unmodified Opinion on Regulatory Basis of Accounting

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the regulatory basis net position of ABC Government Authority as of December 
31, 20XX, and the regulatory basis changes in net position and regulatory basis cash flows 
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of 
Section Y of Regulation Z of Any State Statutes described in Note X.

Report on Other Legal or Regulatory Requirements

[Form and content of this section of the auditor’s report will vary depending on the nature of 
the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities, if any. For example, if the audit is performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, wording would be added here that links 
this report with the related Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters. Guidance for such reporting is provided in the AICPA Audit 
Guide Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits.]

[Auditor’s Signature]
[Auditor’s City and State]
[Date of Auditor’s Report]

Note: No restricted-use paragraph is required because of the expression of an adverse 
opinion on GAAP.
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Illustration 5—Auditor’s Report on Cash Basis or Modified Cash Basis 
Financial Statements (Includes a Qualified Opinion on the Discretely 
Presented Component Unit’s Opinion Unit Because of the Inability to 
Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence Related to an Unaudited 
Component Unit and Includes Unmodified Opinions on All Other  
Opinion Units)

Illustration assumptions:

	 Financial statements are of a general purpose government and have been prepared 
by management in accordance with the cash basis or modified cash basis of ac-
counting. Management has a choice of financial reporting frameworks.

	 Auditor’s opinions on all opinion units are unmodified, except for the opinion on 
the financial statements of the discretely presented component units, which is qual-
ified because of an unaudited component unit that is deemed to be material to the 
discretely presented component unit opinion unit. Auditor is unable to determine 
whether any adjustments are needed to the amounts reported for the component 
unit. Auditor is not engaged to render an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control.

	 Financial statements are not accompanied by any supplementary or other  
information.

Independent Auditor’s Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] finan-
cial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate 
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 
20XX, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of  
accounting described in Note X. This includes determining that the cash basis [or modi-
fied cash basis, if applicable] of accounting is an acceptable basis for the preparation of the 
financial statements in the circumstances. Management is also responsible for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. [If the audit was performed in accordance with Government Au-
diting Standards, reference to such standards should be added here.] Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi-
nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluat-
ing the appropriateness of accounting policies used, and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made, by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinions.
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Summary of Opinions

Opinion Unit Type of Opinion

Governmental Activities Unmodified

Business-Type Activities Unmodified

Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units Qualified

Governmental Fund X Unmodified

Governmental Fund Y Unmodified

Governmental Fund Z Unmodified

Enterprise Fund A Unmodified

Enterprise Fund B Unmodified

Aggregate Remaining Fund Information Unmodified

Basis for Qualified Opinion on the Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units

The financial statements of Example Component Unit (ECU) have not been audited, 
and we were not engaged to audit the ECU financial statements as part of our audit of the 
City’s basic financial statements. ECU’s financial activities are included in the City’s basic 
financial statements as a discretely presented component unit and represent XX percent 
and XX percent of the cash and cash equivalents and cash receipts, respectively, of the 
City’s aggregate discretely presented component units. 

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the “Basis for 
Qualified Opinion on the Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units” paragraph, 
the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] 
financial position of the aggregate discretely presented component units for City of Exam-
ple, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, and the changes in cash basis [or modified cash basis, 
if applicable] financial position thereof for the year then ended in accordance with the cash 
basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting described in Note X.

Unmodified Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial posi-
tion of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and 
the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Example, Any State, as of June 
30, 20XX, and the respective changes in cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] 

08-PA-OCB-Appendix C.indd   184 1/25/16   12:25 PM



	 © 2016, AICPA	 185

financial position and, when applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in ac-
cordance with the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting described 
in Note X.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements that describes the basis of ac-
counting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the cash basis [or 
modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinions 
are not modified with respect to this matter.

Report on Other Legal or Regulatory Requirements

[Form and content of this section of the auditor’s report will vary depending on the nature of 
the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities, if any. For example, if the audit is performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, wording would be added here that links 
this report with the related Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters. Guidance for such reporting is provided in the AICPA Audit 
Guide Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits.]

[Auditor’s Signature]
[Auditor’s City and State]
[Date of Auditor’s Report]

Illustration 6—Auditor’s Report on Cash Basis Financial Statements 
(Adverse Opinion Regarding an Omitted Material Major Enterprise Fund, 
a Qualified Opinion on Business-Type Activities Because of a Material 
Misstatement Related to the Omitted Fund, and an Unmodified Opinion on 
All Other Opinion Units)

Illustration assumptions:

	 Financial statements are of a general purpose government and have been prepared 
by management in accordance with the cash basis of accounting. Management has 
a choice of financial reporting frameworks. Management has elected to exclude the 
financial statements of a material enterprise fund that, if included, would be re-
ported as a major fund, and related financial information would be included in the 
amounts reported for business-type activities.
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	 Auditor’s opinions on all opinion units are unmodified, except for the expres-
sion of an adverse opinion on the omitted major fund and a qualified opinion 
on the business-type activities’ opinion unit. The amount by which this special 
purpose framework departure would affect the cash basis amounts reported for 
the business-type activities and the omitted major fund is not reasonably deter-
minable. Auditor is not engaged to render an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control.

	 Financial statements are not accompanied by any supplementary or other  
information.

Independent Auditor’s Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying cash basis financial statements of the governmen-
tal activities, the business-type activities, aggregate discretely presented component units, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Example, 
Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 20XX, and the related notes to the finan-
cial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed 
in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the cash basis of accounting described in Note X; this in-
cludes determining that the cash basis of accounting is an acceptable basis for the prepara-
tion of the financial statements in the circumstances. Management is also responsible for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. [If the audit was performed in accordance with Government Au-
diting Standards, reference to such standards should be added here.] Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi-
nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluat-
ing the appropriateness of accounting policies used, and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made, by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinions.

Summary of Opinions

Opinion Unit Type of Opinion

Governmental Activities Unmodified

Business-Type Activities Qualified

Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units Unmodified

Governmental Fund X Adverse

Governmental Fund Y Unmodified

Governmental Fund Z Unmodified

Enterprise Fund A Unmodified

Enterprise Fund B Unmodified

Aggregate Remaining Fund Information Unmodified

Basis for Adverse Opinion on [indicate the omitted fund] and Qualified Opinion on 
Business-Type Activities

Management has not included the [indicate the omitted fund] in the City’s financial state-
ments. Accounting principles applicable to the City’s cash basis of accounting require the 
[indicate the omitted fund] to be presented as a major enterprise fund and financial infor-
mation about the [indicate the omitted fund] to be part of the business-type activities, thus 
increasing the activities’ cash and cash equivalents, cash receipts, and disbursements and 
changing its net position. The amount by which this departure would affect the cash and 
cash equivalents, net position, and cash receipts and disbursements of the business-type 
activities and the omitted major fund has not been determined.
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Adverse Opinion

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the “Basis for Ad-
verse Opinion on [indicate the omitted fund] and Qualified Opinion on Business-Type 
Activities’ paragraph, the financial statements referred to above do not present fairly, the 
cash basis financial position of the [indicate the omitted fund] of the City of Example, Any 
State, as of June 30, 20XX, or the changes in cash basis financial position thereof for the 
year then ended, in accordance with the cash basis of accounting described in Note X.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the matter described in the “Basis for Adverse Opinion on [in-
dicate the omitted fund] and Qualified Opinion on Business-Type Activities’ paragraph, 
the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the cash 
basis financial position of the business-type activities of the City of Example, Any State, as 
of June 30, 20XX, and the changes in cash basis financial position thereof for the year then 
ended, in accordance with the cash basis of accounting described in Note X.

Unmodified Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material re-
spects, the respective cash basis financial position of the governmental activities, aggregate 
discretely presented component units, [indicate the presented major funds not affected by the 
previously described adverse and qualified opinions], and the aggregate remaining fund infor-
mation of the City of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, and the respective changes 
in cash basis financial position thereof for the year then ended, in accordance with the cash 
basis of accounting described in Note X.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements that describes the basis of ac-
counting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with on the cash basis of 
accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally ac-
cepted in the United States of America. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this 
matter.

08-PA-OCB-Appendix C.indd   188 1/25/16   12:25 PM



	 © 2016, AICPA	 189

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Form and content of this section of the auditor’s report will vary depending on the nature of 
the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities, if any. For example, if the audit is performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, wording would be added here that links 
this report with the related Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters. Guidance for such reporting is provided in the AICPA Audit 
Guide Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits.]

[Auditor’s Signature]
[Auditor’s City and State]
[Date of Auditor’s Report]

Illustration 7—Auditor’s Report on Modified Cash Basis Financial 
Statements (Adverse Opinion on Governmental Activities Because of 
the Omission of Certain Material General Infrastructure Assets and 
Unmodified Opinions on All Other Opinion Units)

Illustration assumptions:

	 Financial statements are of a general purpose government and have been prepared 
by management in accordance with a modified cash basis of accounting. Manage-
ment has a choice of financial reporting frameworks.

	 Auditor’s opinions on all opinion units are unmodified, except for the opinion on 
the governmental activities’ opinion unit business-type activities opinion unit that 
is adverse, in the auditor’s judgment, because although the City’s cash basis of ac-
counting has been modified to include capital assets and related accumulated de-
preciation and depreciation expense, management has not recorded certain general 
infrastructure assets and related depreciation on those assets in the governmental 
activities’ financial statements. The amounts by which this departure would affect 
the modified cash basis assets and expenses of the governmental activities have not 
been determined. Auditor is not engaged to render an opinion on the effectiveness 
of internal control.

	 Financial statements are not accompanied by any supplementary or other  
information.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying modified cash basis financial statements of govern-
mental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented compo-
nent units, each major fund, and aggregate remaining fund information of the City of 
Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 20XX, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements 
as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the cash basis of accounting described in Note X. This 
includes determining that the modified cash basis of accounting is an acceptable basis for 
the preparation of the financial statements in the circumstances. Management is also re-
sponsible for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. [If the audit was performed in accordance with Government Au-
diting Standards, reference to such standards should be added here.] Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi-
nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluat-
ing the appropriateness of accounting policies used, and the reasonableness of significant 
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accounting estimates made, by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinions.

Summary of Opinions

Opinion Unit Type of Opinion

Governmental Activities Adverse

Business-Type Activities Unmodified

Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units Unmodified

Governmental Fund X Unmodified

Governmental Fund Y Unmodified

Governmental Fund Z Unmodified

Enterprise Fund A Unmodified

Enterprise Fund B Unmodified

Aggregate Remaining Fund Information Unmodified

Basis for Adverse Opinion on Governmental Activities

As discussed in Note X to the financial statements, although the City’s cash basis of ac-
counting has been modified to include capital assets and related accumulated depreciation 
and depreciation expense, management has not recorded certain general infrastructure 
assets in governmental activities and, accordingly, has not recorded depreciation expense 
on those assets. Accounting principles applicable to the City’s modified cash basis of ac-
counting require that those general infrastructure assets resulting from cash transactions be 
capitalized and depreciated, which would increase the modified cash basis assets, net posi-
tion, and expenses of the governmental activities. The amount by which this departure 
would affect the modified cash basis assets and expenses of the governmental activities has 
not been determined.

Adverse Opinion

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the “Basis for Ad-
verse Opinion on Governmental Activities” paragraph, the financial statements referred to 
above do not present fairly, the modified cash basis financial position of the governmen-
tal activities of the City of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, and the changes in 
modified cash basis financial position thereof for the year then ended, in accordance with 
the modified cash basis of accounting described in Note X.
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Unmodified Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material re-
spects, the respective modified cash basis financial position of the business-type activities, 
the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, and 
the respective changes in modified cash basis financial position and, where applicable, cash 
flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with the modified cash basis of ac-
counting described in Note X.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements that describes the basis of ac-
counting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the modified cash 
basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinions are not modified with respect 
to this matter.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Form and content of this section of the auditor’s report will vary depending on the nature of 
the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities, if any. For example, if the audit is performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, wording would be added here that links 
this report with the related Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters. Guidance for such reporting is provided in the AICPA Audit 
Guide Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits.]

[Auditor’s Signature]
[Auditor’s City and State]
[Date of Auditor’s Report]

Illustration 8—Auditor’s Report on Cash Basis or Modified Cash Basis 
Financial Statements (Adverse Opinion on the Financial Statements 
as a Whole Because of the Omission of Government-Wide Financial 
Statements)

Illustration assumptions:

	 Financial statements are a complete set of financial statements of a general purpose 
government and have been prepared by management in accordance with the cash 
basis or modified basis of accounting. Management has a choice of financial report-
ing frameworks.
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	 Auditor’s report expresses an adverse opinion on the statements as a whole because 
of the omission of the government-wide financial statements. Auditor is not en-
gaged to render an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.

	 Financial statements are not accompanied by any supplementary or other  
information.

Independent Auditor’s Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] finan-
cial statements of each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
City of Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 20XX, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise a portion of the City’s basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of ac-
counting described in Note X; this includes determining that the cash basis [or modified 
cash basis, if applicable] of accounting is an acceptable basis for the preparation of the 
financial statements in the circumstances. Management is also responsible for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America. [If the audit was performed in accordance with Govern-
ment Auditing Standards, reference to such standards should be added here.] Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
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judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi-
nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluat-
ing the appropriateness of accounting policies used, and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made, by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our adverse audit opinion.

Basis for Adverse Opinion on the Financial Statements as a Whole

Management has not presented government-wide financial statements to display the cash 
basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial position and changes in cash basis [or 
modified cash basis, if applicable] financial position of its governmental activities, business-
type activities, and discretely presented component units. Accounting principles applicable 
to the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting require the presenta-
tion of government-wide financial statements. The amounts that would be reported in 
government-wide financial statements resulting from cash basis [or modified cash basis, if 
applicable] transactions or events for the City of Example, Any State’s governmental ac-
tivities, business-type activities, and discretely presented component units have not been 
determined.

Adverse Opinion

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the “Basis for Ad-
verse Opinion” paragraph, the financial statements referred to above do not present fairly, 
the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial position of the City of Ex-
ample, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, or the changes in its cash basis [or modified cash 
basis, if applicable] financial position or, where applicable, its cash flows for the year then 
ended, in conformity with the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting 
described in Note X.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements that describes the basis of ac-
counting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the cash basis [or 
modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than 
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accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is 
not modified with respect to this matter.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Form and content of this section of the auditor’s report will vary depending on the nature of 
the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities, if any. For example, if the audit is performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, wording would be added here that links 
this report with the related Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters. Guidance for such reporting is provided in the AICPA Audit 
Guide Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits.]

[Auditor’s Signature]
[Auditor’s City and State]
[Date of Auditor’s Report]

Illustration 9—Auditor’s Report on Cash Basis or Modified Cash Basis 
Financial Statements (Includes a Disclaimer of Opinion on the Discretely 
Presented Component Unit’s Opinion Unit Because One (But Not All) 
Discretely Presented Component Units Are Not Audited and Includes 
Unmodified Opinions on All Other Opinion Units)

Illustration assumptions:

	 Financial statements are of a general purpose government and have been prepared 
by management in accordance with the cash or modified cash basis of accounting. 
Management has a choice of financial reporting frameworks.

	 Auditor’s opinions on all opinion units are unmodified, except for the financial 
statements of the discretely presented component units on which the auditor ex-
presses a disclaimer of opinion because one, but not all, of the discretely presented 
component units were not audited. Auditor is unable to determine whether any 
adjustments are needed to the amounts reported for this component unit. Auditor 
is not engaged to render an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.

	 Financial statements are not accompanied by any supplementary or other  
information.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] fi-
nancial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major 
fund, and aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Example, Any State, as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 20XX, and the related notes to the financial statements. 
We were also engaged to audit the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial 
statements of the aggregate discretely presented component units. These financial state-
ments collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of ac-
counting described in Note X. This includes determining that the cash basis [or modified 
cash basis, if applicable] of accounting is an acceptable basis for the preparation of the 
financial statements in the circumstances. Management is also responsible for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. [If the audit was performed in accordance with Government Au-
diting Standards, reference to such standards should be added here.] Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi-
nancial statements are free from material misstatement. Because of the matter described in 
the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” paragraph, however, we were unable to obtain suf-
ficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the aggregate 
discretely presented component units.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
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statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi-
nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluat-
ing the appropriateness of accounting policies used, and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made, by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

Except for the matter described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” paragraph, we 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions.

Summary of Opinions

Opinion Unit Type of Opinion

Governmental Activities Unmodified

Business-Type Activities Unmodified

Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units Disclaimer

Governmental Fund X Unmodified

Governmental Fund Y Unmodified

Governmental Fund Z Unmodified

Enterprise Fund A Unmodified

Enterprise Fund B Unmodified

Aggregate Remaining Fund Information Unmodified

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion on the Aggregate Discretely Presented  
Component Units

The financial statements of Example Component Unit (ECU) have not been audited, 
and we were not engaged to audit the ECU financial statements as part of our audit of the 
City’s basic financial statements. ECU’s financial activities are included in the City’s basic 
financial statements as a discretely presented component unit and represent XX percent 
and XX percent of cash and cash equivalents and cash receipts, respectively, of the City’s 
aggregate discretely presented component units.

Disclaimer of Opinion

Because of the significance of the matter described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion 
on the Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units” paragraph, we have not been 
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able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion 
on the basic financial statements of the aggregate discretely presented component units 
of the City of Example, Any State. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on these 
financial statements.

Unmodified Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial position of 
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggre-
gate remaining fund information of the City of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, 
and the respective changes in cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial posi-
tion and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting described in Note X.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements that describes the basis of ac-
counting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the cash basis [or 
modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinions 
are not modified with respect to this matter.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Form and content of this section of the auditor’s report will vary depending on the nature of 
the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities, if any. For example, if the audit is performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, wording would be added here that links 
this report with the related Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters. Guidance for such reporting is provided in the AICPA Audit 
Guide Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits.]

[Auditor’s Signature]
[Auditor’s City and State]
[Date of Auditor’s Report]
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Illustration 10—Auditor’s Report on Cash Basis or Modified Cash Basis 
Financial Statements (Includes an Adverse Opinion on the Aggregate 
Discretely Presented Component Units Because a Component Unit Is 
Presented in Accordance With GAAP and Includes Unmodified Opinions on 
All Other Opinion Units Presented Fairly in Accordance With Cash Basis or 
Modified Cash Basis)

Illustration assumptions:

	 Financial statements are of a general purpose government and have been prepared 
by management in accordance with the cash or modified cash basis of accounting, 
except for the discretely presented component unit (there is only one discretely 
presented component unit presented) whose financial statements are presented in 
accordance with GAAP. 

	 Auditor’s opinions on all opinion units are unmodified, except for the financial 
statements of the aggregate discretely presented component units on which the 
auditor expresses an adverse opinion because of the material differences between 
GAAP and the cash basis or modified cash basis. Auditor is not engaged to render 
an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.

	 Financial statements are not accompanied by any supplementary or other  
information.

Independent Auditor’s Report

[Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial 
statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, aggregate discretely 
presented component units, each major fund, and aggregate remaining fund information 
of the City of Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 20XX, and the 
related notes to the financial statements. These financial statements collectively comprise 
the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the bases of accounting described in Note X. This includes 
determining that the bases of accounting described in Note X are acceptable for the prepa-
ration of the financial statements in the circumstances. Management is also responsible for 
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the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. [If the audit was performed in accordance with Government Au-
diting Standards, reference to such standards should be added here.] Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi-
nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluat-
ing the appropriateness of accounting policies used, and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made, by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinions.

Summary of Opinions

Opinion Unit Type of Opinion

Governmental Activities Unmodified

Business-Type Activities Unmodified

Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units Adverse

Governmental Fund X Unmodified

Governmental Fund Y Unmodified

Governmental Fund Z Unmodified

Enterprise Fund A Unmodified

Enterprise Fund B Unmodified

Aggregate Remaining Fund Information Unmodified
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Basis for Adverse Opinion on the Discretely Presented Component Unit

As further discussed in Note X, the financial statements of Example Component Unit 
(ECU), the discretely presented component unit, are prepared and presented in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These ac-
counting principles differ from the accounting principles applied in the preparation of the 
financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major 
fund, and aggregate remaining fund information that are prepared and presented in ac-
cordance with a modified cash basis of accounting.

Adverse Opinion

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the “Basis for Ad-
verse Opinion on the Discretely Presented Component Unit” paragraph, the financial 
statements referred to above do not present fairly, the cash basis [or modified cash basis, 
if applicable] financial position of the discretely presented component unit of the City of 
Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, and the changes in cash basis [or modified cash 
basis, if applicable] financial position thereof for the year then ended, in accordance with 
the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting described in Note X.

Unmodified Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial position of 
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggre-
gate remaining fund information of the City of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20XX, 
and the respective changes in cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] financial posi-
tion and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
the cash basis [or modified cash basis, if applicable] of accounting described in Note X.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements that describes the basis of ac-
counting. Except for the financial statements of the ECU discretely presented component 
unit, the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the cash basis [or modified 
cash basis, if applicable] of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Except for the aggregate 
discretely presented component units, our opinions are not modified with respect to this 
matter.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Form and content of this section of the auditor’s report will vary depending on the nature of 
the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities, if any. For example, if the audit is performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, wording would be added here that links 
this report with the related Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters. Guidance for such reporting is provided in the AICPA Audit 
Guide Government Auditing Standards and Single Audits.]

[Auditor’s Signature]
[Auditor’s City and State]
[Date of Auditor’s Report]
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Appendix D

Glossary

applicable financial reporting framework. The financial reporting framework adopted 
by management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance in the prep-
aration of the financial statements that is acceptable in view of the nature of the 
entity and the objective of the financial statements or that is required by law or 
regulation.

AU-C. Reference identifier of clarified and recodified AICPA Professional Standards 
sections indicating auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS).

basic financial statements. The primary financial statements of a state or local gov-
ernment intended to be a complete set of financial statements that includes, to the 
extent applicable, the government-wide statement of net position and statement of 
activities; fund financial statements for governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary 
funds; and notes to the financial statements.

cash basis. Also referred to as a pure cash basis, the cash basis of accounting is a spe-
cial purpose financial reporting framework that is commonly referred to as a com-
prehensive basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America (GAAP) that measures and reports cash and cash 
equivalents and the changes therein resulting from cash receipt and disbursement 
transactions and events.

complete set of financial statements. A set of financial statements intended to present 
both financial position and changes in financial position of the entity, the form and 
content of which are determined by the applicable financial reporting framework.

FASB. The Financial Accounting Standards Board, which has primary responsibility 
for establishing GAAP for all entities other than the federal government and state 
and local governments. 

financial reporting framework. A set of criteria used to determine measurement, recog-
nition, presentation, and disclosure of all material items appearing in the financial 
statements; for example, U.S. GAAP, International Financial Reporting Standards 
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promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board or a special purpose 
framework.

GAAP. Generally accepted accounting principles as promulgated by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, FASB, the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory 
Board, and the International Accounting Standards Board.

GASB. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which has the primary re-
sponsibility for establishing GAAP for state and local governments in the United 
States of America.

general purpose financial statements. Financial statements prepared in accordance 
with a general purpose framework.

general purpose framework. A financial reporting framework that consists of account-
ing principles recognized as GAAP. 

MD&A. Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) is a component of required 
supplementary information (RSI) of the state and local government GAAP re-
porting model. MD&A is an introduction to the basic financial statements and an 
analytical overview of the government’s financial activities. In special purpose 
financial statements, MD&A is considered other information (OI) accompanying 
basic financial statements rather than RSI.

modified cash basis. A special purpose financial reporting framework that is consid-
ered a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP that uses the cash basis 
of accounting, with modifications to cash receipt and disbursement transactions 
that have substantial support, such as recording depreciation on capital assets aris-
ing from cash transactions or events.

OCBOA. Other comprehensive basis of accounting. Term commonly used to describe 
the cash, tax, and regulatory bases of accounting and other bases of accounting 
having substantial support. See special purpose framework.

opinion units. Separate materiality determinations for purposes of planning, perform-
ing, evaluating the results of, and reporting on the audit of a government’s basic 
financial statements for each opinion unit. Generally, the opinion units in a govern-
ment’s basic financial statements are (as applicable) the governmental activities; 
the business-type activities; the aggregate discretely presented component units; 
each major governmental and enterprise fund; and the aggregate remaining fund 
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information (non-major governmental and enterprise funds, the internal service 
fund type, and the fiduciary fund types). 

OI. Financial and nonfinancial information (other than the financial statements and au-
ditor’s report thereon) that is included in a document containing audited financial 
statements and the auditor’s report thereon, excluding RSI.

regulatory basis. A special purpose financial reporting framework that is considered 
a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP that an entity uses to com-
ply with the accounting or financial reporting provisions of a regulatory agency to 
whose jurisdiction the entity is subject. An example would be the cash basis of ac-
counting amended for reporting encumbrances as expenditures and liabilities that 
is required to be used for school district financial statements to be filed with a state 
department of education. 

RSI. Information required by GAAP standard setters (such as GASB) to accompany 
the basic financial statements in state and local government financial reports pre-
pared in accordance with GAAP. In special purpose financial statements, RSI is 
not applicable, but such information (such as MD&A and budgetary comparison 
information) is considered voluntary information that may accompany basic finan-
cial statements, and for auditor reporting purposes, it is considered supplementary 
information (SI) or OI accompanying basic financial statements.

SI. Information presented outside the basic financial statements, excluding RSI, that 
is not considered necessary for the financial statements to be fairly presented in 
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Such information 
may be presented in a document containing the audited financial statements or 
separate from the financial statements. SI includes additional details or explana-
tions of items in, or related to, the basic financial statements, combining informa-
tion, historical summaries of items extracted from the basic financial statements, 
statistical data, and other material, some of which may be from sources outside the 
accounting system or entity. For the purposes of this practice aid, SI is considered 
information that is optionally included in a state and local government’s financial 
report to supplement the basic financial statements and that is derived from, and 
directly relates to, the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements, such as combining statements and schedules for non-
major funds, for which the auditor is engaged to report on the information’s fair 
presentation in relation to the financial statements as a whole.
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special purpose financial statements. Financial statements prepared in accordance 
with a special purpose framework.

special purpose framework. A financial reporting framework, other than GAAP, that 
an entity uses and includes the following bases of accounting:

a.	 Cash basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to record cash receipts and 
disbursements and modifications of the cash basis having substantial support (for 
example, recording depreciation on fixed assets).

b.	 Tax basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to file its tax return for the 
period covered by the financial statements. 

c.	 Regulatory basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to comply with the 
requirements or financial reporting provisions of a regulatory agency to whose ju-
risdiction the entity is subject (for example, a basis of accounting that insurance 
companies use pursuant to the accounting practices prescribed or permitted by a 
state insurance commission).

d.	 Contractual basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to comply with an 
agreement between the entity and one or more third parties other than the auditor. 

e.	 Other basis. A basis of accounting that uses a definite set of logical, reasonable 
criteria that is applied to all material items appearing in financial statements.
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